
Local Government Act 1972

I Hereby Give You Notice that an Ordinary Meeting of the Durham 
County Council will be held in the Council Chamber - County Hall, 
Durham on Wednesday 17 July 2019 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the 
following business:-

1. To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 
2019  (Pages 3 - 20)

2. To receive any declarations of interest from Members  

3. Chairman's Announcements  

4. Leader's Report  

5. Presentation by Area Action Partnership  

6. Questions from the Public  

7. Petitions  

8. Report from the Cabinet  (Pages 21 - 26)

9. Climate Emergency Plan for the County Council and 
County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services  (Pages 27 - 146)

10. Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19 - Report of 
Head of Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 147 - 
174)

11. Youth Justice Plan 2019-2021 - Report of Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People's Services  (Pages 
175 - 216)



12. Motions on Notice  

13. Questions from Members  

And pursuant to the provisions of the above-named act, I Hereby 
Summon You to attend the said meeting

Dated this 9th day of July 2019

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

To: All Members of the County Council



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At an Ordinary Meeting of the County Council held in the Council Chamber - 
County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 19 June 2019 at 10.00 a.m.

Present:

Councillor K Corrigan in the Chair.

Councillors E Adam, J Allen, J Atkinson, P Atkinson, B Avery, A Bainbridge, 
B Bainbridge, A Bell, D Bell, E Bell, J Bell, R Bell, H Bennett, J Blakey, 
G Bleasdale, D Boyes, D Brown, J Brown, L Brown, C Carr, J Carr, J Charlton, 
J Clare, J Clark, M Clarke, J Considine, B Coult, R Crute, M Davinson, S Dunn, 
D Freeman, J Grant, O Gunn, D Hall, C Hampson, K Hawley, T Henderson, 
S Henig, D Hicks, A Hopgood, K Hopper, L Hovvels, S Hugill, E Huntington, 
G Huntington, I Jewell, O Johnson (Vice-Chair), P Jopling, B Kellett, A Laing, 
L Maddison, J Maitland, J Makepeace, R Manchester, C Marshall, L Marshall, 
C Martin, E Mavin, S McDonnell, I McLean, O Milburn, S Morrison, A Napier, 
J Nicholson, P Oliver, A Patterson, C Potts, L Pounder, S Quinn, A Reed, 
J Robinson, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, K Shaw, A Shield, J Shuttleworth, 
M Simmons, A Simpson, H Smith, T Smith, J Stephenson, B Stephens, D Stoker, 
A Surtees, P Taylor, O Temple, K Thompson, F Tinsley, T Tucker, J Turnbull, 
A Watson, M Wilkes, A Willis, C Wilson, S Wilson, D Wood and R Yorke

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors A Batey, J Chaplow, 
P Crathorne, A Gardner, Geldard, J Higgins, S Iveson, C Kay, J Lethbridge, 
K Liddell, H Liddle, M McKeon, G Richardson, S Robinson, A Savory, M Wilson 
and S Zair

1 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 May 2019 were confirmed by the 
Council as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

2 Declarations of interest 

There were no declarations of interest in relation to any item of business on 
the agenda.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



3 Chair's Announcements 

The Chair informed the Council that she had received a letter from the Mayor 
of Christchurch, New Zealand in response to a message of support sent by 
the previous Chair following the terror attacks in March. In the letter Mayor of 
Christchurch expressed his gratitude to the Council for their support.

The Chair congratulated those people throughout County Durham who had 
been recognised in the recent Queen’s Birthday Honours, including the 
recently retired Chief Constable of Durham Constabulary, Mike Barton.

The Chair informed the Council that Councillor Peter Brookes would soon 
be commencing his charity cycle ride. The cycle ride would cover 500 miles 
over four days, through England, Scotland, Northern Ireland, Irish Republic 
and Wales to raise money for Age UK County Durham, which was the 
Chair’s good cause for her year in office. The Chair expressed her delight 
that Cllr Brookes was kickstarting her fundraising appeal with an 
inspirational challenge and wished Councillor Brookes and his team the 
very best of luck.

The Chair reminded the Council that a Member briefing on Corporate 
Parenting would be given immediately following the Council meeting.

Finally, the Chair informed the Council that the next phase consultation for 
Durham History Centre would be on display in the Durham Room following 
the meeting. The consultation would detail the proposed designs for the 
new Durham History Centre and Members were asked to contribute to the 
consultation.

4 Leader's Report 

The Council noted a report of the Leader of the Council as follows:

 A six-week consultation on the design for the new Durham History 
Centre had commenced. Views were being sought on the proposed 
design and layout of the building, themes for exhibitions and digital 
access to collections. Drop-in sessions would be held at Bishop 
Auckland Town Hall, Durham Register Office and Clayport Library. The 
item would be covered at all meetings of Area Action Partnerships 
throughout June and July.

 A second stage of consultation would soon be underway on a new 
vision of the County Durham Partnership which would set out the 
ambitions for the County into the next decade and beyond. The last 
phase of consultation would build on comments made in the previous 
consultation.

Page 4



 The first presentation from one of the Councils 14 Area Action 
Partnerships (AAPs) would be provided later as part of the council 
agenda and replaced the questions from AAP’s. It was hoped that the 
series of presentations would provide a full picture of the workings of 
each AAP and an insight into the work often not appreciated outside of 
each local area. It would also help to spread best practice across 
County Durham. The system of public questions remained unchanged 
and would follow the AAP presentation.

 The County had recently experienced a spell of unseasonable rain. 
Flooding had also affected certain parts of the County. Councillor 
Henig thanked all staff involved for their hard work during the 
challenging conditions.

 The weather had forced the cancellation of Durham Regatta and the 
opening day of the first Seaham Food Festival. The second day of the 
food festival went ahead amidst glorious sunshine and attracted 
15,000 visitors to the seafront. Very positive feedback had been 
received from food producers and visitors. Local traders had also 
benefitted from the festival which provided an economic boost. It was 
hoped that the event would encourage visitors to return to Seaham 
and provide ongoing benefits for the area and help with the continued 
regeneration of the town. Councillor Henig thanked everyone involved 
in the participation and organisation of the event. The Durham 
Women’s Gala at Wharton Park went ahead as planned and the 
Leader congratulated all those involved in the event.

 It was hoped that better weather would grace the region with three 
fixtures being played at Chester-le-Street with County Durham 
welcoming New Zealand, Sri Lanka, South Africa and the West Indies 
to the County. A supporting fan zone activity would be held in the 
Market Place, Durham City from 28-30th June as well as ‘Chesterfest’ 
which was being held at Riverside Park, Chester-le-Street this coming 
weekend. The event had been organised by the Durham Cricket 
Foundation supported by Chester-le-Street and District AAP and the 
local community in Chester-le-Street.

 An evening of live music with German food and drink had been held 
the previous week to celebrate 50 years of friendship between County 
Durham and its twin town of Tubingen. This would also be celebrated 
in Tubingen at the beginning of July.

 Other up-and-coming events included the Durham Miners Gala on 13 
July, the Annual Brass Festival from 12-21 July.

Page 5



 A new running festival would take place in Durham City at the end of 
the July incorporating the annual Durham City run and would include a 
new family activity headed up by three-time London Marathon Winner 
Paula Radcliffe. An exhibition to celebrate the work of Norman Cornish 
would open at the Gala Theatre at the end of July as part of centenary 
celebrations.

 Visitors and photographers could once again make the most of the 
historic backdrop of Durham City, as the Cathedral Tower had been 
unwrapped and reopened to visitors. Kynren would open for another 
spectacular season at the end of the month at Auckland Castle. 
Durham Book Festival, the 10th Anniversary of Lumiere and the 
completion of the Auckland Project multimillion-pound development of 
Auckland Castle.

 The Council had recently celebrated carers week with special events 
held to recognise the valuable role that carers played. Durham County 
Carers support worked on two projects and ran short films with young 
carers which premiered during the week at Bishop Auckland Town Hall 
and highlighted their experiences.

 The Council had continued to lobby the government to reconsider its 
proposed changes on the allocation of public health funding, which if 
implemented, would result in a reduction of £18m to County Durham, 
the largest reduction in the country. The Leader had written an article 
for the Journal newspaper following a debate on the issue in the 
House of Commons raised by Kevan Jones MP. Tyne Tees had also 
covered the debate along with local interviews. The Council would 
continue to raise the issue at every opportunity.

 1000 applications had been received for 66 apprenticeships across the 
Council in a range of occupations. The apprentices would start in 
September. The recruitment drive had coincided with the launch of an 
apprenticeship strategy which supported the development of a skills 
base in the Council and across the County.

 Dedicated volunteers were recognised at a range of activities and 
events for their hard work as part of volunteer’s week at the beginning 
of June.

 The Employment Training and Education success of 21 young people 
from across the County had been recognised at the ‘Durham Works’ 
achievement awards. Six prizes were handed out to young people who 
had received help from the Durham works youth employment 
programme as well as the partners and employers who had supported 
them over the past 12 months

Page 6



 The refurbished Peterlee Leisure Centre opened in May which saw the 
refurbishment of changing rooms, a new reception space and creation 
of a brand new library facility.

 Local residents were helping to shape the future of Horden in the latest 
consultation on the Horden masterplan. The plan outlined a number of 
options for housing and the environment in the area and was based on 
feedback from residents given at an earlier consultation held in 2018. 
The first consultation exercise attracted over 300 people from the local 
community. The Leader of the Council thanked everyone for their 
input. The Council had been proactively working on solutions for 
housing related issues in the area for a number of years and had 
implemented a number of successful schemes, including an 
accreditation scheme for private landlords, the provision of grants and 
loans to help fund the renovation of private properties. A multi-agency 
clean-up operation had focussed on environmental issues. The 
Council were also working with partners on a number of issues which 
would see potential commercial investment, housing renewal and the 
development of community projects. Work had started on a new 
railway station which would link the area to the local and national 
railway network and support wider regeneration, a long-held ambition 
in the east of the County.

 In the west of the County, Highways England had commenced 
consultation to dual the A66. The Council were supporting the 
proposals given that 18 miles of the 50 mile route passed through 
County Durham. The proposals also included improvements to the 
road junction A67, Bowes.

 Teams were currently sprucing up flower beds and cutting grass. The 
flower bed at Gilesgate roundabout was unveiled earlier in the month 
and celebrated 150 years of mining heritage. Entries were open for the 
2019 Environment Awards. A display of the history of the awards was 
located in the Durham Room.

 The Council had been successful in securing funding to help rough 
sleepers access accommodation. The government money was being 
used to provide an assessment centre providing rough sleepers with 
somewhere safe to stay until suitable housing was identified. This was 
to be split between two hubs in Durham and Gateshead.

 The Council had been shortlisted as a finalist in the Health and 
Integration category of the 2019 MJ Achievement Awards for its 
approach to young offenders, or young people at risk of offending. The 
Council was also commended in the awards for its approach to digital 

Page 7



and online services and achieving better outcomes by the Area Action 
Partnerships.

 Finally, the Leader of the Council informed the Council of some Senior 
Management changes concerning the appointment of a new Corporate 
Director of Children and Young People’s Services and the appointment 
of a Head of Corporate Property and Land. The Council were also in 
the process of recruiting a Deputy Monitoring Officer.

Councillor L Maddison referred to the apprenticeship programme where 1000 
people had applied for positions, with only a small number able to take up 
positions and asked if the Council were directing the unsuccessful 
applications to other services.

The Leader informed the Council that it was promising that so many people 
had applied. The Council had tried to increase the number of apprenticeships 
within the programme each year and hoped that opportunities would be 
available elsewhere in the public and private sector.

The Chief Executive explained that the number of applications refelcted how 
well thought the Council’s apprenticeship programme was given the amount 
of applications. The Council had already held a meeting to discuss where 
they could assist with employment along with their partners. It was very 
pleasing to note that so many people were finding employment through the 
programme, not only to train young people but to get them into the workforce.

Councillor K Thompson thanked the Leader of the Council for the very 
positive report. Councillor Thompson expressed concern that there had been 
no mention of Spennymoor Town Centre in the Leaders report, which was 
falling apart, particularly Festival Walk. When was something going to 
happen with Festival Walk.

Councillor C Marshall informed Councillor Thompson that he was working 
very closely with the local members and shared the frustration of Councillor 
Thompson regarding the Festival Walk site. The Council were working very 
hard to get the development over the line. Other developments in the area 
such as improved housing, were due to come online over the following 
months. Festival Walk was a complex site with many legal issues outside of 
the Council’s control, however, Councillor Marshall was hopeful of a 
conclusion within the next month or so.

5 Presentation by Chester-le-Street Area Action Partnership 

The Council received a presentation from the AAP Coordinator and the Chair 
of Chester-le-Street and District Area Action Partnership (for presentation 
see file of Minutes).

Page 8



The Council were informed that the work of the AAP was based around three 
themed task groups:

 ‘Thriving’ which concentrated on the town centre, employment and 
training;

 ‘Supporting’ – which looked at health, young people, families and older 
people; and

 ‘Taking Pride’ which concentrated on areas such as the environment 
and community safety.

Priorities were linked together to ensure that crosscutting themes could be 
addressed. The AAP had a varied work programme and had always been 
prepared to pilot an idea.

The Council then noted a summary of projects that the AAP had been 
involved in, which included:

 the purchase of two electronic bikes for the local Neighbourhood 
Policing Team which had been conceived as a result of concerns 
expressed around having a greater visible police presence across the 
various communities;

 a Man v Fat league across County Durham aimed at weight loss in 
men by using football as a tool and placing the men who signed up into 
a team to ensure peer support with their weight loss goals;

 funding of a business association to employ a retail consultant to 
deliver a social media campaign to promote independent businesses 
and to both ‘talk up’ Chester-le-Street and celebrate the variety of 
independent businesses of the town. The project started in March and 
eleven businesses had been supported in developing a stronger social 
media presence and a marketing campaign;

 joint work with VCD and Durham Cricket on business engagement 
ensuring that local businesses were fully briefed about the cricket 
world cup, ensuring that they could take advantage of the 40,000 
visitors; and

 funding of ‘ChesterFest’ - a community festival that was being 
delivered by Durham County Cricket Club Foundation.

The Council were informed that AAPs could also link well with strategic 
ambitions for the Council. An example being the AAPs role working with 
technical services on a £6m flood prevention scheme. The AAP had been a 
key stakeholder in the development of the project and had been asked to 
lead the work on a public art feature as part of the scheme. The AAP board 

Page 9



contributed £10,000 towards the project. The Thriving Chester-le-Street task 
group had worked on developing a brief for a potential artist and as an AAP 
would be looking to consult on ideas to ensure local buy-in to the proposed 
concept.

In summary, the projects highlighted were a snap shot of what projects the 
AAP were involved in.

The Chair thanked the AAP Coordinator and Chair of the AAP for the 
presentation and informed the Council that there would be an opportunity to 
ask any related questions to AAP staff following the meeting.

6 Questions from the Public 

Two public questions had been received from members of the public. The 
first question related to the Council’s statutory duties regarding the removal 
of obstructions to public rights of way and how the Council monitored 
progression of Definitive Map Modification Order applications.

The second question related to the steps the council were taking to ensure 
that a vital community link could be reopened to vehicle traffic having lived 
for a year with significant disruption.

Both questioners attended the meeting and asked their questions in person. 
The relevant Cabinet Portfolio Holders provided a response to each question.

The Chair thanked the members of the public for submitting their questions 
and for attending the meeting.

7 Petitions 

There were no petitions for consideration.

8 Report from the Cabinet 

The Leader of the Council provided the Council with an update of business 
considered by Cabinet at meetings held on 3 April and 15 May 2019 (for 
copy see file of Minutes).

9 County Durham Plan Submission 

The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services which advised the Council on the representations 
received following the final statutory consultation on the Pre-Submission 
Draft of the County Durham Plan and sought the Council’s approval of the 

Page 10



Pre-Submission Draft of the County Durham Plan for Submission (for copy 
see file of Minutes).

The Pre-Submission Draft of the County Durham Plan was the final stage in 
the Plan’s development. It had been informed by extensive formal 
consultation with residents, businesses, the development industry, key 
stakeholders and neighbouring authorities at all stages. A total of 2,877 
comments from 1,003 different respondents had been received.

The Plan would be submitted to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and 
Local Government by the end of June 2019 for independent examination. An 
independent Inspector would be appointed soon after with the timescales to 
be determined by the Inspector although it was anticipated that the 
Examination in Public (EIP) hearings would be held in the autumn.

In Moving the recommendation detailed in the report Councillor C Marshall, 
the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration thanked everyone 
involved in the production of the plan and attended hundreds of events and 
meetings across the County over several years. Councillor Marshall also 
thanked those Members who engaged in the process, the thousands of 
residents, businesses, Town and Parish Councils, voluntary sector groups 
and the many others who had responded to the consultations and engaged 
with the Council during the journey. It had been a very long and protracted 
process to ensure that a robust evidence based plan was presented before 
full Council.

The County Durham plan sought to build on the Councils proven track record 
of attracting investment included a pipeline of investments and projects 
estimated at over £3 billion pounds and would see thousands of jobs created. 
The plan would deliver for the whole of County Durham and was about much 
more than the economy. The plan would deliver housing that people needed, 
where it was needed and would help to address the causes of climate 
change and adapt to its affect. It would set out restrictions on takeaways in 
town centres and areas close to schools and identified infrastructure to 
support new development and relieve congestion, whilst improving air 
quality. The plan was unique in terms of tacking rural issues with an entire 
chapter dedicated to supporting a prosperous economy and new 
development in rural areas. The plan would also protect and enhance the 
special natural and historic environment. The Portfolio Holder then gave the 
Council more detailed information regarding the consultation exercise and 
the differing types of consultation used.

Councillor K Shaw, seconding the recommendation explained to the Council 
that the County Durham Plan represented a great opportunity for the right 
type and mix of housing needed to meet current and future needs set out in 
policies 15 and 19 of the plan. Policies were also in place to ensure new 

Page 11



build housing were of the correct size, type and design. The Council needed 
to ensure that housing development paid its way and the correct 
infrastructure was in place through education and health contributions for the 
Council’s communities.

Councillor J Shuttleworth asked all Councillors to look at their individual 
communities and felt that certain communities were not helped in any way by 
the plan. Councillor Shutleworth also felt that the plan would strangulate 
Durham City.

Prior to sharing his views with the Council, Councillor O Temple explained 
that his views were in no way directed at anyone who had been involved in 
the production of the plan and were solely directed to the Cabinet who 
commissioned, approved and promoted the plan. Councillor Temple 
explained that he lived in the West of the County. The A68 was a major 
north/south trunk road. There was no reference of the A68 in the plan. It was 
emblematic of the fact that the plan was a plan for the former City of Durham 
and not for the County as a whole. It was a very Durham centric plan, based 
on two big flaws. An economic flaw in thinking that Durham City was a 
magnet for jobs and employment. Although, there were a lot of employment 
and jobs within Durham City, much of it was public sector and had been 
fuelled by the centralisation of health, local government and education. 
Councillor Temple felt that there was more economic magnetism in areas 
such as Newton Aycliffe and Seaham. Councillor Temple felt that the whole 
County was being put at the mercy on a gamble of the Aykley Heads 
development site. The plan directed most resources of the Council to the 
areas of greatest prosperity and least to the areas of least prosperity. This 
was all the more surprising given that many comments were often expressed 
in the Chamber regarding governmental direction to more prosperous areas. 
Councillor Temple accepted that the Council needed a plan but could not 
support the one presented.

Councillor A Hopgood welcomed some of the comments made by Councillor 
Shaw and the issues hightlighted from the changes made since the first draft. 
However, there many issues remained that were criticised at the time and 
still remained in the plan. Councillor Hopgood lived in the only Division 
affected directly by both proposed relief roads and would see the loss of a 
significant piece of greenbelt which she felt was completely unacceptable. 
Councillor Hopgood felt that plan looked forward with no consideration given 
to those living or residing in County Durham. Councillor Hopgood felt that the 
plan was misleading in part and referred to a comment on page 74 of the 
which related to employment land. Councillor Hopgood could not understand 
why it had been decided to separate Durham City from Central Durham. The 
remainder of the area being classed as South Durham covering Newton 
Aycliffe, Bishop Auckland and Shildon. Mid Durham covering Tow Law, 

Page 12



Spennymoor and Ferryhill. Councillor Hopgood felt that the impact on 
residents had not changed significantly enough for her to support the plan.

The Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services reaffirmed that 
the plan was a plan for the whole county and the policies contained within the 
plan would be used to review development across the whole of County. The 
policies and allocations were set out in such a way to reflect development 
across the County. Examples were provided in relation to sites in the East 
and at Newton Aycliffe. Durham City had key planning issues relating to relief 
roads and greenbelt and these would be discussed at the examination in 
public. The propensity for development was smaller in Durham City than the 
rest of the County. There was only 10 hectares of development in Durham 
City.

Councillor M Wilkes praised the officers involved in the production of the plan 
and especially those who had ‘stood up for the environment’. Councillor 
Wilkes felt there were improvements on the previous plan, however, the full 
details were insufficient in terms of being able to confirm that the benefits of 
the plan would outweigh the loss of the greenbelt. The impact of the Northern 
Relief Road on the natural environment was too great to be able to support 
and was unacceptable. Alternative routes and modern ways of thinking had 
not been explored. Councillor Wilkes also felt that the Council would not 
achieve the reductions of CO2 emissions required to meet the current 
climate emergency if the plan was brought to fruition. Councillor Wilkes 
explained that he supported the 2030 target to be carbon neutral in the 
County but simply could not agree to a plan that failed to address the climate 
emergency faced. The impact of development on the Aykley Heads area and 
the potential to create a congestion and pollution bottleneck for his residents 
and those travelling from the west of the City had failed to be addressed.

Councillor R Bell commented that he could not support the plan as presented 
but acknowledged that it contained a lot of good work. Engagement had 
been very good with the public, however, comments that people made 
tended not to find their way back into the plan or discounted without proper 
explanation. Teesdale AAP had made lots of comments but these had not 
been addressed. Councillor Bell gave an example referring to the Barnard 
Castle to Bishop Auckland railway line being linked to the heritage action 
zone work in Bishop Auckland.

Councillor R Bell felt that the plan was overly centred on Durham City for 
housing and employment and more emphasis should be concentrated on 
spreading employment sites across the County. The A66 and all east west 
links were neglected which he felt was a big omission from the plan and he 
felt that the plan was heading in the wrong direction in terms of the climate 
change agenda.

Page 13



Councillor Tinsley referred to the comments made by Councillor Shuttleworth 
and explained that by not having a plan in place was letting down 
communities. Planning Committees were making decisions defined on 
national planning policy which was focussed on London and had very little to 
do with County Durham. In terms of comments regarding the plan being 
Durham centric, Councillor Tinsley felt that the plan had the potential to bring 
jobs and enable better access for people to jobs. Councillor Tinsley 
expressed his support for the document.

Councillor J Clare explained that the County Durham Plan would set the 
planning framework about land use for the next 15 years. The county was 
bedevilled by the lack of an east/west transport infrastructure and if the 
east/west links were not improved the Council betrayed the rural 
communities in the west of the County.

In closing the debate, Councillor Marshall took the opportunity to reiterate 
some of the key points made in the report and the policies contained therein 
and refuted some of the comments made during the debate.

Upon a vote being take it was

Resolved
That having considered the representations received during the final 
statutory consultation on the Pre-Submission draft, the Council:

(a) authorise formal submission of the County Durham Plan at Appendix 2 
and associated submission documentation to the Secretary of State pursuant 
to Section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act and Regulation 
22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 
2012;

(b) that the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services be 
authorised, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration to:

(i) approve the submission of the documents required to be submitted 
alongside the Plan to the Secretary of State as required by Section 20 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act and Regulation 22 of 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 for consideration at public examination;

(ii) agree statements of common ground with neighbouring authorities 
and other interested parties in order to demonstrate effective and on-
going joint working;

Page 14



(iii) continue discussions with interested parties and suggest to the 
Inspector any edits and consequential changes necessary following 
Council approval up to and during the Examination;

(c) authorise the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services to 
ask the Inspector appointed to hold the Examination in Public to recommend 
modifications to the County Durham Plan Submission Document under 
Section 20(7C) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
necessary to satisfy the requirements of Section 20(5A) of the Act and 
sound; 

(d) agree the amendments identified in the ‘Schedule of Minor (Additional) 
Modifications’ to the Plan and minor changes to the existing evidence base at 
Appendix 3; and 

(e) agree the Statement of Consultation at Appendix 4 of the report.

10 Independent Remuneration Panel - Appointments to Panel 

The Council considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources 
regarding appointments to the Independent Remuneration Panel (for copy 
see file of Minutes).

The Corporate Director of Resources informed the Council that in September 
2014, the council agreed arrangements to refresh the independent 
remuneration panel, and a new panel of seven was established for a term 
expiring on 1 March 2020. The Panel had operated well with its seven 
members, however, there were now three vacancies, and the two longest 
serving panel members had suggested a refresh of the panel. Although the 
panel could operate with less than seven members, it was proposed to 
refresh the panel arrangements now in order to fill the three vacancies prior 
to the term of office which expired in March 2020.

Moved by Councillor Henig, Seconded by Councillor Napier and

Resolved
a) That a new panel of up to seven members be established, with five-

year terms of office;

b) That delegated authority be given to the Corporate Director of 
Resources and Democratic Services Officer, to make appointments to 
establish a panel of seven members, offering appointments to the two 
existing members appointed in 2015, if they are willing to continue and 
then inform group leaders of the outcome;

Page 15



c) undertake a recruitment exercise to seek new panel members through 
advertisements within the local media and make arrangements to fill 
any vacancies that may arise within the term of office of the panel; and

d) That the Council record its thanks to the members of the current panel 
for their role in reviewing the Members’ Allowance Scheme since 2014.

11 Constitutions of the Joint Committees of Mountsett Crematorium 
and Durham Crematorium 

The Council considered a report of the Head of Legal and Democratic 
Services which sought approval to update the Constitutions of the Durham 
Crematorium Joint Committee and Mountsett Crematorium Joint Committee 
to allow for the provision of substitute members (for copy see file of Minutes).

The Head of Legal and Democratic Services informed the Council that the 
Council’s Constitution provided for the joint arrangements of both Joint 
Committees which each had their own terms of reference and constitution 
documents. Both constitutions had been updated and approved by the 
Council in 2013.

The proposal to provide for substitute members had arisen due to a recent 
meeting of the Central Durham Crematorium Joint Committee being 
cancelled because it was inquorate.

Moved by Councillor Henig, Seconded by Councillor Napier

Resolved
That the Constitutions of the Durham Crematorium Joint Committee and 
Mountsett Crematorium Joint Committee be amended.

12 Motions on Notice 

No motions on notice had been submitted.

13 Questions from Members 

In accordance with the Council Procedure Rules, the following question was 
asked by Councillor A Watson.

Why does this Council not have a policy on testing for drug and alcohol 
misuse? By having you are showing your workforce that you want to create a 
safe workplace. It is a well-known fact that recreational drug misuse is on the 
increase which can lead to addiction. Whilst it’s commendable that Durham 
County Council has a policy on drug and alcohol dependency which provides 

Page 16



support for employees who have drug or alcohol problems, it has to be 
appreciated that drug or alcohol misuse breaches legislation such as:

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974;
 The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999;
 The Transport and Works Act 1992;
 The Road Traffic Act 1988;
 The Misuse of Drugs Act 1971

Testing is evidence that you have attempted to meet your obligations. 
Testing can detect evidence of misuse in prospective employees at the pre-
employment stage. Different testing methods can show a candidate’s 
misuse, from very recent use to long term. Encouraging staff not to misuse is 
the ultimate goal of a good Drugs and Alcohol Programme with the possibility 
of being tested-whether prior to joining a company, or at any point during 
work-can be a powerful deterrent to using Drugs or Alcohol at times that 
could affect work performance.

Stats indicate that Durham in the North East has the highest number of 
people testing positive for use of Illicit Drugs. Misuse of Drugs is extremely 
serious, can be the cause of serious accidents, suicide, violence or even 
fatalities. Testing for Drug or Alcohol misuse is a policy used in some parts of 
the private sector, when really the public sector should be leading the way. 

Prevention is always better than cure and Durham County Council should 
lead the way and seek agreement from the workforce which should include 
Councillors, to adopt a policy for random testing for Drug and Alcohol 
misuse.

Councillor A Patterson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Corporate Services and 
Rural Issues thanked Councillor Watson for his question.

Firstly, she reassured Councillor Watson that the Council took all of its legal 
and statutory responsibilities very seriously, including the issues he had 
raised in his question.

The Council worked in partnership with the recognised trade unions and 
Council staff to balance the requirements of legislation, workers rights and 
the practicalities of managing a complex and diverse workforce.

Councillor Patterson assured Councillor Watson that the Council did have a 
robust policy on drugs, substance and alcohol misuse, which clearly stated 
under section 2.6 that the Council would not require its employees to be 
screened or tested for alcohol or other drug use as a matter of course. This 
was a policy agreed by the Council.

Page 17



There was absolutely no legislation that required employers to undertake 
drug and alcohol testing of their staff. The council could not take a blanket 
“big brother” approach to testing without good reason, could not single out 
individuals, nor could it legally justify testing for illegal use of substances in 
workers’ private lives. For practical and legal reasons the council would need 
all employees to consent to screening and legally, the council could not force 
staff to take a test.

Testing in any organisation needed to be proportionate to the risk, and very 
few employers would be justified in testing to detect illegal use, rather than 
testing on grounds of safety.

Screening in isolation did not solve problems caused by drug and alcohol 
misuse. A recent TUC article “Drug Testing in the workplace” highlighted that 
drug testing did not tell an employer what they wanted to know. It would not 
tell the council whether or not someone is, or was, under the influence of 
drugs while at work. At best it would indicate that the person had likely to 
have consumed a particular drug in the recent past. Testing showed up over 
the counter and prescription drugs because the metabolites of the drugs 
detected were the same, or similar, which meant that a person could be 
given a positive result simply because they had taken a flu remedy. People 
could also test positive for opiates such as heroin and codeine simply 
because of consumption of poppy seeds in cakes or bread which could give 
a similar reading.

Councillor Patterson also referred to recent research carried out by the 
Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development which concluded that 
organisations that sought to monitor their employees excessively were 
unlikely to create a work environment that encouraged trust, loyalty and 
commitment.

The report “Pressure at Work and the Psychological Contract”, showed that 
employees who were closely monitored tended to have more negative 
attitudes towards work and were more likely to suffer from stress.
Councillor Patterson was happy to provide Councillor Watson with a link to 
the report if he wished to read it. Given the complexities set out, a policy 
approach was taken to help and support council employees via the Drugs, 
Substance and Alcohol Misuse Policy. The health, wellbeing and safety of all 
staff was paramount and the Council would continue to review and consider 
the merits and complexities around screening through the appropriate 
channels and in proper consultation with staff and recognised trade unions at 
the appropriate time.

The Council was currently working towards the Gold Award for the Better 
Health at Work Award. This included drug and alcohol awareness sessions 

Page 18



with staff to enable them to have a better understanding of the risks related 
to both drugs and alcohol. 

Finally, Councillor Patterson reassured Cllr Watson that the Council were 
aware of their responsibilities, took them very seriously indeed and would 
continue to place staff health and safety at the forefront of the organisation.

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



17 July 2019

Report from the Cabinet

Purpose of the Report

To provide information to the Council on issues considered by the 
Cabinet on 12 June 2019 to enable Members to ask related questions.

Contents

Item 1 County Durham Plan Submission [Key Decision: 
REAL/02/19]

Item 2 Sherburn Hill School Site Future Use 

1. County Durham Plan Submission [Key Decision: 
REAL/02/19]
Cabinet Portfolio Holder – Councillor Carl Marshall 
Contact – Mike Allum 03000 261906

We have considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services which:

(a) Advised on the representations received following the final 
statutory consultation on the Pre-Submission Draft

(b) Sought approval to recommend that, at the Full Council Meeting 
on 16 June 2019, Council agree the Pre-Submission Draft of the 
County Durham Plan for submission

(c) Sought agreement for the significant infrastructure costs required 
as part of the implementation of the County Durham Plan 

(d) Sought agreement for a Local Development Scheme which 
outlines a revised timetable for the Minerals and Waste Policies 
and Allocations Document 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



(e) Sought agreement for the Residential Amenity Standard 
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) for public 
consultation from 5 July to 16 August 2019

All Local Planning Authorities have a statutory requirement to prepare 
and maintain an up to date development plan for their area.  The first 
stage of the new County Durham Plan, Issues and Options, was 
approved for consultation in June 2016 followed by the second stage, 
Preferred Options, which was approved for consultation in June 2018. 

The Pre-Submission Draft was the final stage in the Plan’s 
development.  It has been informed by extensive formal and continuous 
consultation with residents, businesses, the development industry, key 
stakeholders and neighbouring authorities at all stages.

An additional document, the Minerals and Waste Policies and 
Allocations Document, will be prepared to complement the minerals and 
waste policies of the County Durham Plan.  It will contain detailed 
development management policies and any non-strategic minerals and 
waste allocations which are considered necessary to meet the future 
needs of County Durham.  Work on the Minerals and Waste document 
will be undertaken in accordance with the revised timetable set out in 
the Local Development Scheme.

Following Cabinet approval on 16 January 2019, the Pre-Submission 
Draft was consulted on from 25 January until 8 March 2019.  A 
significant number of public events were held including 19 drop-in 
sessions across the county and to the Area Action Partnerships.  
Everyone on the County Durham Plan consultation database was 
informed of the consultation and there were articles in the press and a 
number of posts on the Council’s social media pages.  A total of 2,877 
comments, including 37 comments which were received following the 
close of the consultation period, from 1,003 different respondents were 
received.  A petition in relation to Policy 5 (Durham City Sustainable 
Urban Extensions), Policy 20 (Green Belt) and Policy 23 (Durham City 
Sustainable Transport) was also submitted with 659 names.  A separate 
petition relating just to the Western and Northern Relief Roads with 676 
names was also submitted.  Finally there were two e-petitions 
submitted, one in favour of the relief roads with 9 names and one 
against with 342.

The parts of the Plan which have been the subject to the most 
comments are predominantly the Northern and Western Relief Roads 
and some of the housing allocations including the Green Belt sites at 
Durham City (Sniperley Park and Sherburn Road) and South of Knitsley 
Lane and East of Muirfield Close, Consett and High West Road, Crook.  
The policies receiving most representations include:

Page 22



 Policy 23 (Durham City Sustainable Transport including Western 
and Northern Relief Roads);

 Policy 4 (Housing Allocations);
 Policy 5 (Durham City’s Sustainable Urban Extensions);
 Policy 1 (Quantity of Development);
 Policy 15 (Addressing Housing Need);
 Policy 30 (Sustainable Design);
 Policy 20 (Green Belt);
 Policy 6 (Development on Unallocated Sites in the Built Up Area); 

and
 Policy 16 (Durham University Development, Purpose Built 

Student Accommodation and Houses in Multiple 
Occupation).

All representations made have been reviewed and carefully considered 
and it has been concluded that, subject to some minor text and 
formatting changes which need to be made, there are no matters arising 
from the representations that call into question the soundness of the 
Plan or the legality of its preparation that would prevent it being 
submitted to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government in its current form.  Therefore it is not necessary to carry 
out any further consultation and any outstanding issues will be resolved 
at the Examination in Public.  More detail is set out in the Statement of 
Consultation, which includes a statement setting out how Regulations 
18 and 19 were addressed and how the representations were reflected 
in the Plan.  

Subject to Council’s approval on 19 June, the Submission Draft Plan will 
be submitted to the Minister for Housing. Communities and Local 
Government by the end of June 2019 for independent examination.   It 
is anticipated that Examination in Public (EIP) hearings will be held in 
the autumn.  After examination and following consultation on any 
proposed modifications by the Inspector, the Council will be asked to 
adopt the Plan. 

Decision

We made the following recommendations to Council:

(a) That the representations received during the final statutory 
consultation on the Pre-Submission draft be considered;

(b) That the formal submission of the County Durham Plan and the 
associated submission documentation to the Secretary of State 
pursuant to Section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act and Regulation 22 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 be authorised; and

Page 23



(c) That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services 
in consultation with Portfolio Holder for Economic Regeneration 
be authorised to:

(i) approve the submission of the documents required to be 
submitted alongside the Plan to the Secretary of State as 
required by Section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act and Regulation 22 of The Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for 
consideration at public examination; 

(ii) agree statements of common ground with neighbouring 
authorities and other interested parties in order to 
demonstrate effective and on-going joint working;

(iii) continue discussions with interested parties and suggest to 
the Inspector any edits and consequential changes 
necessary following Council approval up to and during the 
Examination; and 

(d) That the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services 
be authorised to ask the Inspector appointed to hold the 
Examination in Public to recommend modifications to the County 
Durham Plan Submission Document under Section 20(7C) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 necessary to 
satisfy the requirements of Section 20(5A) of the Act and make 
the document sound.

(e) That the Statement of Consultation at Appendix 2 be agreed, and 

(f) That the amendments identified in the ‘Schedule of Minor 
(Additional) Modifications ‘ to the Plan and minor changes to the 
existing evidence base at Appendix 3 of the report be agreed. 

We have: 

(a) Agreed to adopt the Local Development Scheme 

(b) Agreed the Residential Amenity Standards Supplementary 
Planning Document for consultation from 5 July to 16 August 
2019, and agreed to delegate to the Director of Regeneration and 
Local Services, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for 
Economic Regeneration, the power to make minor modifications 
to the document following consultation and to approve the final 
document.

(c) Agreed the Addendum to the Green Belt Assessment, the 
Addendum to the Local Plan Viability Assessment, the addendum 

Page 24



to the Landscape and Visual Appraisal for the Western Relief 
Road and the Northern Relief Road.

(d) Noted the future infrastructure costs associated with the 
implementation of the County Durham Plan and the need for a 
future Cabinet report on how these would be financed. 

2. Sherburn Hill School Site Future Use 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders – Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Carl 
Marshall, Kevin Shaw, and Brian Stephens
Contact – Mike Allum 03000 261906

We have considered a joint report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships and the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services which sought approval for the former Sherburn Hill School and 
Sure Start Centre site to be asset transferred on the basis of a long 
term full repair, maintenance and insurance (FRMI) lease to Sherburn 
Hill Hub for use as a community centre. The report also sought approval 
for a delegated decision on funding ring fenced to support the 
development of a community building in Sherburn Hill. 

Durham County Council’s Cabinet made the decision to close Sherburn 
Hill School in May 2018 with the closure coming into effect on the 31 
August 2018.  The report gave the option for an alternative use as a 
community centre to be explored.  A local community Group, Sherburn 
Hill Hub (SHH) have been working together to look at the option of 
taking on the school site as a community centre. SHH have carried out 
community consultation that shows a high percentage of those 
surveyed would like to see a new community facility in Sherburn Hill and 
would potentially access activities at the centre.

The report proposed that SHH would take over part of the building to 
host community activities including youth and children’s work, older 
people’s activities, exercise classes and seasonal activities. 

With support from Durham Sparks (Community Enterprise Durham – an 
ERDF and DCC funded project to support community enterprises 
across County Durham delivered by Finchale Consortium) and Durham 
County Council’s Partnership and Engagement Service,  a business 
plan has been produced outlining how the building could be used and 
how income could be generated in order to secure the long term 
sustainability of the centre.  

The report provided details on the community consultation and the 
Sherburn Hill Hub / Business Plan Development.  Cash flow forecasts 
for the two years show that the centre is projected to meet its running 
costs and build its reserves.  The inclusion of delivery partners within 

Page 25



the business plan will guarantee a significant contribution to the centre’s 
income over the first 2-3 years and strengthens the position of the 
group.  This will be in addition to the projected income from other 
activities that SHH have planned for the centre.  The transfer of the site 
to SHH will secure community resources in the area.

Decision

We have agreed:

(a) To the principle of the granting of a long term lease at a 
peppercorn rent to Sherburn Hill Hub (SHH) to allow them to 
deliver community activities from the former Sherburn Hill School 
Site 

(b) To allocate an amount in the region of £310,000 from the ring 
fenced Durham County Council legacy funding to undertake 
works on the site to make it suitable for community use.  Funding 
would also be used to supplement the first two years of the staff 
wages. This will be vital in establishing this new organisation and 
sustaining it over its initial two years

(c) To delegate decision making on the balance of the legacy funding 
(circa £90,000).  This funding would become available once the 
building work has been completed subject to it not being for any 
additional contingencies.

Councillor S Henig
Leader of the County Council

9 July 2019

Page 26



County Council

17 July 2019

Climate Change Emergency Update 
Report

Report of Corporate Management Team

Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local 
Services

Councillor Carl Marshall, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic 
Regeneration

Councillor John Clare, Council Climate Change Champion

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1 To outline the range of measures that may be necessary to achieve 

new targets for carbon reduction by the Council and countywide, and 
provide an update on the work already underway.

2 To consider countywide consultation and engagement on this report, to 
ensure, as far as possible that residents, schools, businesses, 
community and public organisations can shape and contribute to the 
proposed measures.

3 To approve for consultation the outline governance arrangements 
which, subject to consent from the County Durham Partnership, would 
establish a new Environment and Climate Change Partnership Board 
and a web based Climate Change Network to help ensure an inclusive 
process in realising these ambitious targets.

4 To note the proposal to report back to Cabinet early in 2020 on the 
findings of the consultation, together with a more detailed action plan, 
shaped by this feedback.

Page 27

Agenda Item 9



Executive summary
5 On 20 February 2019, Durham County Council declared a Climate 

Change Emergency with ambitious targets to reduce its own carbon 
emissions by 60% by 2030 (from a 2008/9 baseline) and to investigate 
what further actions are necessary to make County Durham carbon 
neutral by 2050 (from a 1990 baseline).  The resolution required a 
report within six months on the measures required to meet these targets 
and accordingly the report and update set out in Appendix 2 is 
intended to fulfil this requirement.

6 On 12 June 2019 the Government announced plans to legislate to 
amend the Climate Change Act 2008 to include legally binding net zero 
carbon targets.  Whilst this will create some financial savings through 
increased energy efficiency, the Committee on Climate Change who 
advise Government have indicated that it would have net costs of 1-2% 
GDP (although these cost expectations remain the same as it was for 
80% reduction due to technological advances).  Clearly this is a 
substantial commitment which affords, in due course, an opportunity for 
considerable additional resource as well as changed policy and 
regulations.  This will be essential in the delivery of many of the 
measures outlined in this report.

7 The Council currently contributes less than 3% of all carbon equivalent 
emissions across the county from its activities and assets.  Progress 
since the 2008/9 baseline has been good, with a 40% reduction to date 
from 2008/9 levels.  The new target of 60% by 2030 will however 
present challenges, as many of the “easy” wins have been 
implemented.  Nevertheless it is suggested that the Council is not 
limited by its targets and every effort to exceed them will be made.

8 The proposals contained within this report reflect a “whole Council” 
approach in achieving its targets, and not only include a range of 
technical delivery projects (such as a solar farm at Tanfield Lea, or 
minewater heat at Louisa Leisure Centre, currently being developed for 
European funding), but also seek to embed a culture of “carbon 
consciousness” across the Council through a new carbon section on the 
Implications Appendix for all Council reports, staff and elected Member 
training, and initiatives within specific service areas such as fleet where 
hitherto reductions have been limited.  New buildings, including the 
Council’s new headquarters would be built to high energy efficiency 
standards and utilise low carbon technologies.  The existing Carbon 
Programme Management Board would oversee this implementation.

9 Good progress has also been made with the county target with a 52% 
reduction achieved from 1990 levels to date.  The greatest reductions 
have come from the industrial and commercial sector, which the Council 

Page 28



has supported through advice and support.  The domestic energy sector 
has also seen reductions aided by both the overall decarbonisation of 
the grid and through local initiatives such as home insulation schemes.  
Transport has seen less of a fall, and there remains challenges in 
moving away from fossil fuels.

10 A range of measures are proposed in this report to achieve countywide 
targets including a programme of externally funded investment in low 
carbon transport infrastructure, such as projects including park and ride, 
Durham bus station and a bid for electric vehicle charging infrastructure 
in community locations (at least100 charge points) currently being 
made.  A programme of tree planting and peatland restoration, is also 
underway, with further bids active which combined can make a 
significant contribution to carbon offsetting.

11 It is proposed to seek approval from the County Durham Partnership to 
give more prominence to climate change through broadening the 
membership of the existing Environment Partnership to include 
stakeholders who can have the greatest impact on carbon reductions, 
thereby allowing greater focus on this area of work.  The new 
Environment and Climate Change Partnership would also oversee a 
web based network which would provide advice and support and shares 
best practice.

12 The Council resolution in February 2019 calls on Westminster to 
provide the powers and resources to make the 2030 and 2050 targets 
possible.  The Government’s own proposal to adopt a net zero target for 
2050 should lead to not only additional resources, but also new policies 
and regulations.  The report outlines some of the further Government 
measures that are necessary including:

 A coherent, stable national energy policy with financial incentives 
for renewable energy and energy efficiency measures including 
re-introducing grants that have been withdrawn;

 National building regulations to encourage consistent standards 
to low carbon homes and buildings;

 Include low carbon projects as one of the priorities in the Shared 
Prosperity Fund, fully replacing the loss of potential European 
Grant (currently £16 M earmarked for County Durham).

13 Subject to Members’ views it is proposed to undertake widespread 
consultation on this report across the business, community and public 
sector and with residents.  This is to ensure the action plans that 
emerge are as comprehensive as possible and harness a collective 
approach to tackling this issue.

Page 29



14 To further highlight the existing and future potential of utilising low 
carbon technologies, a number of organisations are providing exhibits 
prior to and after today’s Council meeting.  These come from a broad 
spectrum of sectors from fleet and transport, to businesses and 
domestic opportunities.

15 Final costed action plans incorporating consultation feedback would be 
formally reported in winter 2019/20, although, given the urgency of this 
issue, a series of the project initiatives described in this report would 
continue to progress in advance of that date.  Furthermore, the action 
plan would need to be revised and updated on a regular basis in the 
light of new technological, policy or resource opportunities.

Recommendations
16 Council is recommended to:

(a) Note the Climate Emergency Update report set out in full in 
Appendix 2.

(b) Approve wider consultation on the measures outlined in this 
report, including with elected Members from mid-September to 
the end of October; to help inform an action plan to be reported to 
Cabinet in early 2020.

(c) Note that alongside this consultation, progress will continue to be 
made against several of the schemes identified in this report.

Page 30



Background
17 On 20 February 2019, Durham County Council declared a Climate 

Change Emergency with ambitious targets to reduce its own carbon 
emissions 60% by 2030 (from a 2008/9 baseline) and to investigate 
what further actions are necessary to make County Durham Carbon 
neutral by 2050 (from a 1990 baseline).

18 The Council Resolution on 20 February also called for a report within six 
months with the actions the Council will need to take to achieve the new 
2030 target and supplying an initial report on what actions would be 
required to achieve a carbon neutral County Durham by 2050.

19 This report, attached as Appendix 2 has been produced within five 
months, to deliver on the Council Resolution, and presents a series of 
actions and themes setting out how these targets may be met.  It is in a 
format and approach approved and supported by the Council’s 
Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee at its 
meeting held on 30 April 2019.

20 The report builds on the work already achieved through the County 
Durham Climate Change Strategy and Delivery Plan (2015-20) which 
covered countywide issues, and the Council’s Carbon Management 
Plan (2015-20) which sets out ways to reduce its own carbon 
emissions.

21 On 12 June 2019 the Government announced its intention to revise the 
Climate Change Act 2008 and set a new legally binding target of net 
zero by 2050.  It is estimated by the Committee on Climate Change 
(established to advise Government) that the net costs of this would be 
1-2% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP).  Clearly this may provide the 
prospect not only of additional resources in County Durham, but also 
national policy and regulations to ensure implementation.

22 The report explores:

(a) What the Council needs to do to achieve its targets

(b) What the County as a whole needs to do

(c) What measures may be necessary at a national level.

How the Council Would Meet its Targets
23 The Council currently contributes less than 3% of all carbon equivalent 

emissions across the county from its activities and assets.  In 2008/9 it 
emitted 63,461,400 kgCO2e.  Progress since the 2008/9 baseline has 
been good, and is currently at 42,309,845 kgCO2e or 40% reduction to 
date from 2008/9 levels.  Whilst part of this success can be attributed to 

Page 31



a national decarbonisation of the electricity grid (through increased use 
of renewables), locally the Council has undertaken a substantial 
programme of retrofitting 59,881 streetlights with energy efficient LED 
lighting, adding solar panel arrays to 38 buildings, made 16 of its larger 
buildings more energy efficient, and introduced Eco Smart Schools 
programme providing advice and support in a wide range of energy 
efficiency measures across 240 schools in the county.

24 In order to achieve a 60% reduction a further 21,151,555 kgCO2e per 
annum needs to be achieved.  This will present challenges, as many of 
the “easy” wins have been implemented, offsetting (such as tree 
planting) is not counted, there is an old building stock across schools 
and offices, and technology is not currently in place for larger fleet.

25 To help inform this report  a series of staff workshops were held from 
across all sectors of the Council including Children’s Services, 
Resources, Regeneration and Local Services and Adult Services.  This 
generated a range of ideas and proposals that have informed the 
drafting of the report.

26 Initiatives and projects already in progress include:

 Development of a solar farm at Tanfield Lea to supply nearby 
Council buildings;

 Test boreholes at Louisa Centre to explore the feasibility of from 
minewater heat, which if proven will support a bid for European 
structural funding;

 Assessing and increasing electrification of fleet including pool 
cars, and pedestrian sweepers and bin hoists;

 Energy efficiency and LED lighting projects across a range of 
Council buildings.

27 Further measures included in the report include:

 A whole Council approach, including assessing climate change 
implications on all reports, training of staff and members;

 Continuance of the street lighting energy reduction project 
(subject to assessment) to a potential 15,000 extra street columns 
(3,000 tonnes per annum);

 A highly energy efficient (A rated) new headquarters, including an 
ambition to achieve carbon neutrality through offsetting;

 Carbon impact assessments, including low carbon options for 
construction projects which will help prepare for any national 
advice on building regulations.

Page 32



How the County Would Meet its Targets

28 Similar to the Council target, good progress has also been made across 
the County with a reduction from 4,697,500 tonnes to 2,266,177 tonnes 
ie 52% from 1990 levels to date.  The greatest reductions have come 
from the industrial and commercial sector, where there are some 
excellent examples of work being undertaken, for example by 
Lanchester wines at Greencroft Industrial estate who have installed 
wind turbines, solar panels and undertaken energy saving initiatives to 
achieve carbon neutrality.  The Council led Business Energy Efficiency 
Project (BEEP) has provided advice to 168 small business, and overall 
renewable energy has increased 14% in the last 4 years.  Domestic 
energy has also seen reductions aided by the overall decarbonisation of 
the grid, but also involving local projects such as home insulation 
schemes.  Transport has seen less of a fall, and challenges remain in 
moving away from fossil fuel modes.

29 The move to eliminate (or offset) the remaining 2,266,177 tCO2 is an 
ambition that the County cannot achieve on its own.  Indeed the Council 
resolution in February 2019 calls on Westminster to provide the powers 
and resources to make the 2030 and 2050 targets possible.  The report 
covers a range of the asks from Government including:

 Produce a national energy policy including financial incentives for 
renewable energy and energy efficiency re-introducing grants that 
have been withdrawn;

 Provide consistent planning national advice and regulations to 
ensure that developers build to low carbon/neutral standards;

 Provide long term financial support to councils for schemes that 
involve high upfront investment such as geothermal energy 
schemes, charging points and other infrastructure programmes.  
In particular, the European funding for low carbon schemes 
(currently earmarked at £16 million for County Durham), subject 
to Brexit, should be replaced for example through the Shared 
Prosperity Fund.

30 Notwithstanding the above, the Council, working with partners across 
the county, can also play a significant part.  The Council has also 
become established as a leader in the field of low carbon, sitting on 
several national Government advisory bodies with a reputation for 
leadership across Europe, the UK and the region.  In addition, work with 
partners such as Northern Power Grid, Durham University and 
Northumbrian Water has led to successful joint funding bids, free 
expertise from researchers and students and exciting new opportunities 
for collaborative working.

Page 33



31  Schemes currently planned (subject to grant support) include:

 Expansion of the Business Energy Efficiency Project providing 
advice and support in energy efficiency to small and medium 
enterprises across the county;

 Solid Wall Insulation Innovation Project to 220 properties at South 
Moor, Ramshaw, Cockfield and Ferryhill incorporating innovative 
insulation, smart energy controls and sustainable heating advice;

 Programme of investment subject to funding in low carbon 
transport infrastructure, for projects including park and ride, 
Durham Bus Station (subject to a successful North East Transport 
bid);

 Planting of over 64 hectares of woodland through the Durham 
Woodland Revival Project, and an extensive programme of 
peatland restoration.

32 The County Durham Plan (http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp), sets out a 
range of future development needs and planning policies for the county 
until 2035, and was approved for submission to the Secretary of State 
by Council on 19 June 2019.  The Plan proposes 24,852 new homes 
and 302 hectares of new employment land for business and industry.  
Such development ultimately carries a carbon footprint, however plan 
policies seek to ensure that new development minimises carbon 
emissions through its design, incorporation of renewable energy where 
possible.  Clearly there may be changes in national guidance or 
regulations on planning which can be incorporated into formal reviews 
of the Plan in due course.

Governance and Inclusivity
33 In order to meet the Council’s targets it is proposed to continue with the 

Carbon Management Programme Board for oversight and 
implementation of Council projects, and it is suggested that membership 
is reviewed to incorporate “gap” areas such as schools and transport.  
Clearly any key decisions would need to be made through the Council’s 
usual decision making process involving Cabinet.

34 The current responsibility for the delivery of countywide target falls to a 
subgroup of the Environment Partnership which in turn reports to the 
County Durham Partnership.  Given the emergency declaration, and the 
fact that this is the most pressing environmental issue of our time, it is 
proposed that climate change is given greater prominence in a new 
Environment and Climate Change Partnership.  This is much more than 
a name change, as its structure in turn would reshape to include 
representatives from all sectors that could make a difference.  This 
would include representation from:

Page 34

http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


 The Council’s Climate Change Champion
 Youth representatives
 Business, industry and economic development
 Domestic and community sector
 Transport Sectors
 Natural environment and biodiversity.

35 It is recognised that climate change impacts on all residents, 
businesses and organisations across the County, and all have a role to 
play in meeting the targets.  For this reason it is proposed to establish a 
County Durham Climate Change Network where, through an online 
platform, all interested parties can sign up to find more information on 
the role they can play, receive news and updates on developments, 
contribute ideas and share best practice.  Key issues will be reported 
from this to the Environment and Climate Change Partnership.

36 The Council’s Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee have had a strong track record in overseeing the 
delivery of previous County and Council carbon reduction plans and this 
is set to continue going forward.

Consultation and Next Steps

37 With 97% of the county’s carbon emission targets being outside the 
Council’s direct control, it is clear that they can only be addressed 
through an inclusive process, harnessing the skills and enthusiasm from 
across the community and business sector in the county.  Whilst this 
report is a start, five months has not been sufficient to achieve the “buy 
in” that would be essential to success.

38 For this reason, it is proposed that the draft report be used as a basis 
for consultation in Autumn 2019.  The report has been drafted to include 
a series of questions to allow for this.  Consultation would be open to 
individuals as well as organisations, and will be wide ranging including 
Area Action Partnerships, schools, Town and Parish Councils, 
businesses and community organisations.  A series of workshops for 
key stakeholders will also be undertaken encouraging contribution from 
transport, business and domestic sectors that all have a role in carbon 
reductions.  The exhibits available before and after today’s meeting, 
illustrate well the broad nature of work and initiatives that need to be 
progressed.

39 It is proposed to undertake this consultation from mid-September to the 
end of October 2019 and to report these findings to Cabinet in early 
2020 in the form of an action plan.  It should be emphasised that this 
would not delay implementation of several of the schemes detailed in 

Page 35



the plan, but rather serve to allow additional contributions to be 
included.

Conclusion
40 The draft report set out in Appendix 2 responds to the requirement 

from Full Council to set out how the ambitious carbon reduction targets 
can be met.  The Government has also indicated its intention to 
legislate for a national net zero target, raising the potential for resources 
to be available to help achieve this.

41 Whilst the report details a range of specific schemes, it does not have 
all the answers, instead it provides indications of where the remaining 
carbon reductions may come from, subject to resource availability.  
Wider consultation will help refine and develop these plans still further.

42 In essence the approach is what Greta Thunberg in her speech to UK 
MPs (23 April 2019) referred to as “cathedral thinking”.  “We must lay 
the foundation while we may not know exactly how to build the ceiling.”

Background papers
 None.

Other useful documents
 County Durham Climate Change Strategy and Delivery Plan 

(2015-20)

 Durham County Council Carbon Management Plan (2015-20)

 Committee on Climate Change Net Zero: The UKs contribution to 
stopping global warming

Contact: Oliver Sherratt Tel:  03000 269259

Steve Bhowmick Tel:  03000 267122

Maggie Bosanquet Tel:  03000 265549

Page 36



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
Appendix E of Appendix 2 details a wide range of legal policy drivers for this 
report.  Most relevant is the Climate Change Act 2008 which established a UK 
commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 80% by 2050 from 1990 
levels and the Paris Agreement (to which the UK is a signatory) which aims to 
keep the increase in global average temperature to well below 2oC above pre-
industrial levels; and to limit the increase to 1.5o C to prevent dangerous 
climate change.  On 12 June Government announced plans to legislate to 
revise the Climate Change Act and adopt a target of net zero carbon 
emissions by 2050.

The Council resolution made on 20 February asks for a report to consider 
what actions are necessary to achieve a carbon neutral position by 2050 ie 
higher than current national legislated targets.  This report addresses the 
issue.

Finance
The report describes “projects in progress that are already funded by the 
Council and Partners.  To date, the Council’s work on carbon reduction has 
generated significant savings and income (around £700,000 per annum) with 
considerable success in attracting external funding from European and UK 
grant sources as well as reductions in energy costs through efficiency.

The report describes a wide range of further measures that need to be 
implemented in coming years to achieve the targets.  Many of these would 
need to be subject to further technical and financial assessment, with options 
for funding coming from the Council (typically on “invest to save” basis), 
national Government (especially in the light of net zero carbon 2050 targets), 
European and other external funding.

It is proposed to consult on these broad areas, assess costs and utilise the 
findings to inform a more detailed action plan presented early in 2020 for 
Members consideration.

Consultation
It is proposed that the report in Appendix 2 be subject to wide consultation in 
Autumn 2019, and a communication plan will be developed for this purpose.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None identified.

Page 37



Climate Change
This is the first Council report where this implication is being considered.  The 
report outlines the ways in which ambitious targets for carbon reduction may 
be met.

Human Rights

None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
Whilst having no direct staffing implications, the report does cover staff 
training and awareness as well as promoting a “carbon conscious” through the 
Inspire Advocates Programme.

Accommodation
Considerable progress has been made in introducing renewable energy (solar 
panels) across Council buildings and depots as well as making offices more 
energy efficient.  The report covers the high energy efficiency rating of the 
new headquarters and an ambition to achieve a carbon neutral HQ.

Risk
Key risks to achieving the targets are identified in the Appendix 2 report and 
include Government support and policy, resources and the greater challenge 
posed for carbon reductions in rural areas such as County Durham.

Procurement
There are major opportunities through procurement to influence carbon 
reductions.  This may be in public transport contracts or purchase of fleet and 
equipment.  The role of procurement is detailed in the Appendix 2 report.

Page 38



Durham County Council 

Climate Emergency 
Update Report 

Draft for Consultation 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 July 2019 

 

Page 39



Page 40



Update Report
1 Purpose of this Report 3

2 Introduction and County Durham Context 5
2.1 Co-Benefits of Climate Action 7

3 Current Performance Explained 9
3.1 The Council's Performance 9
3.2 County Durham's Performance 13
3.3 National Performance 19

4 Council Projects and Opportunities 20
4.1 Projects 22
4.2 Policies and Practices - Council Emissions 30
4.3 Policies and Practices - Behavioural Change 33

5 Countywide Projects and Opportunities 34
5.1 Electricity Decarbonisation 38
5.2 Buildings 41
5.3 Road Transport / Infrastructure 46
5.4 Land Use / Agriculture 53
5.5 Shipping 57
5.6 Waste 58
5.7 Education and Awareness 59

6 Achieving Our Ambitions 59
6.1 Governance 59
6.2 Risks and Barriers to Implementation 61

7 Collective Action 63
7.1 What Others Can Do 63
7.2 What We Will Ask of Government 65

8 Over to You 67

APPENDICES

Appendices 68

A - G

Climate Emergency Update Report

Contents

Page 41



A Consultation 69

B Achievements to Date 76
B.1 The Council 76
B.2 County Durham 79

C Impacts of Climate Change in County Durham 90

D Decarbonisation of the Electricity Grid 95

E Policy Drivers 96

F The Council's Target Areas 100

G Glossary 103

Climate Emergency Update Report

Contents

Page 42



1 Purpose of this Report

1.0.1 On 20th February 2019, Durham County Council declared a Climate
Emergency. Ensuring that County Durham plays its part in limiting global warming and
adapting to the 'locked in' unavoidable impacts of climate change requires urgent collective
action. Specifically, the meeting of the Full Council agreed in a motion to the following
targets and actions:

Immediately adopt a new Durham County Council target of 60% [carbon reduction]
by 2030(i) making significant progress towards making Durham County Council and
County Durham carbon neutral taking into account both production and consumption
emissions.

Investigate what further actions are necessary to make County Durham carbon neutral
by 2050 and pledge to achieve this. (ii)

1.0.2 The Council's declaration called for action on this emergency, and for a report
within six months setting out the actions the Council will need to take to achieve the 2030
target and an initial report on what actions would be necessary to make County Durham
carbon neutral by 2050. The format and approach to the climate emergency was endorsed
by the Council's Environment and Sustainable Communities Scrutiny Committee at its
meeting held on 30th April 2019.

1.0.3 This report explores:

what the Council needs to do to achieve its targets;
what the county as a whole, working in partnership needs to do;
what measures may be necessary on a national level.

1.0.4 This report builds on the work already achieved through the County Durham
Climate Change Strategy and Delivery Plan (2015-20) which covered countywide issues,
and the Council's Carbon Management Plan (2015-20) which sets out ways to reduce the
Council's own carbon emissions. A description of some of the achievements to date are
included in Appendix B.

1.0.5 Since the Council resolution, national government have announced (12th May
2019) plans to legislate and revise the Climate Change Act 2008 targets to be legally
binding net zero carbon emissions by 2050. It is acknowledged that this will take significant
resources nationally (between 1 and 2% of GDP) and clearly a proportion of this would
be needed in County Durham alongside other funding sources. However the costs of
inaction could be as much as 20% of GDP (Stern Review, 2006).

i From 2008/09 levels
ii Note the Council target is a gross target which cannot be met by offsetting, but the county's target may include offsetting,

such as tree planting.

3Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 43



1.0.6 Whilst there are a range of exciting specific measures in this update report, it does
not have all the answers and instead seeks to highlight some key areas of work. In essence,
it adopts a “cathedral thinking” approach:

“Avoiding climate breakdown will require cathedral thinking. We must lay the
foundation while we may not know exactly how to build the ceiling.”

Greta Thunberg, Speech to UK MPs 23rd April 2019

1.0.7 This report begins a wide consultation across community, public and business
sectors, so that the actions can fully harness ideas and innovation from across our county,
owned and implemented by everyone. Consultation questions are included throughout
the Plan (shown in yellow boxes) and collated together in Appendix A.

Climate Emergency Update Report4

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 44



2 Introduction and County Durham Context

2.0.1 Since the 1950s, observed changes in our climate have been unprecedented, with
widespread impacts on human and natural systems. As the rate of warming accelerates,
so does the likelihood of severe, pervasive, and irreversible impacts. Climate disasters,
bringing risks to health, livelihoods, food security, water supply, human security, species
loss and extinction, and economic growth, are projected to increase to irreparable levels
with global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and increase further with a
2°C average temperature rise.

2.0.2 In 2018, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) produced a
special report which warned that the current trajectory of global greenhouse gas emissions
is not consistent with limiting warming to below 1.5°C or 2°C. It clearly stated that, unless
emergency action is taken over the next twelve years to 2030, global warming will continue
on its current trajectory toward 3°C with disastrous consequences.

Impacts of Climate Change in County Durham

2.0.3 Climate change is already happening in County Durham. Our temperatures have
increased steadily, our sea level has risen, and in the last ten years there have been more
severe weather events, from floods to moorland fires, than at any time since the first
councils were established. The impact is not just environmental. As we have seen, flooding
and storms can destroy homes, livelihoods and health. Further detail on the impacts of
climate change in County Durham can be found in Appendix C.

2.0.4 The following graph shows global average temperature between 1850 and 2018.

Figure 1 Global Average Temperature Anomalies (Source: Berkeley Earth)

5Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 45



2.0.5 The following graph demonstrates how actual temperatures have changed in
Durham City between 1850 and 2010, measured by our own Durham University
Observatory. This shows that the temperature change in Durham closely mimics the global
trend.

Figure 2 Graph showing Increasing Temperatures in County Durham (A. Telford (2011) Durham
University)

2.0.6 Tackling climate change is of course a global issue, and UK emissions only make
up a small proportion (0.70%) of the global total, but in the May 2019 Committee on Climate
Change report it asserts that anyone who says the UK’s actions no longer matter are
wrong. Our per capita emissions are still high (5.3 tonnes per capita 2017), and are similar
to many other countries who have not contributed to man-made carbon emissions for as
long in their history. Every tonne of carbon counts, wherever it is emitted, and there are
major opportunities for UK services and businesses to lead the way and set an example.

2.0.7 Equally, councils like Durham, are small, but collectively they are in a unique
position, not only as major service providers, but also as regulators and community leaders.
With over 70 councils declaring a Climate Change Emergency, their combined impact
cannot be underestimated, not just for activities within their own area, but the collective
lobbying power on Government. Section 7.2 of this report details what Durham County
Council asks of National Government.

2.0.8 Although County Durham contributes only 0.6% of UK total carbon emissions,
there are opportunities in the work we do, to make positive impact beyond our boundaries,
leading by example through innovative approaches, partnership working and sharing best
practice. We also have a moral duty to take action as County Durham played an important

Climate Emergency Update Report6

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 46



role in fuelling the industrial revolution which has contributed to the UK having large
cumulative historical emissions of CO2 despite the UK making up only 1% of the global
population.(iii)

2.0.9 It makes economic sense too. An economic study conducted by Climate NE and
Arup in 2010 reported that the total expected cost of annual damages of climate change
(e.g. heatwaves or flooding) without adaptation by 2050 will be approximately £600million
per year for the North East. Adaptation costs are estimated to be much less at around
£80-100 million per year (by 2050), giving a cost benefit ratio of 7:1 in favour of adaptation.
(iv)(v)

2.1 Co-Benefits of Climate Action

2.1.1 Responding to the climate emergency will also have wider, cross cutting benefits,
including avoided costs for the Council and its communities, businesses, and environment:

Improved quality of life

Benefits to human health from better air quality, less noise, more active travel,
more energy efficient housing and a shift to healthier diets
Improved air and water quality, enhanced biodiversity, increased resilience to
climate change and recreational benefits from changes to land use
Regenerated neighbourhoods through whole place insulation and district heating
schemes
Reduced levels of fuel poverty, especially for vulnerable residents

Lower risks from climate change

Direct benefits - e.g. lower risk of flooding in the UK
Indirect benefits - e.g. reduced exposure to rising food prices and impacts on
ecosystems services that nature currently provides e.g. pollination of crops and
other plants by bees

Economic opportunities

With appropriate policy and support there could be economic opportunities in
County Durham from being one of the early movers in key sectors such as finance
and engineering for low-carbon technologies, carbon capture and storage. The
transition from fossil fuel use could also stimulate further economic activity.

Financial Savings

To householders, business and the Council on energy bills

iii Committee on Climate Change (May 2019) Net Zero: The UK's contribution to stopping global warming
iv Climate NE/Arup (2010) North East England Climate Change Adaptation Study
v Please note that given more recent IPCC publications which highlight worsening conditions it can safely be assumed that the

Climate NE/Arup estimates of impacts and cost abatement are on the conservative side.

7Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 47



Question 1

The Council delivers a wide range of services and has needed to make £224 million
savings since 2011. In this context how important is tackling climate change to you?

Climate Emergency Update Report8

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 48



3 Current Performance Explained

3.0.1 Climate Change is primarily a problem of increasing levels of carbon dioxide in
the atmosphere, resulting from human activity. Whilst there are other greenhouse gases
which trap heat in the atmosphere (from methane to water vapour), carbon dioxide has
caused most of the warming and remains in the atmosphere longer than the other major
heat trapping gases emitted. This section therefore sets out the current performance of
the Council and County Durham in relation to reducing carbon emissions.

3.0.2 The carbon footprint for the Council is calculated using carbon factors provided
by the government's Department for Business, Energy, and Industrial Strategy, BEIS.(vi)

It is published as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent, tCO2e.

3.0.3 Countywide data has been sourced from the BEIS publication Local Authority
Carbon Emissions Statistical Release 2017 which provides the latest estimates of carbon
dioxide emissions (based on an end-user basis) for local authority areas. The county's
carbon footprint is published as kilotonnes of carbon dioxide, ktCO2, which is 1,000 times
larger than tCO2.

3.1 The Council's Performance

3.1.1 The Council contributes approximately 3% of the overall emissions of the county
and this carbon footprint is reported to the public each year.(vii) Although 3% is a small
portion of the whole problem, the Council must tackle this in order to be able to lead by
example, and assist with the remaining 97%. Since the baseline year of 2008/09, Durham
County Council's carbon emissions have reduced by more than 40%. (viii)

3.1.2 The following pie charts show that much of the Council's footprint (63%) is from
our buildings, with schools accounting for more than half of that. The largest single
contributing group is primary schools, which contribute 20% of the Council's footprint. The
remaining third of emissions from sources other than buildings is made up of street lighting
and transport.

vi BEIS Carbon Factors can be downloaded
here: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting

vii https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/Tackling-our-carbon-footprint
viii Emissions data for 2018/19 will be published at the end of July 2019.

9Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/Tackling-our-carbon-footprint


Figure 3 Graph of the breakdown of the most recent carbon emissions data for Durham
County Council.

3.1.3 There has been considerable progress in carbon emission reduction since Durham
County Council’s first Carbon Management Plan, which covered 2010-15. This plan has
been succeeded by a second plan covering the years to 2020. This second plan aimed
to meet a reduction of 40% from 2008/09 levels by April 2020. This was uplifted to 45%
in January 2019 after the Council successfully met 40% reduction two years early in April
2018. It is important to note that this target was constructed as a gross target, which can
only be met through real carbon reduction and cannot be achieved by offsetting (e.g. tree
planting).

3.1.4 Key factors behind the success include a 55% reduction in street lighting energy
use through a programme of LED retrofits, progress nationally and in the county in
decarbonisation of the national electricity grid (contributing up to 10% of the overall
reduction to date), and energy efficiency measures in Council buildings, as illustrated in
the chart below:

Climate Emergency Update Report10

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 50



Figure 4 Graph of Durham County Council's total carbon emissions grouped by service area,
comparing our first data set with our most recent one.

3.1.5 Some of the significant reduction in carbon emissions from secondary schools is
because the Council cannot include emissions from schools which have opted to manage
their own utility supplies. Nine of the thirty three public secondary schools in County Durham
have opted to do so. This means that nine secondary schools that were included in the
carbon footprint in 2008/09, could not be included in 2017/18. This discrepancy accounts
for a 27% reduction in secondary schools carbon emissions. Our data show a total 50%
reduction from our secondary schools, therefore up to 23% can be genuinely attributed to
streamlining, energy efficiency, and carbon reduction works.

3.1.6 The Council's footprint can also be analysed by utility. The graph below shows
the change in carbon footprint by fuel type since the start of the Carbon Management
Programme. In 2008/09, purchased grid electricity contributed the largest amount to our
emissions, but by 2017/18 the contributions of gas and electricity were at comparable
levels. In fact, between 2008/09 and 2017/18 the carbon emissions from electricity
purchased by the Council reduced by more than 50%. Some of this reduction will be due
to the decarbonisation of grid electricity - further details in Appendix D. Whilst there is a
significant reduction in some areas, emissions from fleet have only reduced by 5%.

11Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 51



Figure 5 Graph of DurhamCounty Council's total carbon emissions grouped by fuel type, comparing
our first data set with our most recent one.

3.1.7 From this analysis we can identify four specific areas to target; Heat, Transport,
Electricity, and Schools. Tackling these four areas in particular will focus our efforts to
enable appropriate and sustainable carbon reduction.

3.1.8 The Council's carbon footprint for 2017/18 was 63,459tCO2e, therefore to meet
our target, a reduction of 21,151tCO2e is required. To try to put this into context this would
require carbon savings equivalent to installing solar panels on approximately 67 football
pitches.

Key issues to take forward in this report:

There have been genuine and substantial reductions in Council emissions,
however care should be taken to distinguish this from some activities coming out
of scope for reporting purposes.
Energy efficient lighting projects, including the street lighting replacement project,
have made the biggest contributions, and any remaining inefficient lighting should
be replaced as a priority.
Schools provide 40% of the Council's carbon footprint and a key focus of activity
should therefore be carbon savings in their buildings.
Providing low carbon heat for our buildings will be difficult, and may require
additional funding as well as progressive and innovative actions.

Climate Emergency Update Report12

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 52



There has been very little improvement to the carbon impact of Durham County
Council's fleet and transport activities. This should be one of the main focus areas
for action.
It should be possible to meet the target of 60% reduction by 2030, however this
will require coordinated and prioritised collaboration across the Authority.

3.2 County Durham's Performance

3.2.1 The following chart shows that in 2017, carbon emissions from the domestic sector
made up the highest proportion of County Durham's total emissions (37%), followed by
both the industrial and commercial sector (30%) and the transport sector (30%). The land
use, land use change, and forestry (LULUCF) sector reduced net emissions overall by
5%, as this includes the contribution of forestry in taking carbon dioxide out of the
atmosphere (but doesn't, as yet, include peatland restoration).

Figure 6 Composition of Carbon Emissions in County Durham

3.2.2 Compared to other local authorities, the transport sector has the highest share of
end-user carbon emissions in 54% of authorities. The industrial and commercial sector
had the highest share in 23% and the domestic sector also had the highest share in 23%
of authorities.

13Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 53



Changes in County Durham's Carbon Emissions

3.2.3 In 2010, the Council and the County Durham Partnership agreed a target to reduce
carbon emissions across County Durham by 40% by 2020 (based upon 1990 levels). This
includes emissions from the domestic, business, commercial and transport sectors. The
40% target exceeds the Government target set in the Climate Change Act of a 37%
reduction by 2020.

3.2.4 By 2017, County Durham had achieved a total emissions reduction of 52% from
1990 levels(ix), exceeding the national performance in 2017 by 9%. (x) County Durham is
currently on course to meet a 55% reduction by 2020.

3.2.5 With the exception of transport emissions which have started to increase by an
average of 12.95 ktCO2 (1.8%) each year since 2013, the following chart depicts an overall
reduction in carbon emissions from the 1990 baseline year. (xi)There are likely to be many
contributing factors to the changes to County Durham's emissions, including:

Decarbonisation of the national electricity grid as the result of increasing levels of
renewable electricity production and decreased reliance on coal;
Increases in energy prices resulting in steps being taken both by householders and
businesses to reduce their gas and electricity consumption;
Industrial and commercial closures e.g. large industrial installations such as the
Eastgate Cement works closed in 2002
Possible increasing numbers of passenger vehicles and vehicle kilometres travelled
outweighing improvements in fuel efficiency of both petrol and diesel cars.

3.2.6 In County Durham, the biggest reductions have occurred in the industrial and
commercial sector (partially due to the economic recession). Reductions from the domestic
sector have fluctuated (partially weather related). The positive contribution of land use,
land use change and forestry has remained static, although may provide future potential
for carbon offsetting schemes.

ix on a per capita basis this reduction equates to 54%
x According to the Committee on Climate Change, UK emissions were 43% below 1990 levels in 2017.
xi 50% of Local Authorities had an increase in transport emissions in 2017 compared to 2016. (BEIS - UK local authority carbon

dioxide emissions estimates 2017)

Climate Emergency Update Report14

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 54



Figure 7 Changes in County Durham's Carbon Emissions

3.2.7 By way of comparison, the line graph below shows that whilst:

There is a greater emissions gap between the industrial/commercial sector and
domestic emissions; and
Emissions from the industrial/commercial sector have the highest share

3.2.8 County Durham follows a similar trend to the national picture in terms of peaks
and troughs, increasing transport emissions from 2013 and the relatively static, positive
contribution of the land use, land use change and forestry sector.

Figure 8 Changes in the UK's Carbon Emissions

15Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 55



3.2.9 In terms of the rate of reducing carbon emissions, the North East region has
facilitated the largest fall in emissions between 2005 and 2017 at 54%, in part due to
industrial closures. However, County Durham is lagging slightly behind the regional and
national performance in terms of the rate of reductions in the domestic and transport
sectors within this time period.

3.2.10 The context of County Durham i.e. second most populated unitary authority in
the country, 6th largest in terms of area, predominantly rural in nature with a dispersed
settlement pattern and a high proportion of older housing stock may explain why the rate
of reductions in the domestic and transport sector fall slightly below the national and
regional performance. County Durham has a higher proportion of 'hard to heat' properties
which are off the gas network than other local authorities within the region and a high
reliance on private car use.

3.2.11 In terms of other authorities within the region, County Durham compares most
closely to Northumberland County Council in terms of reductions in domestic and transport
emissions. Northumberland County Council is also predominantly rural in nature.

Table 1 % change in emissions between 2005 and 2017

Total % Change
from 2005

TransportDomesticIndustrial and
Commercial

ktCO2

-33%-8%-36%-45%National

-34%-11%-36%-44%Regional

-33%-5%-34%-48%County Durham

-40%-2%-35%-59%Northumberland

3.2.12 One positive aspect of County Durham's rural context, and similar characteristic
to Northumberland is the considerable progress in relation to renewable energy, especially
onshore wind.

Climate Emergency Update Report16

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 56



Figure 9 Renewable generation capacity by Local Authority area

3.2.13 County Durham generates a significant amount of renewable energy within its
boundaries. In 2017, County Durham had a renewable electricity operational capacity of
227 MW and actually produced 515,681 MWh. This is equal to 67% of the whole county's
household electricity requirements. It would supply enough electricity for 156,981
households in County Durham. The make-up of renewable electricity is detailed below:

Table 2 Renewable electricity generation in County Durham

Carbon Savings
(tCO2e)

Generation (MWh)Capacity (MW)Technology

12,68944,82650.2Solar PV

88,095311,214138.3Onshore Wind

1,3854,8921.3Hydro

6,80624,0425.5Anaerobic Digestion

2829950.3Sewage Gas

8,27829,24513.9Landfill Gas

28,439100,46617.9Plant Biomass

145,974515,681227.4Total

17Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 57



3.2.14 The County Council resolution on 20th February 2019 aims to investigate what
further actions could make County Durham carbon neutral by 2050. The concept of
carbon neutrality means balancing any remaining carbon emissions by mechanisms that
capture carbon from the atmosphere such as tree planting.(xii)

3.2.15 Whilst county emissions have halved since 1990, achieving the other 50%
reduction will be a huge challenge, given our continued reliance on fossil fuels for heating
and transport. To try to put this into context, reducing or offsetting County Durham's 2017
emissions would require carbon savings equivalent to installing solar panels on
approximately 2,233 football pitches or planting 5,860 hectares of new broadleaf woodland.

How is future Development taken into account?

3.2.16 The County Durham Plan(xiii) sets out a range of future development needs and
planning policies for the county until 2035. The plan proposes 24,852 new homes and 302
hectares of new employment land for business and industry. Such development ultimately
brings a carbon footprint, both in construction and operation. However, policies in the
County Durham Plan seek to ensure that new development and the occupation of such,
minimises carbon emissions through its location, (e.g. locating development so that it
reduces the need to travel to access community services, employment and public transport)
design and incorporation of renewable energy where possible. The Local Plan will be
reviewed every 5 years, therefore the opportunity remains to consider more ambitious
policies, at that time and when new national policies have been established. However all
policies will have to go through the legal processes and be subject to viability testing.

3.2.17 Consultation and opportunity to comment on a Pre-Submission draft of the County
Durham Plan and its proposals ended on the 8th March 2019. The County Durham Plan
and its proposals, including the Durham City relief roads, together with the representations
made during the consultation will be considered at the Examination In Public, where an
independent examiner will decide whether the Plan goes ahead.

Key issues to take forward in this report:

Overall emission reductions from 1990 levels are above the national average,
but progress to carbon neutral by 2050 carbon will be very challenging.
Transport sector has had the lowest reductions. Whilst this does present
opportunities there will be challenges due to the rural nature of the county.
Carbon emissions from the domestic sector contribute the most to County
Durham's overall emissions with heating being a key area to tackle as it is largely
fossil fuel reliant. Decarbonisation of heat, for instance by minewater heating and
heat networks, may provide a significant opportunity.

xii Some forms of carbon sequestration, such as peatland restoration, are not currently counted and are subject to research by
Natural England, although some businesses are incorporating this into their carbon offsetting plans (for example, Heathrow and
Lancashire Peatlands). This may provide opportunities within County Durham irrespective of them being included in the figures.

xiii The County Durham Plan is available at: http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp

Climate Emergency Update Report18

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 58

http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


Energy efficiency measures remain the most cost effective way to reduce carbon.
These also have economic benefits which should be fully exploited.
The positive contribution from land use and forestry in offsetting has yet to be
fully exploited and should be explored further.

3.3 National Performance

3.3.1 The Climate Change Act 2008 set the worlds first legally binding targets of a
reduction of least 80% by 2050 (against the 1990 baseline). This Act established the
Committee on Climate Change as an independent body to advise the Government on this
issue and to produce annual reports on progress towards meeting the carbon budgets
and the 2050 target.

3.3.2 Whilst considerable progress has beenmade in some areas (for example reductions
in carbon utilisation for electricity) and the UK emissions were 43% below 1990 levels in
2017, the Committee on Climate Change in its June 2018 progress report, highlighted that
the UK will not meet longer term targets unless Government brings forward new fully
funded policies (having dropped schemes such as Feed-in-Tariffs and carbon capture and
storage). The Government have responded to this, for instance most recently by the
Chancellors announcement in the Spring 2019 Budget to introduce a Future Homes
Standard by 2025, so that new build homes are future-proofed with low carbon heating
and energy efficiency. More detail on the policy drivers and supporting strategies from the
international to local level can be found in Appendix E.

3.3.3 Mindful of the projections made in the IPCC Special Report on Global Warming,
2018 the Committee on Climate Change made a clear recommendation in its May 2019
report for a new emissions target for the UK - net-zero greenhouse gases by 2050. The
Committee concluded that net-zero is necessary, feasible and cost-effective.(xiv) This was
accepted by government on 12th May 2019 with plans to revise the Climate Change Act
2008 to make the target legally binding. To achieve this Government will need to come
forward with coordinated policies, actions and regulations, including those described below

Key national issues which must be addressed:

End what the Committee on Climate Change refers to as a “chopping and
changing” of policies around Feed-in-Tariffs, and energy efficiency in buildings.
Commit to effective and consistent national regulation and enforcement.
Greater support for low cost solutions such as tree planting and energy efficiency.

xiv Committee on Climate Change (May 2019) Net Zero: The UK's contribution to stopping global warming .

19Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 59



4 Council Projects and Opportunities

4.0.1 This section details the actions that we plan to take to meet the Council's carbon
reduction targets. It first considers the magnitude of the task ahead, and ways to break it
down into more immediate targets.

Progress and Milestones

4.0.2 The Council's carbon footprint in the baseline year of 2008/09 was 105,769tCO2e. In
order to meet the target of 60% reduction by 2030, the Council's operations in the 12
months from April 2029 to March 2030must cause emissions of nomore than 42,308tCO2e.
This is a gross target, and cannot be met by off-setting. The year runs from April to March,
and is reported on in July of each year. By the end of 2017/18, the Council's emissions
had already reduced by 40% to 63,459tCO2e, as reported in July 2018(xv).

4.0.3 The graph below shows the previous target milestone of 45% by 2020 (from the
existing Carbon Management Plan), and the new Emergency target of 60% by 2030. In
order to meet the 60% target, our carbon emissions must reduce by an average of 3%
each year from 2017/18. This is actually less than the average reduction between 2008/09
and 2017/18, which was 5.4% per year.

Figure 10 Council reduction so far and proposed reduction milestones

4.0.4 This graph appears to make responding to the Emergency target look easy.
However, as more of our carbon emissions are reduced, moving closer to the ultimate
goal of a zero carbon county becomes much harder. The first stages of relatively easy

xv https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/Tackling-our-carbon-footprint

Climate Emergency Update Report20

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 60

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/Tackling-our-carbon-footprint


energy efficiency retrofits, such as LED lighting and draught proofing, are almost complete
in the areas that were financially viable. Further savings will require more radical
interventions, more collaboration across the Council, and more investment.

4.0.5 Two intermediate milestones have been suggested, first of 45% reduction by 2020,
and then of 55% reduction by 2025. In the event that we reduce our carbon footprint more
quickly than set out by the milestones, they will be adjusted and the 2030 target may be
reviewed.

Question 2

Are these suggested milestones appropriate? Please explain why or why not.

Target Areas Explained

4.0.6 The following section provides information about the areas that the Council needs
to target, and some of the technologies and methods that could be used. Target areas
were identified following analysis of the Council's current and past carbon footprint in
Section 3.1 of this draft Plan. For each target area there are descriptions of some of the
example actions that are available to us.

Table 3 Example actions the could be used to tackle the four main target areas

Example ActionsDescription

Decarbonisation of heat for
buildings by reducing reliance
on fossil fuels and reducing heat
lost.

Heat Heat pump technology
Biomass boilers
Better building design
Insulation and heat recovery

Decarbonisation of fleet and
other transport

Transport Electrifying the Council's fleet
Improving access to staff pool cars
Encouraging use of public transport
Encouraging walking and cycling
Reducing the need to travel

Minimising grid electricity
demand

Electricity Renewable electricity generation, such as solar or
wind power
Use of more efficient technologies like LED lighting
Demand-side response batteries to allow more
efficient use of lower carbon electricity
Behaviour change campaigns

Carbon reduction in schoolsSchools Education work with staff and pupils
Building improvement projects
Help to find funding for energy saving projects

4.0.7 More detail and in-depth explanations for the example actions can be found in
Appendix F.

21Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 61



4.0.8 Each of the four target areas will be subject to monitoring and targeting to ensure
that work done achieves the intended goals and to help identify the best next steps.

Question 3

Are these the right target areas?

Are there any other areas that we should be focusing on?

4.1 Projects

4.1.1 This section looks at the specific projects that are under development to create
future carbon savings for the Council, as well as projects that have been successful in the
past. If the Council is to achieve carbon neutrality, all areas of the Council must be engaged
in this process.

4.1.2 A first series of workshops has therefore been held across the Council to enable
ideas to be put forward of how different teams can reduce their carbon emissions. The
findings are included in this Plan, and further workshops are planned. Carbon must be
considered at the first stage of any large project or transaction if we are to be successful
in achieving our targets, so a new requirement has just been introduced setting out that
every corporate report must assess the carbon impacts it would have.

4.1.3 The following list of projects is labelled with the target areas identified in Section
4.1; Heat, Transport, Electricity and Schools. It is important to note that with the exception
of 'projects in progress', financial resource would need to be identified from Council,
National or European sources as appropriate.

Minewater Heating

4.1.4 County Durham has a long and proud mining heritage, which is still
a huge part of our culture and society. Many of our buildings are built above mines, which
are now abandoned and flooded with water, as they lie beneath the water table. Being
deep underground, this water maintains a constant and relatively high temperature, which
makes it a very efficient resource for the use of heat pump technology.

4.1.5 Durham County Council is developing an innovative project at the
Louisa Centre leisure centre in Stanley, where a minewater heat pump will
be installed, alongside various energy efficiency measures, to provide heat
for the swimming pools and parts of the building. This project is currently in the process
of applying for funding from the European Union, and is being developed in collaboration
with the Council's Culture and Sport service.

Climate Emergency Update Report22

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 62



4.1.6 If the Louisa Centre minewater heat project is successful, we hope to develop
similar heating schemes in other Council properties. A number of our other leisure centres,
as well as other large buildings and housing are built near or above flooded mines, and
work will be carried out, with partners at Durham University and the Coal Authority, to
identify further minewater heating projects.

Public Building Renovation

4.1.7 There is a considerable opportunity to install
energy efficiency measures whenever existing public

buildings are undergoing significant maintenance or renovation projects. This could be as
simple as installing LED lighting, or more complex tasks like renewal of a heating system
or adding insulation to the building fabric. Projects like this begin as maintenance or
renovation projects, and have carbon reduction elements added.

4.1.8 Crematoria generate vast quantities of heat, and require large amounts of energy
to cool down. Heat recovery could be applied to this cooling process and the heat could
be used in other nearby buildings. The joint crematoria committees at Mountsett and
Durham may wish to give this further consideration.

4.1.9 Leisure centres have many opportunities for insulation and heat recovery. For
example, heat could be recovered from mechanically cooled areas such as the gym, and
used in heated areas such as the changing rooms. Insulation is essential in these buildings
as they combine a variety of different environments, which would otherwise be working
against each other. There are simple actions that can be taken in these buildings, such
as installing and using swimming pool covers.

Routine Boiler Replacements

4.1.10 The Council's Direct Services team routinely replaces
old gas boilers with modern equivalents. This programme should be reviewed to encourage
removing gas from buildings altogether where low carbon alternatives are available. This
can include some electric heat pumps in conjunction with renewable electricity generation.

4.1.11 The last of the Council's coal boilers was removed from service in 2006, but many
of our buildings are not connected to the gas grid and still use oil. Replacing these with
low carbon heating systems is possible, and has been achieved with biomass boilers like
at Killhope Lead Mining Museum, and heat pumps in locations like Wharton Park.

Building Design

4.1.12 New buildings present an important opportunity to limit
the future use of fossil fuels for heating, and integrating renewable electricity generation.
Any construction projects carried out by, or for Durham County Council must be subject
to carbon assessments. Where possible, new buildings should aim to be low carbon, and
must consider the future phase out of fossil fuels in the design process.

23Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 63



4.1.13 The Council is in the process of designing a new History Centre at Mount Oswald
to house the county's archives and historical records. This new building design aims to
provide reduced long term running costs as a result of efforts to include low carbon
technologies.

4.1.14 DurhamAykley Heads is due to be redeveloped, providing a significant opportunity
for low carbon building design. A very green development is possible, and the site also
benefits from excellent strategic transport opportunities due to the proximity to the rail and
bus stations, to reduce carbon emissions from travel.

Case Study: New Headquarters

DurhamCounty Council’s Inspire Programme is about making themost of our buildings
and providing the best possible working environment. The Council’s entire property
portfolio is being reviewed to consolidate services where appropriate, to achieve a
more energy-efficient and cost-efficient organisation. Part of this programme is the
construction of a new headquarters building in Durham, to replace the very large and
inefficient County Hall at Aykley Heads.

Inspiring Places are flexible and efficient working spaces that are also paper-lite. They
allow some staff to choose the most appropriate site for their working day, rather than
sticking to a fixed location, reducing unnecessary commuting. We are committed to
a ratio of seven desks for every ten staff in this and all strategic sites so that desk
space may be shared. This will reduce the energy requirements of our offices as we
will no longer be providing heat and light to empty desks while staff are working off-site.

The new headquarters building will be a much more efficient building than the current
County Hall. The design has targeted an A-rated EPC, with a fabric first approach,
ensuring a well-insulated building from the start. It utilises natural ventilation and
cooling where possible, using the stack effect in the atrium to passively remove hot
stale air. Automatic lights will turn off when spaces are unoccupied, and dim where
there is sufficient natural daylight. The plant room has space saved for inclusion into
a future district heating network, which would reduce the carbon footprint of the
necessary space heating.

Cycling facilities have been included with indoor racks available for charging e-bikes
as well as external racks. The new building is also closer to public transport links for
staff coming from across the county, as it is only a short walk from Durham's main
bus and rail stations. The proximity to better public transport, including the park and
ride schemes, will allow more staff to leave their cars at home. The new headquarters
will therefore have many fewer car parking spaces than the Aykley Heads site. Despite
this, there will be more electric vehicle charging points available at the new site.

Investigations underway to find ways to off-set the carbon footprint of the new
headquarters, which could include renewable electricity or heat generation, as well
as tree planting and other sequestration activities.

Climate Emergency Update Report24

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 64



Building Energy Management Systems (BEMS)

4.1.15 Very few Council buildings have a building management
system (BMS), and none have a building energymanagement system (BEMS). This means
that most buildings are manually controlled and monitored. Heating or electricity systems
that are running inefficiently are not spotted automatically, which leads to energy wastage.

4.1.16 Currently, when problems are identified, maintenance teams have to travel to
site to investigate and resolve problems. Installing remotely accessible BEMSwould allow
the Council to accurately monitor and control its building services, reducing energy
consumption and maintenance costs. Research is underway with Building and Facilities
Management to explore benefits for Council sites.

Monitoring and Targeting

4.1.17 The Low Carbon Economy
Teammonitors energy and water consumption at all of the Council's buildings,
including schools. This helps to identify sites where faults have occurred, with
heating controls, water leaks, or occupant behaviour. The addition of BEMS (above) would
benefit this work by adding significant process efficiency.

4.1.18 Facilities staff currently have access to their site's energy data through our web
portal, which allows staff to monitor their own utility use as well as add their own utility
meter readings.

Information Communication Technology (ICT)

4.1.19 ICT will have a key role to play in minimising the Council's electricity
consumption, both by procuring energy efficient equipment and in the use of technology
to reduce energy wastage in Council buildings. The Carbon Management Board will work
with ICT to maximise their contribution towards Durham County Council's targets.

4.1.20 Video conferencing is encouraged where it would reduce travel to meetings.

Eco Champions

4.1.21 Eco Champions are the vital
link for staff across the wider organisation. Their role is to engage everyone
in tackling the climate emergency and helping to save energy through changing
behaviour and procedures. Colleagues across the Council will be engaged in discussion
on how best to reduce the carbon impact of each element of their work area.

4.1.22 Through the Inspire programme and New Ways of Working, Eco Champions will
help to ensure a smooth change to new ways of using our buildings, including changes
to heating and lighting control systems, how and when windows are opened, and how to
most efficiently operate equipment like computers.

25Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 65



4.1.23 Staff will be encouraged to integrate carbon reduction into their work areas, for
example, purchasing electric tools where diesel had previously been used or streamlining
processes where possible. Each service area has a role to play, and discussions will be
held to find the best ways for services to be involved without this work being detrimental
to their primary objectives.

LED Lighting

4.1.24 Projects to replace standard lighting with
LED alternatives can reduce a whole office building's electricity use by around
20%. The Council is already installing LED lighting in its buildings and schools.
Our experience shows that lighting replacements have a huge effect on carbon emissions,
therefore further consideration through 'invest to save' funding is suggested as an approach
for lighting replacements available to all of our buildings.

Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project

4.1.25 The Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project has been
one of the most successful carbon reduction projects run by Durham County
Council. The savings have been achieved by simple replacements of wasteful
lighting with efficient LEDs, as well as dimming and removal in some places. This is an
example of the easy wins that have helped us to reach the 40% reduction to the Council's
carbon footprint that we have already achieved. Phase 1 of the project was completed in
March 2019. There is potential to extend this scheme to a further 22 thousand more
streetlights, subject to technical assessment.

Schools Energy Efficiency

4.1.26 The Council will continue to run its education programme in schools,
encouraging energy efficient behaviour change. The Council is now beginning to work
with Salix Finance, which provides interest-free Government funding to schools for energy
efficiency projects, to further explore the how to fund energy efficiency improvements in
schools.

4.1.27 We are keen to find more ways to fund energy efficiency improvements in schools
as they form around 40% of the Council's total carbon footprint. Since school funding was
devolved from local authority control it has become very challenging to financially assist
schools with energy efficiency interventions without being unfair to other schools.

Case Study: ECO2Smart Schools

ECO2Smart Schools started as The School Carbon Reduction
Programme. The programmewas developed as a pilot programme for County Durham
Schools in 2010, as a response to the Council's Carbon Management Plan. The Plan
identified that school buildings at the time were responsible for 54% of the carbon
emissions coming from the Council estate. This has since reduced to 40%.

Climate Emergency Update Report26

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 66



Building Energy Efficiency Retrofits

4.1.28 Durham County Council will
continue to undertake whole building energy efficiency retrofits as sites become
available. Projects like this are primarily for carbon reduction, and may not
always include other maintenance or renovation works. The fourth iteration of this project
was completed in 2018, bringing to the total sites retrofitted to eight leisure centres, four
depots, four office buildings, and the Gala Theatre. The projects have improved insulation,
lighting, heating, ventilation, and building controls.

Morrison Busty Low Carbon Depot

4.1.29 The Council is currently assessing the
viability of an ambitious project to create a low carbon depot, making the whole site and
operation as close to zero carbon as possible. This will be a multi-phase project,
encompassing stages on electrifying heat, generating electricity, and electrifying the
vehicles on site. Each stage will feed into the next, beginning with a significant opportunity
to install renewable electricity generation on some otherwise unusable land. This renewable
electricity can then be used to replace the fossil fuel heating systems on site, and to charge
new electric vehicles. Improvements will be made to the buildings including insulation and
heat recovery to ensure that none of the generated heat is wasted. If viable, this scheme
would be subject to obtaining European funding for implementation.

Facilitating Electric Vehicle Use

4.1.30 The Council was an early adopter of electric vehicle charging through
the 'Plugged in Places' project which funded the initial roll out of electric vehicles. Since
this project there has been very little investment in electric vehicle infrastructure, so a full
review of the existing infrastructure is being completed and an electric vehicle strategy is
being developed.

4.1.31 We aim to install electric vehicles charging posts at all appropriate Council
locations to make sure that a lack of charging infrastructure does not prevent low carbon
commuting where public transport is not available. We are also exploring the best way to
aid the installation of charging infrastructure in rural locations, which can be more
problematic, especially for households with no off-street parking.

Electric Fleet

4.1.32 The use of electric vehicles in the Council's fleet could help the move
to a low carbon economy, through leading by example and ensuring that sufficient
infrastructure exists for other organisations to follow suit. We have direct control over our
fleet and our staff can act as ambassadors to help stimulate the uptake of electric vehicles
across County Durham.

27Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 67



4.1.33 The Council is investigating various opportunities including The EV 100(xvi), which
is a global initiative bringing together forward looking companies committed to accelerating
the transition to electric vehicles and making electric transport the new normal by 2030.
The Clean Van Commitment(xvii) is a public pledge to move to zero emissions vans in
cities by 2028.

4.1.34 The Council is actively working on several innovative electric vehicle projects
including;

An Innovate UK funded consortium project entitled V2Street which is
exploring on-street charging solutions;

An Innovate UK funded consortium project entitled Scaling on Street
Charging Infrastructure, which is working to maximise the use of unused
urban and rural parking spaces at night to provide electric vehicle charging
facilities;

We are investigating electric van technology with V2Grid charging, which enables
electricity to be exported back to the grid when the car battery is not otherwise in use,
such as at the end of the working day;
A partnership with DurhamUniversity on an Erasmus project(xviii) looking
at the needs of current and future electric vehicle users in Durham City.

Pool Cars, & Public Transport

4.1.35 Currently there is only one electric pool car out of the Council's fleet
of 28 vehicles so we are investigating the business case for switching to electric for the
rest of the fleet and the associated infrastructure costs.

4.1.36 As well as considering replacing pool cars with electric vehicles, the Council is
encouraging other low carbon transport options, including the use of public transport, lift
sharing, cycling, and walking wherever possible. Each of the Council's main buildings will
be provided with a sustainable travel plan to help staff find better ways to travel between
sites. Staff will also be encouraged to reduce the need to travel in single occupancy vehicles
by co-ordinating travel with colleagues, or using video conferencing.

4.1.37 Plans for a new bus station in Durham city centre are in the early stages of
development. The new bus station will play a vital role in the provision of low carbon
transport for the county.

Low Carbon Transport Hub

4.1.38 A Low Carbon Transport Hub scheme is being
considered for European funding in Durham City, which would generate large carbon
savings. The project would extend our current Park and Ride provision and investigate

xvi https://www.theclimategroup.org/project/ev100
xvii https://www.globalactionplan.org.uk/clean-air/clean-van-commitment
xviii http://people-project.net/

Climate Emergency Update Report28

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 68

https://www.theclimategroup.org/project/ev100
https://www.globalactionplan.org.uk/clean-air/clean-van-commitment
http://people-project.net/


electric buses, which are 3 times as energy efficient as diesel even when their batteries
are charged with grid electricity. We would aim to charge them through solar car ports(xix)

which would further increase their efficiency.

Solar Photovoltaic Arrays

4.1.39 The Solar Photovoltaic Array project was started in 2012,
and saw solar PV arrays installed on 36 of our buildings. This was achieved
with the support of the government Feed-in-Tariff, which has allowed the
project to almost pay for itself in the seven years since it was completed. This Feed-in-Tariff
is no longer available for new installations, which makes future solar PV projects more
challenging.

4.1.40 We aim to install PV arrays on more of our buildings and investigations are
currently underway at Spectrum 8, Consett Leisure Centre, and Consett's Empire Theatre.
These arrays will not receive any government subsidy, so they will be required to make
sufficient financial savings through reduced electricity bills in order to achieve payback
terms.

4.1.41 In order to assist with the efficiency and viability of future solar PV projects, there
is a possibility of including batteries in each of the buildings. These batteries would be
charged from solar panels when the sun is shining but the building's electricity demand is
low, and will discharge the energy back into the building when demand is high. For half
hourly metered buildings, this approach can also allow us to choose to use our generated
electricity when the grid supply is at the most expensive rate, reducing energy costs.

Solar Farms

4.1.42 Solar panels can be installed on the ground rather than
on buildings. This has the advantage of not requiring a structurally sound roof,
and not necessarily relying on continued building occupancy. The Council is
in the process of installing a solar farm at Tanfield Lea to provide power to the Council's
biggest electricity user, Comeleon House.

4.1.43 Investigations are also underway at a number of other sites, including ex-landfill
sites, which cannot be built upon or used for other purposes. These sites offer an excellent
opportunity for solar farms as they are not denying any other potential uses for the land.

Comment: Renewable Electricity Generation

Some of our actions will cause an increase in electricity demand, such as increased
use of electric vehicles or electric powered heat pumps to provide heat for our buildings.
However, it is possible to provide this electricity through renewable generation, such
as with solar panels, in combination with appropriate infrastructure.

xix solar panels on canopies above parking spaces

29Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 69



Solar Car Ports

4.1.44 Solar panels can be installed over car parking spaces on car ports.
Using car parks to generate renewable electricity demonstrates an excellent of resources
as it frees up alternative land for other uses. The Council will investigate the development
of solar car ports, with the electricity either going directly into nearby buildings, or sold to
the National Grid.

4.1.45 Solar car ports also offer the opportunity for combining generation directly with
energy demand as the use of electric vehicles rises. The solar car ports could charge
batteries which would then feed electric car or bus charging stations. This would be
particularly appropriate for these car parks which are more often used for longer stays
during the day, such as park and rides.

Natural Environment:

4.1.46 The Council's Ecology, Landscape, and Clean and Green services
are working with the Council's land managers to review land management processes. This
could include changes to grass cutting regimes, the further introduction of wildflower
meadows and woodland creation and management. The aim would be less intensive,
more sustainable management of Council owned land which will increase carbon
sequestration(xx)whilst simultaneously creating bigger, better, more connected and resilient
ecosystems. For example, amenity grassland has limited ecological value and needs to
be mown approximately 14 times a year, whereas a wildflower meadow or woodland
provides clear biodiversity gains and provides carbon savings due to the less intensive
management regimes these habitats require. The Council will continue to expand green
infrastructure interventions within the Council's open green spaces as a means to reduce
carbon emissions from intensive management.

4.1.47 Further, the Council's Clean and Green services are in the process of trialling
electric machines, such as hedge trimmers and grass cutters, with a view to these replacing
the petrol-powered tools they currently use.

Question 4

Are these projects appropriate? Are there any other projects we should be pursuing?

4.2 Policies and Practices - Council Emissions

4.2.1 All Council and partner policies and practices have the capacity to affect this
challenge. Each should be reviewed to ensure that they fully embed the Climate Emergency
ethos as a priority. Examples of this from DurhamCounty Council's policies and procedures
are given below. Please note that this list is not exhaustive.

xx the natural removal and storage of carbon from the air

Climate Emergency Update Report30

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 70



The New Buildings Policy - The UKGovernment has announced its intention to review
Part L of the Building Regulations, the part that deals with Energy efficiency and CO2
emissions. However no date has been set for this consultation, though it is expected
to be formalised in 2020. In lieu of this review, the Council should continue to adopt
policies that take into account carbon impact assessments of new buildings and
building extensions, and consider low carbon options from the outset of the design
process.

A possible revision of the Council's internal policy could include a requirement for
justification to be given for the resulting carbon footprint of any construction project.
Buildings built by or for the Council should continue to use a fabric first approach in
design, and consider the inclusion of renewable and low carbon technologies. In
particular, they must now consider the future phase out of fossil fuels.

Where on-site renewable electricity generation is not possible consideration should
now be given to providing or supporting renewable electricity generation elsewhere,
to supply the equivalent amount of electricity to the national grid as a form of off-setting.

The standard Council report format includes an appendix listing the implications of
the work in the report. These are; Legal, Finance, Equality and Diversity, Human
Rights, Crime and Disorder, Staffing, Accommodation, Risk, and Procurement. This
list will be amended to include the carbon impact of the work in the report.
Training on the Climate Emergency should be developed for council staff and elected
members. Consideration should be given to making this mandatory.
Consider reviewing the Sustainable Procurement and Social Value Policy(xxi) to ensure
that the carbon impact of the goods, works and services which are procured are fully
understood and inform purchasing decisions. For example, this could include adding
a weighting for bids from organisations with low carbon impacts and/or low carbon
products.
Enable staff to choose greener travel options even if they are more expensive (e.g.
by train rather than flying or driving where possible).

Case Study: Pensions

The Pension Fund is in the process of transitioning management of all of its assets
to its chosen pooling vehicle ‘Border to Coast Pension Partnership (BCPP)’. The Fund
is a 1/12th shareholder in the company. BCPP has developed a three-pronged approach
to considering climate change risk:

1. Analysis of risk in investment decision-making: consider how to embed climate
change risk into its investment process. This includes developing information to
enable analysis of climate change risk. BCPP also actively engage with companies
to encourage compliance with Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
(TCFD1) principles.

xxi https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/1022/Sustainable-Commissioning-and-Procurement-Policy/pdf/SustainableProcurementPolicyStatement.pdf

31Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 71

https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/1022/Sustainable-Commissioning-and-Procurement-Policy/pdf/SustainableProcurementPolicyStatement.pdf


2. Engagement: working in conjunction with bodies such as Climate Action 100+
and Institutional Investors Group on Climate Change (IIGCC2), to ensure we join
with others to make a greater impact through scale.

3. Ensuring external managers with whom BCPP partner also consider climate
change through a rigorous assessment process at appointment stage and ongoing
discussions and engagement post appointment for both public and privatemarkets.

As part of its Responsible Investment Policy review, BCPP has established aWorking
Party to consider in depth the implications of climate change on its approach to
investment. The Working Party will develop a clear climate change strategy, including
what BCPP will and won’t do, success metrics, and a list of the instruments and
portfolio activities that will be put to work in the next 1-2 years. Officers of the Pension
Fund are represented on the Working Party.

Research and Development

4.2.2 Our carbon reduction targets can only be achieved through teamwork, co-operation,
and collaboration.

4.2.3 Durham County Council works closely with Durham University on a range of
projects around decarbonisation. The University runs Durham Energy Institute(xxii), which
supports and produces cutting-edge energy research which draws on the expertise of
world-leading researchers across Durham University's departments in Science, Social
Science and Humanities.

4.2.4 The Council is keen to embrace new ideas where verified and innovative solutions
to pressing problems have been found. Durham County Council is at the forefront of the
current minewater heating revolution and recognises the benefits of applying brand new,
proven, technologies and methods within the county.

4.2.5 Close links will be maintained with other research organisations like the Centre
for Energy Systems Integration(xxiii) at Newcastle University, APSE Energy(xxiv), and other
appropriate research and innovation institutions to ensure that our carbon reduction work
is the most appropriate and up to date that it can be.

Question 5

What policies and practices does your organisation abide by which help you to reduce
carbon emissions?

xxii https://www.dur.ac.uk/dei/
xxiii https://www.ncl.ac.uk/cesi/
xxiv https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/

Climate Emergency Update Report32

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 72

https://www.dur.ac.uk/dei/
https://www.ncl.ac.uk/cesi/
https://www.apse.org.uk/apse/


4.3 Policies and Practices - Behavioural Change

4.3.1 The behaviour change programme for Council staff will be extensive and wide
reaching, and the table below list some of the elements that every large organisation
should already be doing. The elements of this table will form part of mandatory training
for Durham County Council staff.

Table 4 Example organisational behaviour change actions

Whole Organisation Behaviour Change

ProjectTeam

Commuters Walk, cycle, or use public transport
Car share if the first three options aren't possible

Desk workers Turn off PC monitors when not in use
Print as little as possible
Utilise note making software, rather than paper
notebooks

All workers Turn off unnecessary lighting
Consider the carbon impact of your work
Look for efficiencies such as in travel routes or
workload planning

Meeting Organisers Consider teleconferencing
Use venues where public transport is available
Offer to arrange lift sharing for attendees
Consider carbon impact of catering

Project Developers Consider the carbon impacts of all projects
Consult sustainability experts(xxv) on large
projects

4.3.2 A working document is being prepared which will be shared internally with Council
staff. It will detail actions that members of every Council service can do, and more specific
actions for many individual teams within the organisation.

xxv The Low Carbon Economy Team for Council staff

33Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 73



5 Countywide Projects and Opportunities

5.0.1 This section outlines what further actions may be necessary to make County
Durham carbon neutral by 2050. In order to be carbon neutral by 2050 it will be necessary
to tackle emissions from the domestic, industry, and transport sectors , as well as making
our land and countryside better at removing and storing carbon from the atmosphere.
Carbon neutral means that if any carbon is still being emitted by activities in the county
by 2050, it must be offset by additional carbon reduction and storage initiatives, such as
renewable electricity generation or woodland planting.

5.0.2 In 1990, County emissions were: 4,697,500 tonnes. By 2017, County emissions
were: 2,266,177 tonnes, which represents a 52% reduction. Therefore, using 2017 data
as benchmark, the ambition of being carbon neutral by 2050 will require reducing and
off-setting annual emissions of 2,266,177tCO2.As Government data is reported two years
in arrears, we would not know until 2052 if carbon neutrality had been achieved under the
current system.

5.0.3 In order to aid monitoring of progress towards 2050, the following milestones are
suggested. The milestones take account of the need for the most significant advances to
be realised within the next 12 years in accordance with the IPCC's 2018 Special report.

50% reduction - current performance
55% reduction by 2020
75% reduction by 2030
90% reduction by 2040
100% reduction by 2050

5.0.4 In the event that the suggested milestones are met before the year stated, the
subsequent milestones will be adjusted accordingly which may result in a carbon neutral
County Durham before 2050.

Climate Emergency Update Report34

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 74



Figure 11 Graph showing proposed emissions targets for 2020, 2030, 2040, and 2050

Question 6

Do you think that the suggested milestones are appropriate? Please explain why or
why not in your response.

Priority Areas

5.0.5 The Committee on Climate Change's UK Net Zero report highlights to Government
particular priorities where progress has been too slow (e.g. low-carbon heating, hydrogen,
carbon capture and storage and agriculture and land use) and sets out a net-zero
greenhouse gas scenario for the UK. Opportunities exist in County Durham to contribute
towards the proposed UK scenario which will in turn contribute towards County Durham's
carbon neutral ambition.

5.0.6 The following chart depicts the UK net zero scenario. National priority areas circled
in black are those that County Durham is most likely to be able to influence. Those circled
in grey are those that County Durham may have some but limited influence over. Those
without circles are priorities that County Durham will either have extremely limited or no
influence over:

35Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 75



Page 76



5.0.7 The following sections of this report identify and describe some of the projects
and opportunities in relation to the circled priority areas. Please note that co-benefits are
discussed in Section 2.1 of this report.

Question 7

Do you agree that these are the priority areas that County Durham can influence?
Are there any others that we should be considering? Please explain why or why not
in your response.

37Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 77



5.1 Electricity Decarbonisation

5.1.1 County Durham has significant natural, renewable energy resources which provide
opportunities to reduce carbon emissions linked to the supply of energy. Whilst the carbon
factor of grid supplied electricity has decreased by nearly 30% since 2008, more can be
done to assist in the decarbonisation of the grid as follows:

Wind

5.1.2 Onshore wind in County Durham generated 311,214MWh in 2017 (BEIS statistics)
and accounts for over half of all installed renewable energy capacity in the county. There
are still opportunities for further development. The Council are currently investigating areas
of its own land that may be suitable for renewable energy developments, whilst the County
Durham Plan(xxvi) describes those areas that are suitable for future wind energy
development. There are also significant opportunities through the re-powering of existing
wind turbine sites, especially those that were developed over 10 years ago, due to
improvements in turbine efficiency.

Solar

5.1.3 Solar PV installed capacity in County Durham generated 44,826MWh in 2017.
There is still a lot of scope for new installations across the county, including on domestic,
commercial, and community buildings, and on land. Whilst government support through
the Feed-in-Tariff has now been withdrawn, solar panels have also reduced significantly
in price. Installations will provide a return on investment, especially for those with high
electricity consumption. The Council will investigate opportunities for commercial and
domestic solar PV installation projects. In some cases, the Council may fund and own the
installations, then sell the electricity to the partner at a lower cost whilst generating revenue
for further low carbon projects.

Hydro

5.1.4 The Rivers Wear and Tees have a combined length of 235km but there is only
one significant hydro turbine within County Durham (Durham city centre). There are many
opportunities along the course of the rivers that warrant future evaluation. One particular
benefit of hydroelectric schemes is that the output is very regular and predictable, and will
continue throughout day and night.

Case Study: Freeman's Reach Hydroelectric Scheme

The hydro turbine on the river Wear at Freeman's Reach in Durham produces nearly
500MWh electricity each year. That's enough electricity to power 125 houses.

For the same amount of electricity fromwind power, you'd need two large wind turbines,
but they would only generate when the wind blows.

xxvi http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp

Climate Emergency Update Report38

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 78

http://www.durham.gov.uk/cdp


Or, for the same amount of electricity from solar panels, you'd need five times the
amount of solar panels that are currently on Spennymoor Leisure Centre's roof (a
total of 250kWp), and they only generate when the sun shines.

Anaerobic Digestion

5.1.5 Anaerobic Digestion involves the decomposition of organic matter to produce a
gas, which is then burnt to produce electricity. There are currently six sites in County
Durham which generated 24,042MWh in 2017. In the event that a food waste collection
service is introduced (please see Section 5.6), anaerobic digestion could become a much
more significant contributor to County Durham's renewable electricity production.

Combined Heat and Power

5.1.6 For many years, the use of gas combined heat and power (CHP) plants has been
effective as a carbon reduction tool. However, since the carbon factor of grid electricity
has reduced in recent years, it is no longer carbon efficient to use them. The heat and
electricity produced by gas CHP plant now has a higher carbon factor than heat from a
standard gas boiler and electricity from the national grid. Therefore, its use is no longer
advocated.

Question 8

Do you have any further suggestions in relation to how we appropriately increase and
make the best use of County Durham's renewable energy resources?

Renewable Flexibility

5.1.7 Because renewable energy is not always generated when it is needed (solar
electricity isn't available at night and the wind doesn't always blow), energy storage is now
being used both in conjunction with renewable installations and on its own to provide peak
services into the grid. The following energy storage opportunities could potentially be
investigated further in County Durham:

Council land near substations and renewable generation sites could be utilised for
the deployment of battery storage systems to help balance the grid whilst providing
an income stream.
The deployment of batteries alongside wind turbines will reduce the curtailment of
wind turbines when there is insufficient demand on the grid. This will further increase
the amount of renewable energy used on the grid and will be more important in the
event that existing turbines are upgraded and re-powered.
In areas experiencing growing solar PV deployment on the low voltage electricity
network and also areas where peak demand constraints are becoming an issue, there
may opportunities to deploy domestic battery storage in clusters with a high level of
rooftop PV uptake. The increased deployment of batteries would have the net effect
of reducing reverse powerflows to the grid, thereby improving stability.

39Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 79



The Council could provide test locations to help develop new energy storage systems
to provide an alternate to lithium Ion batteries such as compressed air storage.
Multiple small batteries in fleet vehicles could be combined and included in a virtual
power plant, providing a grid balancing service and a potential cost saving to the
Council avoiding peak electricity pricing.
Battery Storage Systems could allow for a greater deployment of large electric vehicle
charging hubs where there is only a small grid capacity available.
A Portable Battery Storage could also be used in our town markets to provide a low
carbon electricity in place of onsite diesel/petrol generators.

Demand Side Response

5.1.8 Demand Side Response (DSR) and the flexibility it provides is also crucial in
supporting the UK's transition to a lower carbon, fossil free energy system. DSR is where
energy users change their electricity consumption patterns in response to a signal or
incentive from the network operator in order to manage constraints or imbalances in the
electricity system. Northern Powergrid (NPg) has worked on a host of flexibility solutions
to address these specific issues. Opportunities in County Durham, in collaboration with
NPg may include:

DSR for peak shifting(alleviating constraints on secondary substations). Explore
opportunities that reduce peak demand at locations that are constrained, especially
where there are large electricity users.

Investigating the possibility of putting forward the Council's buildings for DSR, as a
way of leading by example and demonstrating what is possible to the rest of the
community.

5.1.9 Exploring themost appropriate DSR solutions by facilitating trials where appropriate,
as well as leading the way with the Council's assets are all actions that are important to
get DSR off the ground. There is however, a more fundamental knowledge-sharing and
communication opportunity between NPg and Durham County Council as we transition to
a smarter, more flexible electricity grid.

Question 9

Howmight we further support the transition towards a lower carbon, fossil free energy
system in County Durham?

Climate Emergency Update Report40

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 80



5.2 Buildings

Domestic Energy Efficiency and Low Carbon Heating Technologies

5.2.1 The domestic sector is a priority for decarbonisation, as it accounts for 37% of
County Durham's carbon emissions, with heating demand comprising the major source
of emissions. The Low Carbon Strategy for the LA7(xxvii) suggests that heat demand
accounts for 70% of the LA7's carbon emissions and that completely decarbonising
domestic heat will lead to a reduction in emissions of 1.75MtCO2 per annum across the
LA7 area(xxviii).

5.2.2 The highest priority is off-gas homes (those in areas without a gas supply),
particularly those using oil and solid fuel, where heating is typically high cost and high
carbon. However, with the share of on-gas properties in County Durham being higher than
the UK average, low carbon heating must be delivered to these homes too, replacing gas
boilers. If we are to meet a carbon neutral ambition, we cannot continue to burn natural
gas, coal, and oil. Therefore, we could potentially aim towards 4% of County Durham's
domestic heat demand being supplied with heat pumps by 2025, rising to 19% of heat
demand by 2035.

5.2.3 Please note that 100 renewable energy air source heat pumps will
be installed in qualifying properties between June 2019 and September 2020,
following a successful funding bid by the Council.

Question 10

Are you able to support the deployment of heat pumps in County Durham? If so,
please explain how.

5.2.4 Behaviour change is also crucial in reducing energy bills and the carbon footprint
of households. The Council's Housing Regeneration Team is expanding its team of domestic
advisers to increase the amount of energy advice and support it can give to private
householders.

5.2.5 Retrofitting homes with high quality wall, loft and floor insulation, low carbon heating
technologies and other improvements to the fabric of the building, not only reduces carbon
emissions but also creates better quality homes, cutting the cost of heating them and
making them more comfortable. Benefits typically include:

Reduced heating costs for thousands of families, with secondary benefits to the local
economy as people have more money to spend
Improving the appearance (stone and brick external wall insulation) of much of the
County Durham housing stock

xxvii LA7: 7 Local Authorities including Durham County Council, Gateshead, Newcastle City, Northumberland County, South Tyneside
and Sunderland City Council

xxviii Element Energy (May 2019) Regional and Sub-regional Mini Stern Review - A Low Carbon Strategy for the LA7 Commissioned
by LA7 Councils

41Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 81



Prolonging the lifespan of the county's housing
Reduced repairs and maintenance costs
Increasing the comfort of housing, reducing damp and improving residents’ health -
particularly to the most socially disadvantaged.

Question 11

What else can we do to reduce carbon emissions from heating?

5.2.6 The Government has committed to upgrade all fuel poor homes to Energy
Performance Certificate (EPC) Band C by 2030 and as many other homes as possible by
2035. There is significant potential to achieve this goal and reduce countywide total energy
consumption by for example:

Installing roof, floor and cavity wall and whole street solid wall insulation where
appropriate
Installing ground and air source heat pumps
Upgrading boilers where alternative, low carbon forms of heating are not feasible
Installing A++ rated appliances and low energy lighting
Improving building conditions with, for example, triple glazing, damp and draught
proofing

5.2.7 The estimated technical remaining potential for retrofit of homes with energy
efficiency measures in County Durham is approximately:

Cavity Wall Insulation - 43,000 homes
Loft Insulation - 86,000 homes
Floor Insulation - 163,000 homes
Solid Wall Insulation - 58,000 homes
Window Glazing - 156,000 homes

5.2.8 Please note that the Solid Wall Insulation innovation (SWIi) project
funded by Durham County Council, Durham University and the European
Regional Development Fund, will install new and advanced solid wall insulation
systems on over 200 stone and brick built properties in towns and villages across County
Durham.

5.2.9 There are a number of funding streams currently available which provide a
proportion of the cost of any domestic energy retrofit works (e.g Energy Company Obligation
(ECO),WarmHomes Fund (WHF)). However, usually a blend of Council and other finance
is required to deliver a heating or insulation retrofit programme. We therefore need to
explore additional, innovative fundingmodels and Council-backed loan schemes to increase
uptake. For example, a locally-led or Council owned 'one stop shop' for energy efficiency
retrofit and low carbon heat could be created as a not for profit financial facilitator. We

Climate Emergency Update Report42

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 82



also need to find ways to maintain and expand the team of domestic advisers beyond
current funding provision to increase the energy advice support given to private
householders.

5.2.10 Increasing levels of domestic energy efficiency retrofit in County Durham has the
potential to reduce annual levels of CO2 by 191ktCO2, with lifetime fuel bill savings of
£2,131 million(xxix). The deployment of heat pumps in on- and off-gas areas will also
contribute significantly to tackling emissions from domestic heat demand.

Question 12

What else can we all do to reduce carbon emissions from buildings?

Business Premises

5.2.11 As part of the transition to a carbon neutral business community, small and
medium sized businesses need to be supported to become more energy efficient. Since
2016, the EU-funded Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP) has provided an intensive
support programme for SMEs in County Durham, helping to reduce energy consumption
and greenhouse gas emissions which results in increased business resilience and adaptive
capacity. BEEP can also offer some financial support towards the purchase and installation
of energy efficient equipment to help reduce the payback periods. Advice should be
available for all the county's businesses, so dialogue with larger businesses and emitters
in County Durham will also be required. We hope to continue the BEEP project for a further
3 years, which is currently projected to reduce approximately 2,633tCO2e.

5.2.12 The Council are also working with Government to find ways to support
all SMEs with energy efficiency advice and will begin another European-funded
partnership project in August 2019. Entitled 'SME Power', this project will
explore ways to help the smallest SMEs to save energy.

5.2.13 In addition to supporting businesses, behavioural change campaigns targeting
specific areas of energy consumption and wastage could be developed and delivered. For
example, businesses and partners could be encouraged to sign up to a 'lights out' pact in
order to appropriately (e.g. without impacting upon security) reduce the amount of lighting
that is left on within shops and offices out of hours.

5.2.14 Best practice also needs to be developed and shared within the business
community regarding how businesses can help pioneer the transition to carbon neutrality.
The Lanchester Group, for example provides a fantastic exemplar of what can be achieved:

xxix Element Energy (May 2019) Regional and Sub-regional Mini Stern Review - A Low Carbon Strategy for the LA7 Commissioned
by LA7 Councils

43Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 83



Case Study: Lanchester Group

The Lanchester Group - which includes wine merchant Lanchester Wines and contract
bottler, Greencroft Bottling – has brought forward plans to develop a purpose built
£20 million, 220,000ft2 (20,439m2) bottling facility at its site near Stanley. With work
set to be completed in 2020, this will be the most modern and environmentally
sustainable wine bottling facility in the world, housing new filling lines and increasing
capability to 400 million litres per year, from 105 million litres at present.

When complete, the facility will be powered using energy generated by Lanchester
Group’s three on-site wind turbines and will be built with 1,000,000 Watts of solar
panels which alone will generate 850,000kWh per year. It will also be the first business
in the world to take heat from the cooling of wine to provide heat for its building, using
technology developed by Lanchester Group. The Group will also be the first to work
with battery manufactures to install an electricity storage capability for times when
renewable energy generation does not cover factory energy requirements.

To date, sustainability practices at the Greencroft Estate have:

saved close to 11,750 tonnes of carbon
generated enough clean energy to power 60,200 houses

Question 13

What is your business doing to tackle Climate Change in County Durham?

Question 14

What other actions can businesses take to reduce their carbon emissions?

Question 15

Would your business be willing to pledge its support to tackle the Climate Emergency
and share its carbon footprint with the Council?

District Heating

5.2.15 Multiple individual heating systems are less efficient and more difficult to control
than fewer, larger, systems. This is particularly evident in the use of district heating
networks, where heat is provided to a number of buildings from one central heat

Climate Emergency Update Report44

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 84



source. District heating schemes can also keep the heat source away from the connected
buildings, reducing noise to occupants, and the heat source can be upgraded to more
energy efficient systems with little disruption.

5.2.16 The Council was awarded funding to develop a district heating feasibility study
which concluded that a Durham City scheme is financially and technically viable and could
potentially save a significant proportion of carbon emissions; possibly up to 1,500tCO2 p/a
although a detailed business case will need to be developed for the scheme. District
heating in rural areas could also provide an alternative solution to oil or liquid petroleum
gas heating in off-gas areas and should be explored further.

Development of Geothermal and Minewater Heating

5.2.17 The deeper you drill into the Earth, the warmer it gets due to heat produced at
the Earth's core that radiates towards the crust. Extracting geothermal energy is however
only possible if water is present and able to flow from the rock.

5.2.18 Deep Geothermal involves drilling to depths in excess of 1km and in 2004,
Newcastle University drilled wells in Wear Valley to investigate the temperature of the
water within a particular area of subsurface granite. They found temperatures of 46°C at
a depth of 1km. Unfortunately, drilling at such depths is expensive and does carry risks
of not finding water flows. Support would be needed from Central Government to enable
deep geothermal projects to go ahead, but a whole new industry could be developed in
County Durham.

5.2.19 Abandoned coal mines in County Durham offer opportunities for more shallow
geothermal schemes. They are incredibly promising due to their networks of flooded
galleries and shafts lying at depths of up to several hundred metres below the surface.
Abandoned mines also offer a good opportunity to reuse existing infrastructure that our
mining communities worked hard to create.

5.2.20 The volume of coal extracted compares to an equivalent void volume underground.
On this basis, Durham University estimate that the abandoned mines of the UK contain
around two billion cubic metres of water at temperatures which are constantly around
12-16°C, and in some instances higher still. This water can then be pumped to the surface
and passed through a closed-loop heat exchange system, coupled to a heat pump to uplift
the water temperature to more useful temperatures of 40-50oC. The minewater is then
returned to the same shaft.

5.2.21 The Council, in collaboration with Durham University and the Coal
Authority, is currently examining a range of possible minewater projects across
the county. Minewater is currently used to heat the pumping station at Dawdon
where the water is already pumped to the surface and then treated to remove contaminants
(especially iron). There is potentially enough energy stored in the county's mines to heat
the equivalent of 100,000 properties, saving 245,280tCO2e based on switching from
domestic gas use.

45Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 85



5.2.22 The use of abandoned mines for heat was also debated recently in Westminster
by Helen GoodmanMP, following on from a study by Durham University on howminewater
could be used to heat homes in Spennymoor.

Question 16

Are there any other large scale sustainable heating solutions that we should be
exploring?

New Build

5.2.23 New development accounts for only a tiny proportion of emissions compared to
existing development, but it is vital that new development does not add to the future burden
of carbon emissions. It is likely that new building regulations will be adopted for energy in
2020, following consultation. Notwithstanding the Government's recent announcement of
a UK net zero 2050 target we do not yet know if this will mean that development will have
to meet zero carbon standards. If new building regulations were improved to zero carbon
standards it would mitigate an additional 67,000tCO2,annually.

5.2.24 In the event that new building regulations do not require zero carbon standards
there may be opportunities to utilise some Section 106 funding (planning obligations), to
offset carbon where this is linked to recreational improvements such as cycle paths and
maybe woodland creation in certain circumstances. However this is likely to be limited to
specific areas.

5.3 Road Transport / Infrastructure

Walking and Cycling

5.3.1 Walking and cycling needs to be firmly embedded within County Durham's everyday
travel culture and should be safe, affordable and enjoyable for all. We want Durham to be
widely recognised as a walking and cycling friendly county with high quality networks that
are safe, accessible, well maintained, integrated, well signed and recorded, and actively
promoted. Opportunities should be taken to further support the actions outlined within
the Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery Plan 2019-2029. In particular, opportunities to
fast-track the delivery of the following priorities should be investigated:

Completion of Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (LCWIPs)
Construction of priority routes identified in LCWIPs and associated infrastructure
Complete construction of the Great North Cycleway (NCN 725)
Construct Cycling Super Routes linking key settlements within 5 miles of Durham City

5.3.2 In addition to the actions outlined in the Strategic Cycling and Walking Delivery
Plan, opportunities to support and increase the use of e-bikes and e-cargo bikes should
be explored. E-cargo bikes specifically, can provide opportunities for last mile delivery
services and it can be quicker to transport goods by bike rather than by car/van etc. For
example, e-cargo bikes could potentially be implemented by supermarkets for the delivery

Climate Emergency Update Report46

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 86

http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/11677/Strategic-Cycling-and-Walking-Delivery-Plan-2019-2029


of food shopping within 1-5 miles of their stores or by businesses for the transportation of
goods within industrial estates. Opportunities to develop and implement sustainable travel
plans for all of County Durham's major town centres should also be investigated further.

Question 17

What other measures are required to embed walking and cycling into County Durham's
everyday travel culture and how can you help with this?

Public Transport

5.3.3 Increasing public transport patronage should be part of action taken to address
climate change, with one full bus removing approximately 40 cars of the road and their
associated emissions. However, the general trend in bus patronage levels is decreasing
nationally, including within London. The graph below illustrates the trend in County Durham
showing rolling year totals both including and excluding Park and Ride patronage. The
peak in 2007/08 relates to the introduction of free concessionary travel for older and
disabled people.

Figure 12 Graph showing bus patronage in County Durham

5.3.4 Key incentives to public transport (PT) use, particularly buses, are accessibility,
reliability, punctuality, affordability and the quality of the journey experience. The following
list illustrates the existing and potential measures employed by the Council to encourage
public transport use:

47Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 87



General Public

A. Maintenance & Improvements to PT Infrastructure

i. Bus Stations
ii. Bus Shelters
iii. Bus Stops

B. Maintenance & improvement of PT Information

i. Real Time Information
ii. Road side timetable information
iii. Journey planning software
iv. Interactive Public Transport Map

C. Bus priority measures to reduce delays to the PT network and so improve the
punctuality of services

D. Continuing commitment to underwriting a comprehensive bus network that provides
an alternative more sustainable meas of travelling than the car

E. Advising developers in the submission of travel plans, businesses as well as residential
developers

F. Seeking and facilitating bidding for funds relating to low/reduced emissions buses
G. Land use planning – seeking to direct development to locations that reduce the need

to travel and which can be/are already served effectively by public transport
H. Increased provision of Park and Ride through additional sites or increased provision

at existing.

Staff / Pupils / Residents

A. Campaigns e.g.

i. Sustainable Travel Maps
ii. Business/Home to Work Travel flow charts
iii. National Clean Air Day
iv. Personalised Travel Planning
v. Workplace Travel Plans
vi. Taking Travel Plans through the Planning Process Guidance
vii. Discounted bus and train season tickets

5.3.5 Further and ongoing work with public transport operators and other local public
transport organisations will be required to identify any additional opportunities to increase
patronage within County Durham and across the wider region.

Climate Emergency Update Report48

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 88



Question 18

Are there any other actions or opportunities that should be investigated to increase
public transport use?

High Speed Broadband Connectivity

5.3.6 Modern telecommunications and access to high speed, reliable broadband are
now considered essential to providing opportunities to reduce our carbon footprint by
reducing the need to travel. It is particularly important in rural areas where it can benefit
businesses, tourism and enable communities to access services and facilities online.

5.3.7 The Council is working in partnership with the government to help improve
broadband speeds for residents and businesses through several initiatives. The importance
of Next Generation Access capable of delivering high speeds(xxx) is recognised, and the
Council is committed to extending fibre coverage to as many businesses, homes and
communities in County Durham as possible with the funding available. However, should
further resources become available there may be opportunities to increase this coverage.

Question 19

What other opportunities exist to increase levels of high speed broadband connectivity
in County Durham and particularly to rural areas?

Ultra Low Emission Vehicles

5.3.8 The Government has committed to end the sale of new conventional petrol and
diesel cars and vans by 2040 in the Road to Zero strategy. However, through their latest
'UK-Net Zero' report, the Committee on Climate Change have advised Government that
all new cars and vans should be electric (or use a low carbon alternative such as hydrogen)
by 2035. If possible, an earlier switch over (e.g. 2030) would be desirable. Therefore, it is
essential that we take all possible opportunities to support the transition to electric vehicles
(EV) and roll-out of charging infrastructure in County Durham.

5.3.9 Estimates show that 120,000 to 220,000 EVs are expected to be registered across
the LA7(xxxi) area by 2035(xxxii). If uptake is relatively equal across each local authority
area then between 17,143 and 31,423 EVs could be registered in County Durham by 2035
reducing carbon emissions from vehicles by approximately 3,053 - 5,596kgCO2e per
km(xxxiii).

xxx The UK Government recognise speeds of 24Mbps and above as Superfast Broadband. As new technology develops, Ultrafast
Broadband offering speeds of 100Mbps and above may become more readily available.

xxxi LA7: 7 Local Authorities including Durham County Council, Gateshead, Newcastle City, Northumberland County, South Tyneside
and Sunderland City Council

xxxii Element Energy (May 2019) Regional and Sub-regional Mini Stern Review - A Low Carbon Strategy for the LA7 Commissioned
by LA7 Councils

xxxiii based upon the national 2018 Annual Vehicle Licensing Statistics reported split between diesel and petrol car registrations and
2018 greenhouse gas reporting conversion factors

49Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 89



5.3.10 The Low Carbon Strategy for the LA7 area estimates that if sufficient public
charging infrastructure is not provided for cars without access to home charging, 40,000
to 75,000 fewer EV's may be deployed in the LA7 region by 2030, which could result in
additional annual emissions of 130ktCO2

(xxxiv).

5.3.11 The following map shows existing EV charging locations in and around County
Durham and highlights that there are currently very few rapid charge points and there is
limited availability in the rural west of the county and on routes between County Durham's
main towns: (xxxv)

Picture 2 EV Charging Locations in and around County Durham - yellow = slow (<5kW) - blue = fast
(7-22kW) - pink = rapid (43+kW)

5.3.12 The Council are currently bidding for external funding to install 100
on-street electric vehicle charging points across County Durham.

5.3.13 To further reduce carbon emissions from transport we will need to implement a
range of actions across County Durham:

1. Develop a countywide charging infrastructure network which ensures that charging
an on-street EV is as convenient, reliable and cost effective as charging an EV at
home

Focusing exclusively on one charging option is not recommended; a diverse mix
of charging solutions are expected to be necessary to cater to a range of needs

xxxiv Element Energy (May 2019) Regional and Sub-regional Mini Stern Review - A Low Carbon Strategy for the LA7 Commissioned
by LA7 Councils

xxxv Source: http://www.zap-map.com/live/

Climate Emergency Update Report50

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 90

http://www.zap-map.com/live/


(e.g. rapid charging hubs, on-street charging, destination charging and work
charging) and should take account of local grid constraints, availability of space
and dedicated parking bay, trip patterns etc
We must explore opportunities to raise awareness of EV's and of existing and
new charging infrastructure in County Durham and the wider region in order to
improve people's understanding and increase EV uptake. Only 0.2% of all vehicles
in County Durham were plug in vehicles in quarter 2 of 2018.

2. Identify solutions which are appropriate to the demands of EV users in County Durham
without access to off-street parking (to ensure that people without off-street parking
can still own an EV)

Further analysis is necessary to quantify the number and type of charge points
that could be installed to serve these vehicles

5.3.14 As part of initiating the transition to EVs, we should take any opportunities to
deliver pilots which can then be deployed on a larger scale. For example, as part of adopting
a 'whole place approach' within Durham City's Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) a
project which brings together EV charging, solar car ports, battery storage and electric
park and ride buses could be explored further. This could be complemented by appealing
visitor facilities such as interactive information terminals, high quality signage and pollution
absorbing green walls and roofs. Cautious and initial estimates indicate that the park and
ride buses could save approximately 500tCO2 per year.

5.3.15 In addition, we will explore opportunities to work in partnership to incentivise
business EV use such as taxis and company cars or fleet.

Question 20

What other actions should we take to make sure County Durham can support electric
vehicle use?

Regional Connectivity

5.3.16 The North East Combined Authority (NECA) have identified the need
to transform sustainable connectivity and urban mobility, whilst liberating
urban areas from polluting forms of transport as a key regional transport
challenge(xxxvi). A bid has been submitted to the Department for Transport's 'Transforming
Cities Fund' which identifies four corridors for investment that support the areas of greatest
opportunity in the city region. The corridors and opportunities of relevance to County
Durham include:

xxxvi NECA Transforming Cities Fund - Call for Proposals Department for Transport

51Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 91



North and South - strategic Park and Ride, bus / cycling / walking improvements to
and through city centres, electric vehicle infrastructure
River Wear - bus rapid transit, cycling and walking ‘healthy corridors’, rail station
access improvements

5.3.17 In terms of mobility, the following activities that will uplift the overall quality of
sustainable transport have been identified as:

Exploiting digital and intelligent transport assets, including through our 5G programme.
Making sustainable transport the most positive and attractive travel choice.
Using intelligent transport systems and investment in traffic signals and our UTMC
centre to speed up buses, and use of Bus Services Act to improve bus ticketing and
integration.
Bringing public transport together with other sustainable options in a ‘Mobility as a
Service’ package, building on the successful 'Pop' card.
Investing in security on trains, in stations, and along ‘healthy’ corridors.

5.3.18 In the event that the funding bid is unsuccessful, other opportunities to finance
the measures identified should be investigated further.

Idling Vehicle Engines

5.3.19 Idling is the act of leaving a vehicle's engine running while it is stationary. Many
people idle unnecessarily each day without thinking twice about the impacts. Idling wastes
fuel, damages engine components, impacts air quality, and contributes to climate change.
Idling also increases the costs of driving. With fuel injected engines, ten seconds of idling
burns more fuel than restarting an engine.

5.3.20 Highways regulations allow local authorities to apply to the Secretary of State
for powers to enforce vehicle idling by way of a fixed penalty notice. To be successful to
attain such powers the area of designation must be contained within a designated Air
Quality Management Area (AQMA) and the Secretary of State must be satisfied that the
“emission…..from vehicles is such that it is, or is likely to become, significant in determining
whether or not the air quality standards or objectives will be achieved within that authority’s
area”

5.3.21 Whilst Durham City is covered by an AQMA this does not extend to the areas
of the city centre where for example taxis are parked such as North Road. Even when
vehicles are within a suitably designated area it is only an offence to leave an engine
running if the driver is asked to turn the engine off by a local authority enforcement officer
and subsequently refuses.

5.3.22 Opportunities exist however to raise awareness of the issues associated with
idling vehicles through educational campaigns which may lead to voluntary 'no idling zones'
outside of schools for example.

Climate Emergency Update Report52

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 92



Question 21

Do you have any further comments or suggestions in relation to how to reduce carbon
emissions from the transport sector?

5.4 Land Use / Agriculture

5.4.1 The Committee on Climate Change's 'UK - Net Zero' report identifies that, in order
for the UK to reach net-zero emissions by 2050, the way land is farmed and used will need
to change. More emphasis must be placed on carbon sequestration and biomass
production. The scenarios outlined in the report involve a fifth of UK agricultural land shifting
to tree planting, energy crops and peatland restoration.

5.4.2 Adopting an ecosystem-based approach in County Durhamwill be key to ensuring
a sustainable response to changing the way land is currently used. Examples of
ecosystem-based approaches include:

Catchment management of upland wetlands and floodplains for regulation of water
flow and quality;
Creation of ‘landscape scale’ woodlands which deliver carbon sequestration,
biodiversity, landscape and public access benefits; and
Increasing levels of green infrastructure in urban environments which help to reduce
the impacts of heat extremes and improve the microclimate and air quality.

Increasing Woodland Cover

5.4.3 Whilst there are many additional benefits associated with increasing woodland
cover in County Durham, over and above carbon sequestration(xxxvii), we will also need
to consider other important factors such as the value of existing land for food production,
ecology, carbon storage and impact upon landscape when determining where woodland
planting can occur. The following opportunities could be implemented and/or investigated
further:

Ensure a co-ordinated and consistent approach to the management of the Council's
woodland, which, amongst other benefits, optimises the potential for carbon
sequestration. Proper woodland management enables existing trees to optimise their
growth and carbon capture, whilst providing space for natural regeneration of young
trees.
Secure opportunities with partners to extend or link existing woodland by planting up
adjacent land which the Council owns as a priority. The following map shows the
woodland estate with potential for expansion as identified in the 2015 Strategic Review
of Durham County Council's Woodland Estate:

xxxvii Whilst there are many variables such as type of tree species, age etc., on average 1 hectare of woodland stores approximately
400 tonnes of carbon based on Woodland Trust figures

53Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 93



Picture 3 Woodland Esates with Potential for Expansion

Develop a regional woodland strategy and undertake strategic purchasing of land for
woodland creation. The development of a new County Durham forest could also be
investigated.
Support the Durham Woodland Revival project to manage and plant
woodlands with partners, landowners and communities. Linked to this
project, the Council are planting over 64 hectares of woodland over the
next two years with the Woodland Trust. The project will further facilitate woodland
planting by providing grants to private individuals in areas that fail to meet thresholds
for Government funding. In addition, community groups and individuals will be
supported and more interest generated in greater stewardship of the Council's
woodlands through advice, assistance and the establishment of formal agreements
such as Woodland Allotments. For further information please
visit: www.woodlandrevivalproject.info/
Maintain and Increase funding to the existing Hedgerow Partnership’s Grant scheme.
Opportunities to support and implement the Woods for Water scheme in County
Durham should be investigated. The project is run by the Forestry Commission and
Environment Agency in the North East and Yorkshire and aims to create woodlands
that will reduce flood risk and improve water quality. The project will help farmers and
other land managers develop a planting plan and submit applications for grant funding
in target areas.
In addition to the Woods for Water scheme, significant grant funding is available for
planting new woodlands through the Forestry Commission via the Woodland Carbon
Fund or the Woodland Creation grant (which is part of the Countryside Stewardship
scheme). The Woodland Creation grant offers up to £6,800 per hectare for planting

Climate Emergency Update Report54

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 94

https://www.woodlandrevivalproject.info/


new woodlands with an additional multi-annual payment of £200 per hectare for a
period of 10 years for eligible applicants.
Implement an urban and street tree re-planting policy that secures the replacement
of any trees removed from land owned by the Council and where possible and
appropriate increases upon the numbers planted relative to those removed.
Opportunities under the newly launched Urban Tree Challenge Fund should also be
investigated.

Energy Crops and use of Wood In Construction

5.4.4 Linked to increasing woodland cover, support could be given to the woodland
product supply chain where this provides carbon benefits. For example, consideration
could be given to developing biomass production plant as existing biomass users in County
Durham are finding fuel difficult to obtain and the quality is deteriorating. The use of local,
sustainable resources could also reduce vehicle emissions associated with the existing
transportation of biomass to householders and businesses.

5.4.5 The use of wood in construction could also be further supported. Wood-based
products and timber-frame construction has an established history in the UK and provides
a store of carbon on the timescales of decades to centuries in the built environment.

Question 22

Are there any other opportunities we could identify to increase woodland cover in
County Durham? Are you able to help with the delivery of this ambition?

Peatland

5.4.6 UK peatlands cover 23,000km2 (9.5% of the land area). Peatlands are our best
natural store of carbon – more carbon (a total of approx. 12.1 billion tonnes) is stored in
the peatlands of the UK than in all the forests of the UK, France and Germany combined.
Healthy peatlands are a net sink of greenhouse gases, but damaged peat is a net source
– annually, damaged peat emits 23 million tonnes of carbon. This equates to 6% of UK's
carbon emissions; by comparison, aviation accounts for 7% of total emissions.

5.4.7 County Durham has 32,000ha of peatland, storing approximately 57 million tonnes
of carbon; all of this resource is found in the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB), where the AONB Partnership’s Peatland Programme has been restoring
this valuable habitat since 2006.

5.4.8 Within County Durham, 10,500ha have been restored, 10,000ha of
which has been hydrologically restored through the blocking of about 2,000km
of grips. There is approximately 1,400ha of bare peat remaining in County
Durham which still requires restoration work and further areas of degraded peat exist i.e.
peat not yet bare but heading that way.

55Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 95



5.4.9 Existing resources are likely to enable the further restoration of approximately
400ha of peat across six sites in County Durham over the next couple of years.
Opportunities to enhance the rate of peatland restoration through the Peatland Programme
should therefore be explored with the AONB Partnership particularly as restoring our
peatlands is one of the most effective and cost efficient ways of addressing the climate
emergency we face.

5.4.10 The protection of County Durham's peatland should also be paramount. Damage
to, or loss of peatland should be wholly exceptional and opportunities to engage with
Government to strengthen the protection afforded to peat through the planning system
should be taken. In determining exceptional circumstances, due regard should be given
to national policy and to the North Pennine's AONB's Partnership relevant Guidance
documents and the statutory AONB Management Plan.

Coastal Environment

5.4.11 By dying and drifting down to the deep sea, seaweeds like kelp sequester (absorb
and store) more carbon than all other marine plants combined. Per acre, these “blue
carbon” ecosystems can take up 20 times more carbon dioxide from the atmosphere than
land-based forests. The health and distribution of kelp beds off Durham’s coast are
dependent on water quality so opportunities to reduce sources of pollution should be
implemented. There may be existing and further opportunities to reduce levels of beach
and marine litter, through the ‘Beach, Care and Aware' project. In partnership with
Northumbrian Water, a dedicated officer will develop opportunities to reduce beach and
marine litter across the Tyne to Tees seascape. This will be delivered through beach clean
events, educational activities and direct engagement with coastal businesses.

Question 23

What other actions can we take to improve the carbon storage benefits of our land
and sea?

Urban Environment

5.4.12 We need to improve the amount and the quality of green infrastructure in the
urban areas of County Durham through, for example, living walls, green roofs, street tree
planting. This will have mutually beneficial effects for carbon sequestration, reducing levels
of air pollution, provision of shade and cooling, biodiversity and for creating more pleasant
places to live and work. The measures recommended within the Living Streets feasibility
study for Durham City should be implemented and opportunities to implement similar,
appropriate measures across other settlements in County Durham should be sought.

Climate Emergency Update Report56

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 96



Food

5.4.13 Up to 14% of emissions from agriculture in 2050 could be avoided by managing
food use and distribution better, according to a new study from the Potsdam Institute for
Climate Impact Research. The County Durham Sustainable Local Food Strategy
(2014-2020) recognises the importance of the food system in the following aim:

To encourage and support a local food system that protects biodiversity and
ecosystems and minimises its environmental footprint.

5.4.14 The strategy seeks to encourage low input and sustainable production with a
view to reduce the use of non-renewable resources, greenhouse gas emissions and
contribute to reversal of biodiversity losses. It also seeks to work towards a reduction in
(food) waste, packaging and transport from the food system. The strategy is due to be
reviewed in the second half of 2019 and it is expected that the contribution of the food
system to climate change will be a prominent factor in that review and the subsequent
new strategy. Further partnership opportunities in County Durham with Food Durham and
others are also likely to exist in relation to:

Strengthening existing networks, including with the farming and land management
community and engaging with them on the climate emergency;
Promoting ‘less and better meat’ (e.g. certified organic or 100% pasture-fed) and
plant-based meal options;
Promoting soil conservation, soil regenerative farming and agro-ecology with farmers;
Supporting the network expansion of community growing spaces across County
Durham;
Supporting local producers to access new and larger local markets;
Developing a comprehensive training offer and resources to support more sustainable
food practice; and
Achieving Sustainable Food Cities awards Gold Level within 5 years.

Question 24

What other unique opportunities to tackle climate change through the way we use our
land and produce food exist in County Durham?

5.5 Shipping

5.5.1 Opportunities to work in partnership with County Durham's marine associations,
sea based businesses, local sailing clubs and marine activity centres could be sought to
minimise electricity and diesel consumption associated with sea based activities along
with promotion of alternatives (e.g. solar, technologies which harness wave energy etc)
and wider environmental stewardship of the coastal area e.g ensuring the proper transfer
of fuels etc.

57Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 97

http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b05088
http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b05088
http://sustainablefoodcities.org/awards


Question 25

Are there any other opportunities to reduce carbon emissions linked to coastal activity
along the Durham Coast and ensure protection of our marine environment?

5.6 Waste

5.6.1 Waste reduction (including reuse) and recycling spares the environment the carbon
impacts of extracting and processing virgin materials, and of managing wastes through
energy recovery or landfill and associated emissions. In the Government's 2018 "Our
Waste, Our Resources" Strategy the following goals were identified:

At least 65% of municipal waste to be recycled by 2035, with no more than 10%
ending up in landfill;
Subject to consultation and agreement on funding and detail, legislation will be
established to ensure that every householder and appropriate business has a weekly
food waste collection in place, commencing in 2023. (The consultation will also explore
whether households with gardens should have access to free garden waste collections)

5.6.2 However, the 'UK - Net Zero' report states that, in order to reduce the UK's
emissions to net zero by 2050, the waste sector under a 'further ambition' option will need
to:

Increase recycling rates to 70% by 2035 across the UK;
Stop sending all types of biodegradable waste to landfill by 2025.

5.6.3 Currently 44% of County Durham's waste is reused, recycled and composted (as
of December 2018). Therefore, all opportunities, aligned to the Resources and Waste
Strategy outcomes, to increase levels of waste re-use, recycling and composting within
County Durham will need to be investigated further and where appropriate and viable
implemented. For example, in the event that resources were available, the establishment
of a domestic food waste collection service could divert approximately 17,000 tonnes of
waste to more locally based anaerobic digestion facilities potentially reducing the current
carbon footprint of other waste treatment options In addition, an income could be generated
from the biogas and waste materials produced as part of the process as well as securing
a reduced gate fee. The ability to afford these significant changes to the waste collection
system across County Durham will need centralised funding to be provided as proposed
in the Strategy.

5.6.4 Communities can also play their part through for example expanding the network
of community fridges which redistribute potential food waste across the county, supported
via the Community Growing Group.

Climate Emergency Update Report58

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 98



Question 26

Are there any other opportunities to avoid or reduce the carbon emissions associated
with waste?

5.7 Education and Awareness

5.7.1 In addition to the projects and opportunities mentioned against each of the priority
areas in the preceding section of this report it will be key to ensure that County Durham's
residents, businesses and organisations are all aware of what they can do to help tackle
climate change. Opportunities may exist for example, to utilise the Council's existing
communication methods and partnerships to help raise levels of awareness. Other
organisations within County Durham are also likely to play a part in communicating
messages about climate change.

Question 27

How can we best raise awareness about climate change across County Durham and
the things we can do to help tackle it?

6 Achieving Our Ambitions

6.0.1 This section will set out what we need to do to ensure we can respond effectively
to the climate emergency. In the meantime, the Council's CarbonManagement Programme
will continue to work under the existing structure until any new structures, which may be
implemented following the consultation, are put in place.

6.1 Governance

6.1.1 The Council's Cabinet, or full Council as appropriate, will make key and strategic
decisions under the Councils constitution as part of the process of meeting these targets.
Delivery on these decisions will be governed by the Council's existingCarbonManagement
ProgrammeBoard chaired by the Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
and comprising representatives from Technical Services, Resources, and Environment
and Design. This group has overseen successful implementation of a wide range of the
Council's carbon initiatives including street lighting energy reduction, solar panel arrays
and building retrofits. It is proposed to continue with the Carbon Management Programme
Board for oversight and implementation of Council projects, and suggested that membership
is reviewed to incorporate representation from vital areas like education and transport.

6.1.2 The Council's Carbon Management Programme is laid out in the Council's 5-yearly
Carbon Management Plan. This current plan runs to the end of March 2020, and will
subsequently be replaced by a plan for April 2020 to March 2025, which will be aligned to

59Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 99



this Climate Emergency Response Plan following consultation. The plan will have a target
for carbon reduction, which will be designed to be a good half-way point for the effort to
reach our 60% target in March 2030. This has been proposed to be 55% reduction by
2025.

6.1.3 The current responsibility for the delivery of countywide target falls to a subgroup
of the Environment Partnership which in turn reports to the County Durham Partnership.
Given the emergency declaration, and the fact that this is the most pressing environmental
issue of our time, it is proposed that climate change is given greater prominence in a
new Environment and Climate Change Partnership. This is much more than a name
change. This structure would in turn reshape to ensure representation from all sectors
that could make a difference. This could include:

The Council's Climate Change Champion
Youth representatives
Business, industry, and economic development
Domestic and community sector
Transport sectors
Natural environment and biodiversity

6.1.4 Care would be taken to ensure that the Climate Crisis remains a top priority without
diluting the other work of the Partnership.

6.1.5 Many of the activities undertaken by the existing Environment Partnership, will
continue as they are highly complementary to the climate change agenda, for instance
waste reduction (most recently Single Use Plastic(xxxviii)), woodland creation, and
volunteering (including Spring Cleans and In Bloom activities). The key difference will be
a wider range of stakeholders than are currently represented, more carbon “influencers”
and a direct reporting to the County Durham Partnership.

6.1.6 Progress against both the Council and the County targets will continue to be
reported directly to Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee, who will also determine their own specific enquiries.

6.1.7 It is recognised that climate change impacts on all residents, businesses and
organisations across the County, and all have a role to play in meeting the targets. For
this reason it is proposed to establish aCounty DurhamClimate Change Alliance where
through an online platform all interested parties can sign up, to find more information on
the role they can play, receive news and updates on developments, contribute ideas and
share best practice. Key issues will be reported from this to the Environment and Climate
Change Partnership.

Question 28

Will this proposed governance structure be suitable for delivering the Council and
Countywide targets?

xxxviii https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21211/Partners-pledge-to-tackle-single-use-plastics

Climate Emergency Update Report60

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 100

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/21211/Partners-pledge-to-tackle-single-use-plastics


Question 29

Will an on-line resource through a County Durham Climate Change Alliance be of
assistance?

6.2 Risks and Barriers to Implementation

6.2.1 Whilst we have recognised many significant opportunities within the plan, there
remain some potential risks and barriers to implementation which could impact adversely
upon the attainment of targets, including:

Reporting - The Carbon Reduction Commitment Energy Efficiency Scheme, CRC,
is a reporting mechanism that requires all organisations that use more than 6,000MWh
electricity per year to report on and pay for the carbon emitted as a result of that
energy use. CRC will cease after the final reporting period ends in 2019 and will be
replaced by large increases in Climate Change Levy (CCL) charges on energy bills.
The reporting element will be replaced for some organisations by the Streamlined
Energy and Carbon Reporting, SECR(xxxix), though this does not apply to Local
Authorities. Local Authorities in England have been requested by Government to
measure and report their greenhouse gas emissions from their own estate and
operations, however this is not mandatory.

Durham County Council will continue to measure and report through our website,
which will monitor our progress toward achieving our emergency targets.

Resources - If the Council and the county are to meet these challenging targets,
capital and revenue schemes should be subject to carbon impact assessment to help
determine the prioritisation of limited resources.
Invest to Save funding - Much of the Council's low carbon work is completed on an
Invest to Save basis, which has a requirement of a twelve year payback period. This
funding is not available when the pay back is longer, such as in particularly innovative
or progressive projects or in projects in particularly hard to treat buildings.
Funding - The Renewable Heat Incentive will be reviewed in 2021 and may result in
reduced incentives towards the installation of renewable heat schemes. For innovative
projects it is currently possible to obtain funding from the EU, predominantly from the
European Regional Development Fund, ERDF(xl). It is not clear how much of this
funding remains available for use in the UK as the country prepares to leave the EU.
Even if existing funding streams are maximised, they still won't be sufficient to achieve
the ambitions in this draft Plan.
Austerity - The above must tempered with future reductions in local government
funding and associated resource implications.
Legal - There is much that can be achieved by local government, however certain
powers remain at the disposal of central government, which can hinder progress at

xxxix https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-reporting-guidelines-including-mandatory-greenhouse-gas-emissions-reporting-guidance
xl https://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/en/funding/erdf/

61Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 101

https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/4487/Tackling-our-carbon-footprint
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-reporting-guidelines-including-mandatory-greenhouse-gas-emissions-reporting-guidance
https://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/en/funding/erdf/


a local level. Conversely if Central Government established new policies around
planning, renewable energy, energy efficiency retrofit and carbon sequestration for
example, this could have far reaching impacts, that would have more impact than if
established locally.
Building Regulations - Current building regulations (Part L) are inadequate and
need to be uplifted to become zero carbon for all new development at the earliest
opportunity
Planning - Planning permission for renewable energy schemes, especially on-shore
wind are extremely difficult to obtain, as can be evidenced by the lack of applications
submitted over the past 3 years. Permission needs to be reviewed, with a view to
becoming more balanced, whilst still taking into account landscape and biodiversity
constraints.
Electric Vehicles -Whilst there are increasing sales of electric vehicles, uptake is
lagging behind the rest of the country(xli). We need to ensure infrastructure is in the
right places, is well maintained and is thus encouraging.

A transition to electric and other ultra low emission vehicles will require mechanics
and maintenance workers to be educated in the methods necessary for the new
vehicles.

Electricity grid capacity - Adding generation to the national grid can only happen if
the right grid infrastructure is in place. In areas that already have a lot of generation,
adding more can require costly modifications to the grid, making the renewable
technologies less financially viable. See Section 5.1 for more information.

The intermittent nature of renewables means that, at times, significant back-up power
sources are required to fill in the gaps when the sun isn't shining or the wind isn't
blowing. At other times, there may be too much renewable generation, and this can
be stored to be used later. This extra infrastructure can be costly, but can be achieved
by incorporating batteries and innovative low carbon energy storage.

Natural gas can be burned in small power plants called gas peaking plants, which
operate at particular times during the day to relive stress on the national grid in areas
of high demand. We do not advocate the construction of such plants as there are
technologies available that can provide a similar service without burning fossil fuels.

Education and Awareness - A programme of education and awareness raising is
required to help inform others of the consequences of climate change and what actions
we can take.
Carbon Sequestration - Woodland cover (for carbon sequestering and as a local
biomass resource) in the county is low (6%) in comparison with the national average
of 9%, the average for England of 7.5% and the average for the region of 12%(xlii)The
carbon storage value of peat is also not included in national carbon reporting data.
Renewable Heat - Continued use of gas for heating is incompatible with a low/zero
carbon future. We must find cost effective alternatives and start utilising these now

xli Historically, electric vehicles registered in the LA7 have accounted for 1.5-2% of the national electric vehicle stock although
since 2015, this share has been steadily declining as uptake has lagged behind the rest of the country

xlii Source: http://www.durhamlandscape.info/article/10135/Woodland-and-Forestry

Climate Emergency Update Report62

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 102



(e.g. district heating, heat pumps, working with Northern Gas networks and other
partners on bringing forward biogas and hydrogen alternatives.
Rurality - The physical and spatial geography of County Durham is predominantly
rural with a dispersed settlement pattern. This has implications for the levels of private
car use, distances travelled and for the viability of public transport.
Housing - The existing housing stock has a high proportion of older 'hard to treat'
homes.
Uncertainty - Issues such as BREXIT create uncertainty and make it harder to plan
for the longer term. This includes sources of grant funding such as the current
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).
Cooling - With hotter summers comes more reliance on mechanical cooling, thus
increasing energy consumption.
Data-sharing - Our access to countywide data on carbon emissions is limited so we
have gaps in our understanding of how best Durham County Council can facilitate a
transition to a low carbon County Durham.

7 Collective Action

7.0.1 In section 6 we set out the things that we can do to respond to the climate
emergency. This section sets out some of the things that others can do, including
Government, in recognition that no single organisation or individual can tackle climate
change on its own and that a positive, collaborative approach will be required. Please note
that some specific example of existing collaboration and associated achievements is
provided in Appendix B.2

7.1 What Others Can Do

Residents

Use less energy for heating - turn down the thermostat by 1°C (this can reduce
energy consumption by 10%), put on more clothes rather than turning up the heat,
stop draughts and ensure properties are properly insulated
Use less energy for heating water - turn down the temperature of hot water, don't
leave hot water taps running, take a quick shower rather than a bath
Lighting - get in the habit of turning lights off, use natural light where possible, use
energy efficient LED lighting
Food - buy local and organic food where possible and only buy the quantity of food
needed, use ovens efficiently, don't keep the fridge door open any longer than
necessary, avoid washing dishes under a running tap, compost all suitable food waste,
reduce your meat consumption
Washing and drying clothes - wait until there is a full load before using the washing
machine, use a lower temperature to wash clothes, use the economy programme;
air-dry clothes to cut down on tumble dryer use
Electrical appliances/gadgets - purchase AAA-rated equipment where possible,
turn off all equipment when not in use, tun off the chargers fro mobile phones and
laptops when not in use
Rubbish - reduce, reuse and recycle as much as possible

63Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 103



Travel - get our of the car and on to a bus, train or bike; walk or cycle part or all of
the way where possible, get children on bikes, buses or walk with them to school;
combine activities to reduce car journeys; car share with others
Renewable energy - following steps to reduce energy consumption, the suitability of
properties for the installation of renewable sources of energy e.g. solar panels, air
source heat pumps etc could be considered
Landscaping - avoid the use of hard landscaping where possible e.g. concreting
over front gardens to create off street parking. Where this cannot be avoided, use
permeable materials
Education - educate others and the younger generation in particular on the steps
that can be taken to make a difference and reduce the impact of climate change

Community Groups

Community buildings - reducing energy use in community buildings
Neighbourhood planning - identify areas within community neighbourhood plans
that are suitable for renewable energy schemes and require higher levels of energy
efficiency / renewable installation through design policies
Renewable energy - consider starting a community renewable energy schemewhich
will have benefits both to climate change and to the community in terms of financial
payback
Emergency response - have a community action plan and volunteer group in place
to respond to future impacts of climate change such as flood incidents
Work with others - to share learning and best practice in relation to responding to
the climate emergency at a community level

Businesses and Public Organisations

Business premises - reduce energy in business premises and processes
Intelligence - gain understanding of the direct and indirect impacts of business
operations e.g. of product production / supply chain requirements etc
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) - businesses that are exempt
from SECR should consider undertaking carbon and energy monitoring and reporting
on a voluntary basis
Embedded climate emergency culture - responding to the climate emergency
should be embedded throughout the business practice across all departments e.g.
in relation to financial decision making, procurement, staff policies etc
Travel to work planning - support staff to travel to work by non car modes and/or
facilitate the avoidance of travel through flexible home working policies etc
Make carbon reduction targets - set goals for your organisation and pledge to
achieve them. Incorporate achieving recognised environmental management standards
such as ISO14001 if applicable
Get staff involved - ensure staff are engaged in championing environmentally
responsible behaviours e.g. turning off lights in offices, printing less, recycling, and
low carbon commuting
Work with others - to share learning and best practice within the business community
and offer intelligence, research and technological solutions to other organisations

Climate Emergency Update Report64

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 104



Greater leadership - public organisations have a greater leadership role to play in
setting research and development briefs, facilitating projects, bringing different
organisations together and raising awareness of the steps others can take to respond
to the climate emergency
Consider the impact of local action on a larger geographic scale - e.g. within the
region, on a catchment or landscape scale

Question 30

What other actions should and can be taken by residents, communities, businesses
and public organisations in response to the climate emergency?

7.1.1 It is acknowledged that there are likely to be excellent examples of climate action
in County Durham and greater knowledge, awareness and sharing of such will be required
in order to effectively respond to the climate emergency.

Question 31

Are you able to provide any good examples of climate action in County Durham that
can be shared widely to enhance learning and aid further action?

7.2 What We Will Ask of Government

7.2.1 An important part of the Council's motion to declare a climate emergency was
recognising wider need for Government support, action, and resources and for collective
action with other organisations and partners to deliver the target.

7.2.2 There is much that can be achieved by local government and others, however
policy is still set from central government and can have far reaching consequences for
carbon reduction targets. The following is a list of 'asks' that Durham County Council would
like Government to progress, in order to boost our chances of meeting carbon reduction
goals.

7.2.3 We ask Government to:

Heed the advice contained within the Committee on Climate Change's Net Zero report
in relation to how to achieve the net zero emissions target.
Include low carbon projects as one of the priorities in the Shared Prosperity Fund,
fully replacing the loss of potential European Grants (currently £16 million earmarked
for County Durham).
Produce a coherent, stable policy with financial incentives for renewable energy,
energy efficiency measures, re-introducing grants that have been withdrawn. Insulation
rates in homes are 95% lower than they were in 2012 (source: Committee on Climate
Change 2018).

65Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 105



Provide long term financial support for councils and partners to deliver sustainable
heat solutions such as minewater heat and deep geothermal which entail high upfront
investment and incentives to reward cross-vector (heat, power and transport) initiatives.
Review planning guidance for on-shore wind, with controls and safeguards to protect
the environment and landscape.
Prioritise carbon and sustainability for major public sector projects.
Update Part L of the Building Regulations, at the earliest opportunity, to require
developers to build to zero carbon standards.
Provide national advice, support and regulation to require landlords to make
improvements to their domestic and commercial properties (require an EPC ofminimum
C).
A carbon reduction duty on Ofgem, to prioritise assisting individuals and organisations
in lowering their carbon emissions through appropriate energy generation.
Require a national programme of awareness raising with residents, communities,
businesses and public organisations with all playing a part.
Introduce incentives for carbon sequestration and a programme of environmental
improvements for carbon offset (eg tree planting rates are two thirds lower than they
need to be).
Allow peatland restoration to be included as part of carbon offsetting targets and
increase protection of this most valuable resources through the planning system,
particularly areas of deep peat.
Make electric vehicle charging infrastructure a regulated asset.
Further improve and fund new cycling infrastructure.
Address disparities in the funding, provisioning and quality of public transport across
the country.
Provide incentives to reward cross-vector (heat, power and transport) initiatives.
Prioritise food/land use/ nature/ biodiversity/ climate adaptation in policy decision
making.

Climate Emergency Update Report66

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 106



8 Over to You

8.0.1 The Council has declared a Climate Emergency and now we need to ensure that
County Durham plays its part in significantly limiting climate change and adapting to its
impacts. It is imperative that everyone who lives in, works in, or visits County Durham can
be involved.

8.0.2 This report has identified that Durham County Council should:

Lead by example in embedding the response to the Climate Emergency throughout
the organisation's work and policies;
Work in partnership with others to enable a low carbon transition in County Durham;
Seek out sources of funding for low carbon projects in the county;
Support residents, businesses, and other partner organisations in reducing their
carbon emissions;
Work to deliver upon the proposed measures outlined in sections 4 and 5; and
Call on Central Government for support.

8.0.3 We cannot make County Durham carbon neutral on our own, and we now ask for
your support in this. A consultation has been prepared which asks for your opinion and
input in order to ensure we all respond effectively to the Climate Emergency.

8.0.4 Feedback on this report will help to inform a more detailed action plan scheduled
for early 2020. This does not mean that any initiatives described in this report will be on
hold, but rather an opportunity to prioritise and cost all schemes going forward in light of
your feedback.

8.0.5 Please see Appendix A for the full list of consultation questions included within
this draft Plan.

67Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 107



Appendices

Climate Emergency Update Report68

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 108



A Consultation

A.1 Durham County Council will now lead and support an ongoing program of
consultation and engagement across the county. The consultation questions included
within this draft Plan are repeated below for ease of reference. Please feel free to respond
to as many questions as appropriate.

Consultation Questions

A.2 Section 2.1: Referring to the co-benefits of climate action:

Question 1

The Council delivers a wide range of services and has needed to make £224 million
savings since 2011. In this context, how important is tackling climate change to you?

A.3 Section 4: Referring to the intermediate milestones for Council emissions:

Question 2

Are these suggested milestones appropriate? Please explain why or why not.

A.4 Section 4: Referring to the areas of carbon emissions to be targeted by Durham
County Council for the Council's emissions:

Question 3

Are these the right target areas?

Are there any other areas that we should be focusing on?

A.5 Section 4.1: Referring to the projects planned by the Council to reduce its own
emissions:

Question 4

Are these projects appropriate? Are there any other projects we should be pursuing?

A.6 Section 4.2: Referring to the Council's internal policies and practices:

69Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 109



Question 5

What policies and practices does your organisation abide by which help you to reduce
carbon emissions?

A.7 Section 5: Referring to the intermediate milestones for County Durham's emissions:

Question 6

Do you think the suggested milestones are appropriate? Please explain why or why
not in your response.

A.8 Section 5: Referring to the priorities that County Durham has the power to influence:

Question 7

Do you agree that these are the priority areas that County Durham can influence?
Are there any others that we should be considering? Please explain why or why not
in your response.

A.9 Section 5.1: Referring to opportunities for renewable electricity and heat generation:

Question 8

Do you have any further suggestions in relation to how we appropriately increase and
make the best use of County Durham's renewable energy resources?

A.10 Section 5.1: Referring to methods for ensuring a smooth transition to a low carbon
energy supply:.

Question 9

How might we further support the transition towards a lower carbon, fossil fuel free
energy system in County Durham?

A.11 Section 5.2: Referring to the proposed use of heat pump technology as an
alternative to fossil fuel boilers:

Climate Emergency Update Report70

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 110



Question 10

Are you able to support the deployment of heat pumps in County Durham? If so,
please explain how.

A.12 Section 5.2: Referring to the problem of supplying low carbon heat to buildings
and homes in the county:

Question 11

What else can we do to reduce carbon emissions from heating?

A.13 Section 5.2: Referring to the proportion of the county's carbon emissions that are
attributed to our buildings and our collective responsibility:

Question 12

What else can we all do to reduce carbon emissions from buildings?

A.14 Section 5.2: Referring to the work that businesses can do to tackle the climate
emergency:

Question 13

What is your business doing to tackle Climate Change in County Durham?

Question 14

What other actions can businesses take to reduce their carbon emissions?

Question 15

Would your business be willing to pledge its support to tackle the Climate Emergency
and share its carbon footprint with the Council?

A.15 Section 5.2: Referring to district heating opportunities:

71Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 111



Question 16

Are there any other large scale sustainable heating solutions that we should be
exploring?

A.16 Section 5.3: Referring to the promotion of low carbon transport options:

Question 17

What other measures are required to embed walking and cycling into County Durham's
everyday travel culture and how can you help with this?

Question 18

Are there any other actions or opportunities that should be investigated to increase
public transport use?

A.17 Section 5.3: Referring to reduce the need to travel through high speed broadband
connectivity:

Question 19

What other opportunities exist to increase levels of high speed broadband connectivity
in County Durham and particularly to rural areas?

A.18 Section 5.3: Referring to the roll-out of electric vehicle charging infrastructure:

Question 20

What other actions should we take to make sure County Durham can support electric
vehicle use?

A.19 Section 5.3: Referring to carbon emissions from the transport sector across County
Durham:

Climate Emergency Update Report72

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 112



Question 21

Do you have any further comments or suggestions in relation to how to reduce carbon
emissions from the transport sector?

A.20 Section 5.4: Referring to the use of woodland for carbon sequestration:

Question 22

Are there any other opportunities we could identify to increase woodland cover in
County Durham? Are you able to help with the delivery of this ambition?

A.21 Section 5.4: Referring to the capacity for carbon sequestration in other areas of
the county:

Question 23

What other actions can we take to improve the carbon storage benefits of our land
and sea?

A.22 Section 5.4: Referring to opportunities to change existing land use practices:

Question 24

What other unique opportunities to tackle climate change through the way we use our
land and produce food exist in County Durham?

A.23 Section 5.5: Referring to emissions from coastal activity:

Question 25

Are there any other opportunities to reduce carbon emissions linked to coastal activity
along the Durham Coast and ensure protection of our marine environment?

A.24 Section 5.6: Referring to the way that waste is disposed of within the county:

73Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 113



Question 26

Are there any other opportunities to avoid or reduce the carbon emissions associated
with waste?

A.25 Section 5.7: Referring to Education and Awareness

Question 27

How can we best raise awareness about climate change across County Durham and
the things we can do to help tackle it?

A.26 Section 6.1: Referring to the governance of the process to meet the Council and
County targets:

Question 28

Will the proposed governance structure be suitable for delivering the Council and
Countywide targets?

Question 29

Will an on-line resource through a County Durham Climate Change Alliance be of
assistance?

A.27 Section 7.1: Referring to the actions that can be taken by other organisations and
individuals in County Durham:

Question 30

What other actions should and can be taken by residents, communities, businesses
and public organisations in response to the climate emergency?

A.28 Section 7.1: Referring to actions that other organisations and individuals are already
doing to tackle the climate emergency in County Durham.

Climate Emergency Update Report74

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 114



Question 31

Are you able to provide any good examples of climate action in County Durham that
can be shared widely to enhance learning and aid further action?

A.29 Finally:

Question 32

Do you have any further comments on this Climate Emergency Update Report?

75Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 115



B Achievements to Date

B.1 The following outlines achievements to date in relation to:

reducing emissions across the Council's estate and operations; and
reducing County Durham's carbon emissions

B.2 Durham County Council has successfully reduced carbon emissions by 40% since
2008/09 (i.e. when the Council became a unitary authority), and has facilitated actions
across County Durhamwhich will enable an easier move to carbon neutrality for the county
as a whole.

B.3 In terms of Countywide emissions, the Climate Change Strategy and Delivery Plan
which runs up to 2020 set a 40% reduction target below 1990 levels by 2020. County
Durham has surpassed this target and is currently on course to achieve a 55% reduction
by 2020.

B.1 The Council

B.4 Since the start of the Carbon Management Programme in 2008, the Council has
reduced the carbon impact of its operations by 40%. This has been achieved through a
range of carbon reduction projects, in combination with external influences such as the
decarbonisation of electricity from the national grid, and through the rationalisation of the
Council's buildings.

B.5 The carbon factor of grid electricity had reduced by almost 30% between 2008 and
2017, which accounts for 10% of our emissions reduction so far. If we had changed nothing
else, the Council's carbon footprint would have reduced by 4% between 2008 and 2017.

B.6 The single project that has had the largest impact on our carbon reduction is the
Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project. This project has contributed 5.6% of our
emissions reduction so far. After that, the Building Energy Efficiency Retrofit programme
has achieved 1%, and the Solar Panel Array project achieved 0.2%, up to 2017.

Example Success Stories

Street Lighting

B.7 The first phase of the Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project was completed in
March 2019. It has resulted in a carbon reduction of 56% from 2008/09 levels and the
project is the biggest single contributor to the Council's emissions reduction to date.

Climate Emergency Update Report76

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 116



Picture 4 Street with new LED lighting

Building Energy Efficiency Retrofits

B.8 This scheme takes a whole building approach to energy efficiency retrofitting. Rather
than concentrating on a particular technology, it concentrates on a particular building.
Sixteen of the council's largest buildings have been retrofitted. Works have included; LED
lighting, insulation, controls and heat recovery. The project has had added benefits of
improved light quality, as well as improved thermal comfort and reduced utility bills.

Picture 5 Teesdale Leisure Centre before retrofit project lighting
works.

77Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 117



Picture 6 Teesdale Leisure Centre after retrofit lighting project

Solar Panel Arrays

B.9 Solar panels were installed on 38 of the Council's buildings including large depots
and offices as well as smaller sites such as the Park and Ride pavilions. The arrays
generate 690,000kWh per year, which prevents the use of that much electricity, saving
195tCO2e per year.

Picture 7 Solar panels on the roof of Derwentside Business Centre

Climate Emergency Update Report78

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 118



Big Switch Off

B.10 The Big Switch Off behavioural change campaign works with staff in buildings to
encourage energy efficient behaviour. The scheme saw building electricity consumption
reduced by an average of over ten percent, just through staff making simple changes to
their behaviour.

ECO2 Smart Schools (formerly School Carbon Reduction Officers)

B.11 The ECO2 Smart Schools programme has been running since 2011(xliii). The
scheme delivers in-school support to over 240 schools in County Durham, providing
educational resources and promoting energy efficient behaviour change. The programme
has saved almost 20,000tCO2 and has saved our schools nearly £7.5m in reduced energy
bills.

Durham Crematorium

B.12 A project was carried out to reduce the electricity used in the cooling mechanisms
at the crematorium. The variable speed drives that were installed have reduced the site's
electricity bill by 30%, saving around 50,000kWh electricity, or 14tCO2e per year.

Picture 8 Change in Electricity Use at Durham Crematorium

B.13 Small projects like this have been and will continue to be pursued by the Council,
and are often a result of analysis of utility data. Monitoring and Targeting must always
have a significant role at the centre of any carbon reduction programme.

B.2 County Durham

B.14 This appendix provides some examples of climate action and achievements in
addressing County Durham's emissions. It is acknowledged that there are likely to be
other excellent examples of climate action in County Durham and greater knowledge and
awareness of such will be required in order to effectively respond to the climate
emergency.

xliii https://eco2smartschools.org.uk/

79Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 119

https://eco2smartschools.org.uk/


Low Carbon Economy:

Business Energy Efficiency Project (BEEP)

B.15 The BEEP project has worked with 168 small andmedium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
to date to provide them with free energy audits, advice and support. The project has also
approved grant funding totalling £110,486 across 25 SME’s and has saved circa 774tCO2.
It has hosted two national conferences addressing energy efficiency needs in SMEs,
raising awareness of the financial and carbon savings that can bemade by small changes.
The project has achieved national recognition and the team are currently working on
obtaining further European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) funding for a follow up
project - BEEP2.

SME Power

B.16 Due to the achievements to date through the BEEP project, Durham has been
invited to take part in a new transnational Interreg Europe project targeting energy efficiency
in SMEs. This will enable support to be provided to micro-enterprises which currently fall
outside the remit of the BEEP project. ERDF funding totalling €161,194 has been secured,
with the project due to run for four years from 1st August 2019.

Lanchester Wines

B.17 The Lanchester Group is a pioneer in renewable energy and heat generation. The
journey began in 2011 with its first wind turbine project; it now owns four wind turbines,
three of which are on its County Durham site generating 5,500,000kW hours of electricity
per year. It also has an existing 41kW solar array and various energy saving initiatives
such as additional insulation and LED lighting. The business is no stranger to developing
leading edge environmentally friendly energy – its warehouses in Gateshead are the first
site in the UK to include water source heat pumps using minewater heating.

Built Environment: Domestic Properties

Solid Wall Insulation Innovation Project (SWIi)

B.18 Insulation is a vitally important measure in improving energy efficiency of domestic
properties. Durham has 58,000 solid wall ‘hard to treat’ homes, for which installing proper
insulation is a very expensive task. This project addresses affordability and uptake by
providing 220 properties within County Durham with innovative solid wall insulation.

B.19 Older stone and brick homes in the former mining villages of South Moor, Ramshaw,
Cockfield, and Ferryhill are being fitted with the insulation, along with smart heating controls
which help to monitor energy use and reduce wastage. Solid wall insulation like this has
already been installed on properties in South Moor and Craghead.

B.20 The project has also recruited and trained a network of ‘Energy Friend’ volunteers
in benefiting neighbourhoods that provide a referral service.

Climate Emergency Update Report80

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 120



Picture 9 County Durham Property pre SWIi Project Intervention

Picture 10 County Durham Property Post SWIi Project Intervention

Warm Homes Fund Project

B.21 100 renewable energy air source heat pumps will be installed in qualifying properties
between June 2019 and September 2020, following a successful funding bid by the Council.

81Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 121



Energy Company Obligation (ECO) Affordable Warmth Scheme

B.22 Over the past 5 years the Council have developed partnerships with a range of
environmentally friendly 'ECO' energy companies and installers to deliver heating and
insulation retrofits. The Council has the highest uptake of ECO fuel poverty grants in the
North East Region and overall nationally has the seventh highest uptake having assisted
over 1,300 fuel poor households to claim warm homes energy efficiency grants with over
£3.1m of funding drawn down into the county.

Durham Warm and Healthy Homes Project

B.23 The Council have partnered with countywide Clinical Commissioning Groups to
offer free and subsidised retrofit heating and insulation for private householders with
chronic health conditions. Through targeted promotion by health professionals over
£240,000 of heating and insulation upgrades have been installed in the homes of low
income households with a cold related illness.

Energy Efficiency Advice and Support

B.24 The Council offers a professional energy advice and support service to all private
householders. The 'Managing Money Better' service assists households to reduce their
energy bills or write off fuel debts by providing an independent tariff switching service and
energy efficiency advice. Since the project commenced in 2018 it has assisted over 620
households and generated over £132,000 of energy savings. This service received a
national award in 2019 and will expand with 'Warm Homes Funding' secured until 2022.

Renewable Electricity Generation

B.25 County Durham generates a significant amount of renewable energy within its
boundaries which has increased by about 14% in the past 4 years. The total amount of
operational renewable energy capacity is at 227MW which equates to 67% of County
Durham's household electricity or would supply enough electricity for 156,981 households
in County Durham. Northumberland and County Durham produce the most renewable
electricity due to the amount of wind power that is located in each county.

Climate Emergency Update Report82

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 122



Figure 13 Renewable Energy Capacity

 

 -

 50.0

 100.0

 150.0

 200.0

 250.0

2014 2015 2016 2017

Total Renewable Energy Capacity in Co Durham

Photovoltaics Onshore Wind Hydro Anaerobic Digestion Sewage Gas Landfill Gas Plant Biomass

Freeman's Reach Hydroelectric Scheme

B.26 Freeman's Reach Hydroelectric scheme is one of the few city centre hydro electric
schemes in the country and was completed in 2015. The scheme supports decarbonisation
of the grid with up to 496,000kWh being exported on an annual basis.

83Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 123



Picture 11 Freeman's Reach Hydroelectric
Generator in Durham City.

Natural Environment:

North Pennines AONB Peatland Programme

B.27 The Peatland Programme (formerly known as Peatscapes) aims to conserve and
enhance the internationally important peatland resource within the North Pennines. The
health of County Durham's peatland is of great importance to the climate emergency as
peatlands play an important role in flood control and are a significant store of carbon. The
AONB peatland programme has now worked with partners to restore over 25,000ha of
peatland in the North Pennines, 10,500 ha of which is within County Durham through major
programmes of grip blocking and bare beat restoration.

Climate Emergency Update Report84

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 124



Picture 12 Image showing Grip Blocking on the Moors above
Killhope, Weardale

Weardale Natural Flood Management (NFM) Pilot

B.28 £2.1 million Defra funding was awarded in 2017 to deliver a NFM demonstrator
pilot in Weardale, County Durham. The aims of the project are to provide:

a measurable reduction in flood risk - 73 residential and 87 non residential properties
will directly benefit with a further 170 residential properties downstream
additional ecosystem service benefits

150ha of water dependent habitats created
75ha of woodland creation

in depth evaluation of NFM at a 100km2 scale which will contribute towards research
and development on NFM techniques at a catchment scale

B.29 The total benefits of the project are estimated at £9.16million.

North East Water Hub : South Moor Sustainable Urban Drainage

B.30 Durham County Council are a strategic partner in the North East Water Hub, led
by Durham University Institute of Hazard Risk and Resilience(xliv). The Water Hub
Partnership has invested £250,000 in the retrofitting of an innovative sustainable Urban
Drainage scheme in the South Moor Terraces regeneration area. This investment will
mitigate local flooding and combined sewage outfall into the Twizzell Burn, which is a main
tributary of the River Wear. The sustainable urban drainage system also provides new
green infrastructure enhancing the streetscape of the South Moor Terraces.

xliv https://www.dur.ac.uk/ihrr/

85Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 125

https://www.dur.ac.uk/ihrr/


Woodland and Trees

B.31 UK forest (including soils) is estimated to store 790 million tonnes of carbon, with
woodlands removing a further 15 million tonnes per year. (xlv)Woodland has an additional
benefit for climate change mitigation in that wood fuel and forest products can substitute
fossil fuels and reduce the need for materials such as concrete, the production of which
produces substantial greenhouse gas emissions.

B.32 The Council is responsible for approximately 10% of the county's woodland
resource. Over the last 19 years 450 ha of native woodland has been created on Council
land through partnership working and nearly 60% (1528 ha) of the Councils woodlands have
Forestry Commission approved management plans and are under active management.
Management plans for the remaining 30% of County Durham's woodlands are currently
awaiting Forestry Commission approval. Whilst different management alternatives have
different impacts on tree carbon stocks, (xlvi)the condition of many semi-natural woodlands
in England are threatened by neglect. Ensuring proper management of woodland thereby
improves their future resilience and contributes towards maintaining the carbon store of
woodlands at a constant level.

B.33 TheWoodland Trust are planting up a further 60 ha of woodland in County Durham
over the next couple of years and the Durham Hedgerow Partnership has and continues
to award grants which has resulted in the restoration/planting of hedges (including hedgerow
trees) the equivalent length of Durham to Leeds over the past 20 years.

B.34 Furthermore, a funding bid has also been submitted to the Heritage Lottery Fund
for a Durham Woodland Revival project. If approved, the project amongst other benefits
will bring neglected and under-managed woodland back into good condition and create
new woodland and hedgerows within the project area.

Picture 13 Woodland within County Durham

xlv Natural England (2012) Carbon storage by habitat: Review of the evidence of the impacts of management decisions and
conditions of carbon stores and sources Natural England Research Report NERR043

xlvi Read, D.J., Freer-Smith, P.H., Morison, J.I.L., Hanley, N., West, C.C. and Snowdon, P. (eds). 2009. Combating climate change
– a role for UK forests. An assessment of the potential of the UK’s trees and woodlands to mitigate and adapt to climate change.
The Stationery Office, Edinburgh

Climate Emergency Update Report86

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 126



Community:

Oakenshaw Community Wind Turbine

B.35 Following the outcomes of a wind turbine feasibility study in 2009 and lots of
community meetings, Oakenshaw Community Association, with support from a local
landowner have installed a 500kWwind turbine on farm land on the outskirts of Oakenshaw.
The turbine began operating in 2014 and will generate an annual income to the village to
be spent on local community projects over a 20 year period i.e. to 2034.

Food Durham

B.36 Food Durham has been established through funding and aims to create a food
system that is healthier, greener and fairer, where every household has access to 'good
food' - food that is safe, nutritious, of good quality and environmentally sustainable. Strong
links with the climate emergency exist through energy/resources used in food packaging,
food miles and land management.

Flood Awareness

B.37 The Civil Contingencies Unit (CCU) is leading on a wide range of initiatives to
tackle flooding and adaptation to climate change, one of which being the Community Safety
Award. The CCU is engaging uniformed youth organisations across the county to complete
the award, to ensure young people are better prepared and have a greater knowledge of
how they can help themselves and their communities during emergencies. The CCU is
also working with primary schools on emergency preparedness and several communities
across the county to develop and maintain their community emergency plans.

Transport:

Electric Vehicles

B.38 The Electric Vehicle Working Group, is actively engaged in considering a range
of projects and solutions around electric vehicle charging infrastructure, in order to help
facilitate the transition to electric vehicles. An electric vehicle roadshow was hosted in
Durham Market Place in October 2018 as part of Green Great Britain Week.

87Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 127



Park That Bike

B.39 Cycle parking is known to be one of the main ways of encouraging more
participation in cycling and a £50,000 investment has been provided to social enterprise
Park That Bike to install cycle parking stand across County Durham. The scheme has had
great take up with applications for the cycle parking stands received from communities,
workplaces, educational establishments, churches and businesses. 461 stands have been
installed since 2005.

Travel to Work

B.40 The Council run a number of initiatives which incentivise staff travel to work by
more sustainable modes including for example:

Cycle2 work Scheme - bike purchase since 2015 – 391
Discounted Bus Season Tickets
Discounted Rail season tickets
Car share system sign ups – 291

B.41 The Council also works with charity Living Streets. In 2018, the Living Streets
project data reports that 50% of employees walked more and 10% walked a lot more
because of the ‘work to’ project and pledge events.

Utilities:

B.42 The Council works very closely with our partners in the utility sector, working
together to investigate ways in which we can reduce carbon in the supply of energy.

Northern Powergrid

B.43 Demand Supply Response in the Activating Community Engagement (ACE)
project- The ACE project was initiated to further investigate the key stumbling blocks in
domestic demand side response (DSR). The aim of the project was to understand whether
domestic DSR was achievable without smart meters and time of use tariffs, using instead
a software application called GenGame that offers individuals the opportunity to win prizes
for being flexible with their electricity usage.

B.44 - Northern Powergrid is aiming to operate a smarter and more flexible network
through its customer smart flexibility plan. In this plan, it sets out locations that would
benefit from flexible assets and invites customers who may qualify to come forward. This
flexibility may include:

Commercial generation and domestic solar panels;

Climate Emergency Update Report88

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 128



Batteries and electric vehicles that can import or export energy;
and more generally customers with the ability to reduce the amount of energy they
are taking from the network.

Northern Gas Networks

B.45 Led by Northern Gas Networks, and in partnership with Northern Powergrid and
Newcastle University, InTEGReL is a new integrated energy facility based in
Gateshead. The facility is helping to tackle the UK’s energy challenges head on, with
teams of academics and engineers working to deliver breakthroughs in the decarbonisation
of heat, energy storage and transport, to identify the most affordable and practical solution
to moving customers onto low carbon, low cost energy over the long-term. Some specific
initiatives include:

H21 – a program of work to demonstrate the potential to convert gas networks to
100% hydrogen (a zero emission gas)
HyDeploy – a project that will be injecting up to 20% hydrogen into gas networks by
the end of 2019
Biomethane – continuing support provided to biomethane producers seeking to connect
to our networks
Whole systems – ongoing work to ensure the energy transition is managed in a
coordinated manner from a whole of systems perspective

B.46 Northern Gas Networks also actively manages and monitors emissions through
a range of other initiatives such as pipe replacement and pressure management – these
initiatives have more of an immediate and direct effect in the short-term.

Research and Development:

Durham Energy Institute (DEI)

B.47 Durham University runs the Durham Energy Institute (DEI)(xlvii), which supports
and produces cutting-edge energy research which draws on the expertise of world-leading
researchers across Durham University's departments in Science, Social Science and
Humanities. The DEI was born in 2009 out of the realisation that energy challenges cross
conventional discipline boundaries and that new ways of thinking about and conducting
energy research are required. DEI has now grown into an internationally leading institution,
recognised for its ability to apply new methods and perspectives to existing and emerging
energy challenges.

xlvii https://www.dur.ac.uk/dei/

89Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 129

https://www.dur.ac.uk/dei/


C Impacts of Climate Change in County Durham

The global average sea level has risen by between 10cm and 20cm during the past
century. County Durham's trend displays a rise throughout the 20th century of about
2mm per year. (xlviii)

A number of extreme weather events have also occurred over the last decade, for
example:

Flooding event of summer 2009 which created a new tributary to the River Wear,
removing 7 acres of farmland near Houghall College, Durham City;

Record levels of rainfall in 2012 caused flood events on several dates within
County Durham resulting in the Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority,
receiving 772 requests for flood investigations;

Heavy downpours during 2018 resulted in the village of Lanchester being flooded
twice in the same year. Flood prevention works have since being completed
costing £297,000;

Met Office experts have advised that the soaring temperatures experienced
during the 2018 heatwave were aided by climate change. Summer 2018 was the
UK's equal warmest on record, along with 1976, 2003 and 2006. Across the North
East and parts of County Durham the heatwave affected water supplies, health,
livestock and crops.

Parts of England also suffered from wildfires in 2018 as moorland areas were so
dry.

The Financial Times Adviser reported; “The so-called ‘beast from the east’ seems
to have caused more disruption than first thought. During the first three months
of 2018, the UK economy grew at its slowest level for six years, and the weather
– in particular the heavy snowfall during March – has been tagged as a major
culprit. UK GDP growth stalled to just 0.1 percent in the first quarter, a notable
decline from 0.4 percent at the end of 2017 and the lowest recorded growth figure
since 2012. This followed on from the economy’s 1.2 percent growth in the
previous year, the worst recorded level for half a decade. Snow and growth were
not the only things to fall in March. The FTSE 100 closed the quarter 10 percent
lower than levels seen at the start of the year. The UK’s main market has since
recovered these losses to hit a record high in mid-May, but the volatility is perhaps
illustrative of the uncertainty that has affected the wider economy.”

xlviii Data Source: National Oceanographic Centre

Climate Emergency Update Report90

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 130



Picture 14 Aftermath of Summer 2009 Flooding Event - Land Near Houghall College

Picture 15 2012 flooding in Chester-Le-Street

91Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 131



Picture 16 Overturned Snow Gritter in County Durham as the 'Beast from the East' causes havoc

Further Climate Change is Inevitable

C.1 Further climate change over the next 30 to 50 years has already been determined
by historic greenhouse gas emissions. Even if emissions stopped today, the climate would
change for at least the next 40 years due to those emissions already released. The main
climate changes predicted for County Durham and the wider north east region by the
2050's are: (xlix)

Rainfall patterns will change with increases of up to 21% in winter and reduction of
up to 37% in summer, with an overall reduction of 10%;
Average seasonal temperatures will increase, with extreme hot temperatures increasing
by around 3°C and heatwaves likely to occur more often;
There will be a reduction in the number of frost days and a major reduction in winter
snowfall of around 45 to 83%; and
Average sea levels will rise by around 0.3m with an increase in sea surge levels of a
further 0.3m;

C.2 Such changes in climate are likely to have the following implications in County
Durham: (l)

xlix Sustain/Climate NE (2008) Climate Change Action Plan for North East England
l The UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA), 2010 A summary of Climate Change for North East England

Climate Emergency Update Report92

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 132



Expected Impacts of Climate Change in County Durham and the North East

Related ImpactsImplications of Climate
Change

Increased frequency of
flooding from rivers,
streams, the sea and
from drainage systems

Increased number of flood related fatalities and injuries
Increased damage to buildings and infrastructure
Disruption to business productivity, continuity and transport networks
Health and welfare impacts due to personal stress, disruption of
service provision (e.g. home help to the elderly/infirm) and pressure
on emergency services

Increased adverse health
and welfare effects
during warmer summers

Increased skin-related afflictions such as sunburn and skin cancer
Exacerbation of respiratory problems
Increased heart problems due to heat stress and heat stroke
Increased circulation problems due to reduced levels of mobility
Increased mortality rates due to heat related effects
Increased levels of thermal discomfort which could impact upon
productivity, activity levels and learning more generally

Increased incidents of
wild fires and parkland
fires

Increased threat to life
Loss of habitats and species
Increased demand on finite fire-fighting resources

Increase in pests and
infectious diseases

Rising temperatures will increase the number of breeding cycles of
some unwanted pests and will also produce conditions more likely
to be conducive to their presence and spread
Rising temperatures will result in increased abundance and longer
survival of midges and ticks that can spread infectious diseases
amongst humans and animals.
Increased likelihood of insect infestations such as wood boring beetles
in buildings containing timbers due to changes in wetting and drying
patterns.

Increased damage to
fabric and structure of
buildings

In addition to insect infestations and flood events, increases in winter
rainfall, temperatures and winter wind speed will result in more
damage to the fabric and structure of buildings through impacts such
as material expansion, water ingress and dislodged elements

Increased pollution from
contaminated land

Increased rainfall in winter may increase levels of leachate from
contaminated soils

Adverse Impacts on
Agriculture, Forestry and
Food Security

Increasing number and severity of extreme rainfall events may lead
to soil erosion, saturation and crop damage.
Natural water sourcesmay become inadequate for livestock onmoors
and uplands.
Increased risk of wildfires on moorland, rough grazing and forest
areas.
Reduced soil moisture in summer may lead to erosion of soil.
Potential for increased water stress in crops and grassland.
Wetter winters may delay stock turnout to avoid structural damage
to soils, increasing housing and feed costs.
Warmer wintersmay impact on the required germination temperatures
affecting cropping potential.

93Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 133



Related ImpactsImplications of Climate
Change

Potential requirement for species mix to be adjusted due to changes
in rainfall and temperature.
Increased risk of infectious diseases amongst livestock and spread
of pests and fungus that attack trees e.g. Ash dieback

Changes to and
increased loss of habitats
and species

Direct loss to habitats and species as a result of flooding, wildfires
and accelerated rates of erosion to the coastline
The distribution of birds and other wildlife is already changing, altering
their range andmaking them less able to adapt. For example, Puffins,
and Kittiwakes face significant threats from warming seas and the
changing distribution and abundance of plankton and sand eel on
which they, and many other species, feed.
Seasonal changes may lead to a mismatch between species. For
instance, warmer weather may affect the availability of food supplies
for newly hatched chicks.
Increasing temperatures may threaten fragile eco-systems. For
example, Teesdale’s unique arctic alpine flora faces serious
pressures.
Higher water temperatures, lower flows and reduced oxygen levels
in rivers during summer months, together with an increase in intense
precipitation events and related flooding, would be detrimental to
fresh water pearl mussel, trout and salmon.
Changing agricultural practices, driven by climatic and socio-economic
factors, may pose a significant threat to a number of species.

Climate Emergency Update Report94

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 134



D Decarbonisation of the Electricity Grid

D.1 Electricity Grid Carbon Factor

D.2 In 2008, the carbon factor of electricity was 0.496kgCO2e per kWh. In 2017 it was
0.352kgCO2e per kWh, a reduction of nearly thirty percent. This reduction is due to the
decarbonisation of the national grid through reduced reliance on coal power and an increase
in renewable generation such as fromwind farms. Of the fifty percent reduction in emissions
from electricity, the remaining twenty percent reduction was due to streamlining of services
and energy efficiency and carbon reduction works through the carbon management
programme.

D.3 The carbon intensity of the electricity grid has reduced further in the last year, to
43% from 2008 to 2018, which is a good indicator that the 2018/19 carbon footprint will
have reduced too. The graph below highlights this reduction, which is expected to continue
as new technologies are developed and more renewable generation is used across the
country.

Graph of the carbon factor of UK grid electricity since 2002

D.4 Unfortunately, it is not wise to rely on this decarbonisation trend continuing. There
are many factors affecting the carbon factor of the grid which are out of the Council's
control. National policy changes and co-operation from big businesses is necessary to
ensure that trends like this continue.

95Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 135



E Policy Drivers

DescriptionNameLevel

The Paris Agreement(li) is an agreement within the United
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change
(UNFCC) which aims to keep the increase in global average

Paris AgreementInternational

temperature to well below 2oC above pre-industrial levels;
and to limit the increase to 1.5oC to prevent dangerous
climate change.

Limiting an increase in global average temperature to 1.5oC
effectively requires the world to cut greenhouse gas
emissions to net zero in the second half of the century. The
Committee on Climate Change suggested that the UK would
have to meet the net zero target by 2045-50 in order to do
its bit to ensure global temperatures remain within the
prescribed limit.

The strategy shows how Europe can lead the way to climate
neutrality by investing into realistic technological solutions,
empowering citizens, and aligning action in key areas such
as industrial policy, finance, or research – while ensuring
social fairness for a just transition.

A Clean Planet for AllEuropean

The Climate Change Act commits the UK government to
reducing greenhouse gas emissions by at least 80% of 1990
levels by 2050. However, the Government have since

Climate Change ActNational

instructed the Committee on Climate Change to look again
at the UK's long-term 2050 climate change target with advice
due to be published in spring 2019.

In order to meet the current 2050 target the Act establishes
legally binding carbon budgets to act as stepping stones. The
first five carbon budgets have been put into legislation and
run up to 2032. These include:

1st carbon budget (2008-2012) - 25% reduction below
1990 levels
2nd carbon budget (2013-2017) - 31% reduction below
1990 levels
3rd carbon budget (2018-2022) - 37% reduction below
1990 levels by by 2020
4th carbon budget (2023-2027) - 51% reduction below
1990 levels by 2025
5th carbon budget (2028-2032) - 57% reduction below
1990 levels by 2030

li https://62.225.2.61/paris_agreement/items/9485.php

Climate Emergency Update Report96

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 136

https://62.225.2.61/paris_agreement/items/9485.php


DescriptionNameLevel

Identifies areas where the greatest progress is needed, both
through technological breakthroughs and large scale
deployment in order to meet the 5th carbon budget. The key
policies and headline proposals of the strategy revolve
around:

Accelerating Clean Growth

The Clean Growth
Strategy

Improving Business and Industry Efficiency

Improving the Energy Efficiency of our Homes

Upgrade all fuel poor homes to Energy Performance
Certificate Band C by 2030 and as many other homes
as possible by 2035
Strengthen building regulations energy performance
standards for new homes, including future proofing for
low carbon heating systems
Phase out the installations of high carbon, fossil fuel
heating in new and existing homes currently off the
gas grid during the 2020's, starting with new homes.

Accelerating the shift to Low Carbon Transport

End the sale of new conventional petrol and diesel cars
and vans by 2040

Delivering Clean, Smart, Flexible Power

Phase out the use of unabated coal to produce
electricity by 2025
85% of UK electricity generation from low carbon
sources in 2032

Enhancing the Benefits and Value of our Natural
Resources

Establish a new network of forests in England in
support of the commitment to plant 11 million trees and
increase the amount of UK timber used in construction
Work towards an ambition for zero avoidable waste by
2050

Leading in the Public Sector

Government Leadership in Driving Clean Growth

The aim of the Strategy is to boost productivity by backing
businesses to create good jobs and increase the earning
power of people throughout the UK with investment in skills,

Industrial Strategy White
Paper

97Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 137



DescriptionNameLevel

industries and infrastructure. As part of this aim, the strategy
recognises that a move to cleaner economic growth through
low carbon technologies and the efficient use of resources
is one of the greatest industrial opportunities of our time with
recognition that a UK clean economy could grow at four
times the rate of GDP.

Sitting alongside the Clean Growth Strategy and Industrial
Strategy White Paper, the 25 Year Environment Plan
compliments and collectively sets out the Government's

25 Year Environment
Plan

approach to fulfilling its commitment to leave the environment
in a better state than it inherited. Policies/actions that are
directly related to climate change and adaptation include:

expanding the use of natural flood management
solutions
putting in place more sustainable drainage systems
making 'at risk' properties more resilient to flooding
supporting the development of a new Northern Forest
/ larger scale woodland creation
creating more green infrastructure in towns and cities
curbing emissions from combustion plants and
generators
provide international leadership on tackling climate
change

The priority risk areas identified by the NAP include:National Adaptation
Programme (NAP) and
the Third Strategy for
Climate Adaptation

Reporting

flooding and coastal change risks to communities,
businesses and infrastructure is a high risk now and
is expected to remain a high risk in the future
risks to health, well-being and productivity from high
temperatures is also a high risk now and is expected
to remain a high risk in the future
Risks of shortages in the public water supply for
agriculture, energy generation and industry
Risks to natural capital including terrestrial, coastal,
marine and freshwater ecosystems, soils and
biodiversity
Risks to domestic and international food production
and trades
New and emerging pests and diseases and invasive
non native species affecting people, plants and animals

Identifies how regional energy strengths, opportunities and
challenges align to national policy objectives (identified in
the Clean Growth Strategy and Industrial Strategy) across

North East Energy for
Growth Strategy

Regional

power, heat and transport. The strategy also seeks to identify
how energy can help drive regional productivity, growth, and
job creation, taking forward the energy opportunities
identified in the North East Strategic Economic Plan

Climate Emergency Update Report98

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 138



DescriptionNameLevel

The Strategy identifies a number of priority themes and high
level objectives including; Altogether wealthier; Altogether
better for children and young people; Altogether healthier;
Altogether safer and Altogether greener. the high level
objectives pertaining to the Altogether greener them include:

The Sustainable
Community Strategy for

County Durham
2014-2030 (County
Durham Partnership)

Local

1. Deliver a cleaner, more attractive and sustainable
environment

2. Maximise the value and benefits of Durham’s natural
environment

3. Reduce carbon emissions and adapt to the impact of
climate change

4. Promote sustainable design and protect Durham’s
heritage

Durham County Council has pledged to use 100% clean
energy by 2050UK 100 Pledge

99Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 139



F The Council's Target Areas

F.1 This appendix provides more in-depth information about the areas that need to be
targeted by the Council and some of the technologies and methods that should be used.
For each target area there are descriptions of opportunities and technologies available to
us, the benefits and drawbacks of these, and the effect of each on our overall carbon
footprint.

Decarbonisation of Heat for Buildings

F.2 Two thirds of Durham County Council's carbon footprint comes from
our buildings, and half of that is from gaseous fuels. Much of this can be attributed to
supplying necessary heat to our internal environments.

Reducing Reliance on Fossil Fuels

F.3 At present, the vast majority of heat used in our buildings is generated by burning
fossil fuels on site. This process directly contributes to climate change through immediate
release of greenhouse gasses. It is not possible to completely eliminate the carbon factor
of heat whilst retaining gas boilers in our buildings.

Heat Pump Technology

F.4 Heat pumps are a type of electric heating which uses a condensing cycle to extract
heat energy from a lower temperature medium and transfers it in higher density to create
a higher temperature medium. The source medium could be air, water, or ground, and the
supply medium could be air or water, such as in radiator pipes. The process is very efficient
and, depending on the temperature of the source medium, can supply up to 5kWh heat
for every 1kWh electricity used.

Biomass Boilers

F.5 Heat can be generated by burning biomass rather than gas in our buildings. This
has the advantage of a much lower carbon footprint than natural gas, as well as potential
income from the government's Renewable Heat Incentive, RHI, scheme. It is acknowledged
that biomass boilers require more maintenance than gas boilers, significant space is often
needed for safe storage, and the fuel costs more than gas to purchase. However, RHI is
intended to mitigate this.

Building Design

F.6 New development accounts for only a tiny proportion of emissions compared to
existing development, but it is vital that new development does not add to the future burden
of carbon emissions. It is likely that new building regulations will be adopted for energy in
2020, following consultation. However we do not yet know if this will mean that development
will have to meet zero carbon standards. If new building regulations were improved to zero
carbon standards it would mitigate an additional 67,000tCO2,annually.

Climate Emergency Update Report100

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 140



F.7 In the event that new building regulations do not require zero carbon standards there
may be opportunities to utilise some Section 106 funding (planning obligations), to offset
carbon where this is linked to recreational improvements such as cycle paths and maybe
woodland creation in certain circumstances. However this is likely to be limited to specific
areas.

Insulation and Heat Recovery

F.8 The most environmentally friendly unit of heat is the one we don't use. Preventing
unnecessary heat use is a vital part of decarbonisation of heat, and mitigates the necessary
electrification of some heat. This can be achieved by careful application of insulation and
heat recovery both in new builds and retrofit projects. A building can be insulated well
enough that no artificial heat is required, as enough is provided by occupants, sunshine,
and equipment such as computers. This must be done carefully, however, including the
use of appropriate ventilation heat recovery systems. These provide fresh air to the building
without losing all of the accumulated heat to the outside.

Decarbonisation of Fleet and Other Transport

F.9 Like heat, transport currently relies on the direct burning of fossil fuels.
The following are areas focus on the removal of fossil fuel vehicles from our operations.

Electric Fleet

F.10 Many different types of battery powered electric vehicles are now available. With
the right infrastructure in place it is possible to almost entirely replace our fleet with battery
electric vehicle alternatives. If transport is electric, and this electricity is generated by
renewable means, then our transport becomes very low carbon.

Pool Cars, & Public Transport

Staff business travel contributes 3% of the Council's total carbon footprint. This is travel
conducted often in personal vehicles owned by the staff members themselves, as well as
use of Pool Cars. As the Council has no control over the types of vehicles that staff choose
to purchase, the appropriate course of action is to encourage staff to use other vehicles
where possible, including walking, cycling, public transport and electric pool cars.

Minimising Grid Electricity Demand

F.11 A transition away from fossil fuels for use in heat and transport will
increase our electricity consumption, which could have a detrimental effect on our
decarbonisation works without mitigation.

Renewable Electricity Generation

F.12 As the demand for an electricity supply increases, so will the need for renewable
electricity generation. Durham County Council should seek to maximise generation on
Council land and buildings wherever it is possible to do so. In particular it should be
considered a priority to install renewable electricity generation with wired connections to
sites with high electricity demand. In some instances it will be possible to combine this

101Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 141



generation with energy storage to maximise utilisation of renewable electricity. Charging
batteries during periods of high generation allows us to use the generated electricity when
it is needed most.

F.13 New business models are evolving using the national grid to transfer renewable
electricity to locations away from the end user which allow subsidy free solar farms & wind
farms to be financially viable. Furthermore battery storage developments will help to
maximise the generation of renewable energy by storing energy when there is a lack of
demand and releasing it when there is a peak in demand.

Gas Peaking Plant

F.14 Natural gas can be burned in small power plants at particular times during the day
to relive stress on the national grid in areas of high demand. We do not advocate the
construction of such plants as there are technologies available that can provide a similar
service without burning fossil fuels.

Monitoring and Targeting

F.15 In addition to renewable electricity generation, it is essential to minimise our demand.
This can be achieved through education and staff behaviour change programmes.
Monitoring and targeting of the Council's energy data is required to ensure that no utility
is being used unintentionally. Half hourly electricity and gas data are collected and analysed
by the Council's Energy Team and Carbon Team, allowing us to identify areas of waste
and devise projects to fix this.

Carbon Reduction in Schools

Schools' carbon emissions account for 40% of Durham County Council's
emissions. However, the devolved nature of schools' budgets has severely limited the
Council's ability to invest in building energy efficiency measures in schools. Working with
schools requires a different approach, leading to its inclusion as a target area in order that
we can highlight projects that may be suitable for schools.

Climate Emergency Update Report102

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 142



G Glossary

G.1 The following tables lists the acronyms, notations and terms used in this Plan.

Table 5 Glossary of acronyms

Acronyms
Area of Outstanding Natural BeautyAONB
Air Quality Management AreaAQMA

Department for Business, Energy and Industrial StrategyBEIS

Business Energy Efficiency ProjectBEEP

Building Energy Efficiency RetrofitBEER
Building Energy Management SystemBEMS
Building Management SystemBMS
Climate Change LevyCCL

Climate Change Risk AssessmentCCRA

Civil Contingencies UnitCCU
Combined Heat & PowerCHP
Carbon Reduction CommitmentCRC
Demand Side ResponseDSR
Energy Company ObligationECO
Energy Performance CertificateEPC
European Regional Development FundERDF
Electric VehicleEV
Heat Networks Delivery UnitHNDU
Information Communication TechnologyICT
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate ChangeIPCC
A group of 7 local authorities in the North East area.LA7
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure PlansLCWIP
Light Emitting DiodeLED
Land Use, Land Use Change, and ForestryLULUCF
North East Combined AuthorityNECA
Natural Flood managementNFM
Northern Power GridNPg
Northumbrian Water LimitedNWL
Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicle / Battery Electric VehiclePHEV / BEV
Public TransportPT
Photovoltaics - Solar electricity generationPV
Renewable Heat IncentiveRHI
Small and Medium sized EnterpriseSME
Solar Panel ArraySPA

103Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 143



Acronyms
Solid Wall Insulation Innovation ProjectSWIi
Ultra Low Emission VehicleULEV
Warm Homes FundWHF

Table 6 Glossary of notations

Notations
degrees Celsius.°C
Kilowatt hours - unit of energy such as
electricity or gas

kWh

Carbon dioxideCO2

Where it is not possible to change formatting,
such as in image files, CO2 may be used in
place of CO2 or CO2e.

CO2

Carbon dioxide equivalent - the amount that
has the equivalent climate change contribution

CO2e

as one unit of carbon dioxide, which includes
all known climate change gasses as well as
CO2.
Carbon Factors - Amount of carbon dioxide
equivalent or amount of carbon dioxide that is

CO2e per kWh or CO2 per kWh

released into our atmosphere for every unit of
energy used.
MethaneCH4

kilogramskg
tonnes - Unit of mass equal to 1,000kgt
kilotonnes, equal to one thousand tonneskt
hectaresha
Nitrogen OxidesNOx
Sulphur OxidesSOx

Table 7 Glossary of terms

Terms
Word often used to describe electricity and gas and other heat
utilities.

Energy

A general term for all greenhouse gas emissions, including CH4

and CO2 or CO2e.
Carbon Emissions

Amount of carbon emissions directly associated with the
organisation, area, or activity.

Carbon Footprint

Having no CO2 emissions that are not also compensated for by
additional carbon off-setting.

Carbon Neutral

Additional carbon reduction elsewhere to compensate for the actual
emissions associated with the organisation, area, or activity. This
could include tree planting, carbon capture, or renewable electricity
generation to be used other than by the organisation, area, or
activity.

Carbon Off-setting

Climate Emergency Update Report104

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 144



Terms
Actual reduction of carbon emissions, which cannot include carbon
off-setting.

Carbon Reduction

Water that naturally fills the abandoned mines beneath the ground.Minewater
The amount of time a project takes to generate enough income or
savings to off-set its cost.

Payback period

Durham County Councilthe Council
Having no CO2 emissions at all from any aspect of the organisation,
area, or activity.

Zero Carbon

105Climate Emergency Update Report

Climate Emergency Update Report

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank



County Council

17 July 2019

Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 
2018/19  

Report of Corporate Management Team

Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 

Electoral division(s) affected:
None

Purpose of the Report
1 To present the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19 as 

required by the Council’s Constitution. The report is attached at 
Appendix 2.

Executive summary
2 In accordance with Article 5 paragraph 5.03 (d) of the Council’s 

Constitution, the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
is required to report annually to the County Council on its work with 
recommendations for its future work programme. 

Recommendation(s)

3 That County Council receive the annual report for 2018/19, in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution to report annually on 
overview and scrutiny activity.

Background
4 Each year the Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report is prepared to 

provide information on activity by the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board and the five thematic Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees. This work programme activity includes in-depth and light 
touch review work, and overview activity including monitoring of 
performance management and budgetary reporting. 

5 The Annual Report also includes detail on the statutory scrutiny roles 
relating to health, crime and disorder and flood risk management.

6 The Annual Report has been agreed by the Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board prior to submission to County Council. 

Page 147

Agenda Item 10



7 It is intended to circulate the report widely.

Background papers
 None

Contact: Jenny Haworth Tel:  03000 268071

Page 148



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
The Council’s Constitution requires the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board to report annually on the work of all the Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Finance
None

Consultation
Members of the Council’s Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board considered and commented on the report prior to it being presented to 
County Council.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Impact assessments are carried out for all overview and scrutiny reviews.

Human Rights
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
None

Accommodation
None

Risk
None

Procurement
None

Page 149



Appendix 2:  Annual report 2018/19 (attached as a separate item)

Page 150



         

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Overview and Scrutiny  

Annual Report 
2018-2019 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Transformation and Partnerships 
Durham County Council 
 
May 2019 

 

 

Page 151



 
  

Scrutiny@Durham.gov.uk 
03000 268140 

Page 152



Introduction 
from the Chair 
of the Corporate 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board   
 

Overview and scrutiny in Durham 
County Council has had another very 
busy year. This annual report gives an 
update of the work we have undertaken 
during 2018/19 and highlights some of 
the work we will be undertaking in the 
coming year.  
 
The coming years will be extremely 
challenging for the council in terms of 
the ongoing austerity measures and 
uncertainty about our future funding.  A 
key priority for the authority is to 
continue to work hard to protect 
frontline services whilst meeting 
savings targets and managing 
pressures.  
 
Overview and scrutiny will contribute in 
a constructive way to support the 
council in meeting these significant 
challenges whilst remaining focussed 
on the four key principles of good 
scrutiny as defined by the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny:  
 
 To provide a constructive “critical 

friend” challenge to executive 
policy-makers and decisions-
makers. 

 To amplify the voice and concerns 
of the public.  

 To ensure scrutiny is carried out by 
‘independent minded governors’ 
who lead and own the scrutiny role. 

 To drive improvement in public 
services.   

 
This report gives a flavour of the work 
we have undertaken in reflecting these 
four principles and highlights some key 
achievements.  
 
Overview and scrutiny work 
 
Throughout the year we have carried 
out in-depth scrutiny reviews, 
undertaken detailed scrutiny of the 
council’s budget process and 
monitored quarterly performance. We 
also promote scrutiny by maintaining 
an excellent relationship between 
executive and non-executive 
members, have worked well with our 
partners on matters of common interest 
and responsibility and benefitted from 
the knowledge and expertise of our co-
opted members. 
 
Statutory Roles 
 
The statutory scrutiny roles of health, 
crime and disorder and flood risk 
management feature within this annual 
report alongside thematic scrutiny 
work.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Witton Gilbert Flood Defence Scheme 

Page 153



Government Guidance 
 

Following the publication of the findings 
of the House of Commons 
Communities and Local Government 
Committee review on the Effectiveness 
of Local Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees in March 2018, 
revised guidance from government has 
recently been issued.  

We will be working across the Council 
together with the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Board to 
consider whether any further changes 
will be necessary.  

Partnership working 
 
Durham County Council’s overview 
and scrutiny function involves a 
considerable amount of partnership 
working.  Our aim is to ensure that the 
good work that is already taking place 
contributes to the Transformation 
Programme’s key principal of moving 
partnership working from good to great.  
 
Co-optees and engagement 
 
We continue to work with the non-
voting co-optees who sit on our scrutiny 
committees. They bring skills, 
knowledge and their own expertise and 
views to scrutiny and provide important 
external challenge to our work 
programme.  
 
We have also promoted engagement of 
local expert and academic researchers 
in overview and scrutiny where they 
can add to our work.  
 
Regional Scrutiny 
 
Changes to the North East Combined 
Authority (NECA) boundaries mean 
that we continue to work with three 
other regional authorities on the NECA 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. As 

transport is of strategic importance to 
the region, NECA works collaboratively 
with the newly established North of 
Tyne Combined Authority on a North 
East Joint Transport Committee 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
Durham County Council has 
representation on both of these bodies 
to ensure that members can scrutinise 
and challenge decision-making on 
behalf of our communities. 
 
Members regularly attend a number of 
regional health meetings including the 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and 
North Durham Sustainability and 
Transformation Partnership (STP) 
Joint Health Scrutiny Committee and 
the Durham, Darlington and Teesside, 
Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby 
STP Joint Health Scrutiny Committee. 
 
I would like to thank everyone who has 
been involved in supporting and 
assisting the overview and scrutiny 
process – be it members, officers, 
partners, or co-opted members, and 
the scrutiny team themselves.  
 
I hope that you find this report useful in 
showing the breadth of work we 
undertake throughout the year and the 
work we are planning for 2019/20.  
 
All scrutiny committee meetings are 
open to the public and the scrutiny 
team’s contact details are at the end of 
this report. 
 

Councillor Rob Crute 
 
Chair of Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board

Page 154



 

  
Overview and Scrutiny in numbers 
 

27 
Recommendations to 
Cabinet from in depth 
reviews 
 Support to the retail 

sector 
 Review of suicide 

rates 
 Role of the social 

worker from a child’s 
perspective 

 

Partners 
participating in 
Overview and 

Scrutiny meetings 

Site visits made within 
County Durham 

22 
Review groups 
and workshops 

bringing 
members, 

partners and co-
optees together 

to work on 
scrutiny issues 

 

Scheduled 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
meetings held 

 
Special additional  
Overview and 
Scrutiny meetings 
held focussing on 
matters such as 
Shotley Bridge 
Hospital, Flooding, 
SUPs, and ERASE 
(Education & Raise 
Awareness of 
Sexual Exploitation) 
 

Witton Gilbert flood 
defence scheme 

Thornley Waste Transfer 
Station 

Environment and Sustainable 
Communities OSC meeting at 

the Gala Theatre Durham 

Page 155



 

Key 
Achievements 
2018-19  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Review 
Activity  
 
The scrutiny work programme for the 
year has reflected a balanced 
programme of work and improvement 
in the operation of scrutiny which meets 
the four principles of effective public 
scrutiny. 
 
 
 
 
 
The following in depth evidence-based 
reviews have been completed and 
have been reported to Cabinet and the 
appropriate thematic partnerships. 
 
 Role of the Social Worker from a 

Child’s Perspective.  
 
 Review of Suicide Rates and Mental 

Health and Wellbeing in County 
Durham. 

 
 Review of the support provided to 

the retail sector by Durham County 
Council. 

 
Other review activity included: 
 
 Scrutiny of the Medium Term 

Financial Plan budget timetable, 
cost reduction proposals and 
quarterly scrutiny of savings.  

 Formal responses on the NHS 
Quality Accounts 2018/19 for - 
North East Ambulance Service; 
County Durham and Darlington 
NHS Foundation Trust; and the 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

 Formal response to the County 
Durham Plan Preferred Options 
consultation and the Housing 
Strategy consultation.  

 Contributed to the activity of the 
Safe Durham Partnership Board; 
Police and Crime Panel; Youth 
Justice Plan and the Children’s 
Strategy. 

 Input to the Strategic Cycling and 
Walking delivery plan; Phasing out 
unnecessary Single Use Plastics 
(SUPs), the Homelessness 
Strategy and the County Durham 
and Darlington Fire & Rescue 
Service Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP) three- 
year plan consultation. 

 
 
 
 
A key priority has been to strengthen 
our approach to amplifying the public’s 
voice.  
 
During the year, chairs and vice-chairs 
have focused on how to bring the public 
voice into overview and scrutiny review 
activity and meetings. This has been 
achieved through building public 
feedback strongly into review work, 
including site visits across the county 
and increased use of social media to 
promote our work.  
 
Our approach to raising the profile of 
scrutiny committees and to promote 
engagement is targeted on using the 
council’s Twitter feed to help publicise 
our meetings. The council’s feed has 
over 24,000 followers and we aim to 
publish tweets in the week leading up 
to the meeting and on the day of the 
meeting.  
 
The special AWH OSC in January 
considered changes and potential 

To provide constructive 
challenge 

 

To amplify the voice of the 
public

 

Page 156



 

closures of GP practices by the Skerne 
Medical Group and prompted the 
highest views of a tweet in 2018/19.  
 
The overview and scrutiny process 
provides an opportunity for members of 
the public and local communities to 
comment upon any service change  

 
proposals such as in the case of the 
Skerne Medical Group. Local 
councillors, members of the public and 
community representatives have 

contributed to engagement and 
consultation on these proposals and 
other planned changes to hospital 
services at Shotley Bridge and Bishop 
Auckland hospitals. 
 
We have also welcomed the 
introduction of Local Democracy 
reporters at our meetings and 
recognise the role they play in helping 
report and publicise the work we do. 
We are pleased with the coverage we 
have received locally and hope this 
enables our communities to see the 
important work we do and encourage 
them to engage with us. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Chair and Vice-Chair of Corporate 
Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board, Councillors Rob Crute and 
Andrea Patterson, have worked with 
Chairs, Vice-Chairs and members of 
the thematic committees during the 
year to develop overview and scrutiny 
in Durham. 
 
We have also promoted engagement of 
local expert and academic researchers 
in overview and scrutiny where they 
can add to our work. A professor from 
Sunderland University contributing 
evidence to a review by Safer and 
Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on preventing 
young people from becoming involved 
or remaining in cybercrime activity. 
 
 
 
 
The overview and scrutiny work 
programme is informed by the current 
Council Plan, the Sustainable 
Community Strategy, the Council’s 

104 tweets relating 
to scrutiny

May 18 - May 19

Tweets received 
between 597 –

2,171 views

Total of 87,764
views. 

Links to agenda or 
information 

accessed on 147
occasions with 369

tweet engagements.

Highest number of 
views for a tweet 

was 2,171 in 
January 2019

To ensure scrutiny is led by 
independent minded governors 
who own the scrutiny process 

 

To drive improvement in public 
services 

 
Shotley Bridge Hospital 

Page 157



 

Forward Plan of decisions and other 
partnership plans and strategies to 
ensure it is aligned to key improvement 
areas for the council. The County 
Durham Partnership is in the process of 
reviewing and refreshing the vision for 
the future of County Durham and once 
this is complete, the new priorities and 
ambitions will be reflected in the 
overview and scrutiny work 
programme. 
 
The majority of detailed in depth 
reviews are carried out by the 
committees, but smaller working 
groups may be set up to carry out light 
touch reviews.  The scrutiny 
committees decide which areas they 
wish to examine.  This may arise 
following representations by members 
of the public about a particular matter; 
be an issue identified by councillors 
themselves; or follow on from reports or 
performance assessment on the 
council’s activities made by the cabinet 
or outside agencies.  
 
The following in-depth reviews are due 
to complete this year: 
 Review of Durham County Council 

future management of allotment 
sites 

 Joint review of Children’s 
Residential  Care Homes 

 Review of GP Services in County 
Durham 

 

Co-optees 
 
Following a successful recruitment 
process for new co-optees in early 
2018, we have continued to bring 
external voices into scrutiny to enhance 
our work and offer different 
perspectives and challenge. The co-
opted members ensure a strong 

external representation and help 
scrutiny to engage with the public.  
 
Co-optees:  
 Act as an independent voice for 

those who live or work in County 
Durham. 

 Bring specialist knowledge, skills 
and an element of external 
challenge to the overview and 
scrutiny process. 

 Take an interest in, attend and 
contribute to the committees and 
working groups to which appointed. 

 Establish good relations with other 
members, officers and co-optees. 

 

Planned 
Overview and 
Scrutiny in 
2019/20 

 
The work programmes for overview 
and scrutiny focus on the priority areas 
identified within the current Council 
Plan, the cabinet’s Forward Plan of 
decisions, the Sustainable Community 
Strategy, partnership plans and 
strategies, performance and budgetary 
control data and changes in 
government legislation.  
 
Work programmes are finalised during 
June and July and are designed to 
ensure there is flexibility and capacity 
to take on topics which may arise 
throughout the year. 
 
A summary of the planned programme 
for 2019/20 is shown overleaf to give a 
flavour of the work to be undertaken. 
 
 

Page 158



 

Overview and Scrutiny Work 
Programme 2019/20 (Summary) 

 

 
 

COSMB
• Transformation Programme
• Budget and MTFP Process
• Attendance management
• Appraisals
• RIPA
• Performance and budget outturn
• Customer Feedback
• Implications of Government Policy 

Programme
• Welfare Reform and Poverty

Children and Young People OSC
• Child Poverty
• Erase
• Neglect in County Durham
• Growing Healthy 0-19
• JTAI Action Update
• Work of Healthy Weight Alliance
• Durham Safeguarding Children 

Partnership
• New Ofsted Framework 2019
• County Durham Social Worker Academy

Adults, Wellbeing and Health OSC
• Future of services delivered at Shotley 

Bridge Hospital
• Ward 6 Bishop Auckland Hospital
• Review of Stroke Rehabilitation Services 

in County Durham and Darlington
• Extended and Enhanced Primary Care 

Access
• Progress update on the Community 

Services Contract
• The emerging Integrated Care System and 

Integrated Care Partnerships

Economy OSC
• Local Industrial Strategy
• DurhamWorks Programme
• Masterplans
• Unemployment in County Durham
• Housing Strategy
• Homelessness Strategy
• Selective Licensing Scheme
• Transport (regional and local)
• Tourism
• Strategic sites in the county

Environment OSC
• Air Quality in County Durham
• Emerging Climate Emergency Response 

Plan
• Carbon Management Plan
• SUPS monitoring against action plan
• Fly Tipping
• Fuel Poverty
• Highways maintenance
• Heritage assets
• Flood Risk Management Authorities

Safer & Stronger Communities OSC
• Shoplifting
• Prevent - Counter Terrorism and Security 

Act 2015
• Confidence in Police and Council tackling 

crime and anti social behaviour
• Arson and deliberate fires
• Hate Crime
• Progress on delivery of Integrated Risk 

Management Plan
• Youth Justice Plan
• Probation Services

Page 159



 

Site visits  
 
Scrutiny members have attended a 
number of site visits linking to the 
scrutiny work programme. These visits 
have been invaluable in helping to 
engage with external partners and local 
residents to enable their views to be 
taken into account for a number of 
reviews and issues on scrutiny 
agendas.  
 
Members of the Environment and 
Sustainable Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) visited  
the newly completed Thornley Waste 
Transfer Station. The committee is 
responsible for receiving progress 
update reports on waste management 
in the county. They received details of 
the investment and proposals for the 
redevelopment of the Thornley Waste 
Transfer Station. They agreed that 
once the works were complete a visit 
would be arranged to the site.  The visit 
took place on 28 November 2018 and 
provided members with the opportunity 
to see first-hand the extent of the 
redevelopment, to modernise and 
improve the facility.   
 
The committee also visited Tudhoe 
Household Waste Recycling Centre.  

During the committee’s work 
programme, members had raised a  

 
number of questions which they had 
been asked by residents of County 
Durham concerning the operation of 
household recycling centres in the 
county and the facilities offered. The 
visit provided members with the 
opportunity to see the range of waste 
accepted at household waste recycling 
centres, clarification of waste requiring 
a permit and the general operation of 
the centre.  
 
Members of the Children and Young 
People’s OSC continued their practice 
of holding one of their meetings in a 
local school. In November it was the 
turn of Evergreen primary special 
school in Bishop Auckland to host the 
committee. Following the meeting, 
Members were given the opportunity to 
see the excellent facilities at the school 
including the sensory rooms and 
hydrotherapy pool.  
 
Environment and Sustainable 
Communities OSC is the Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Committee for County Durham. It 
meets annually with the Flood Risk 
Management Authorities for County 

Thornley Waste Transfer Station 

Tudhoe Household Waste Recycling 
Centre 

Page 160



 

Durham to determine that they are 
working in partnership and receive 
detail of current and future 
investments. The committee visited 
four flood mitigation schemes which 
had been delivered in the County at 
Lanchester, Witton Gilbert, Waldridge 
and Chester-le-Street town centre.  
 
The Children and Young People’s OSC 
visited the Durham Learning Centre at 

Spennymoor in February 2019. They 
also visited the Durham Learning 
Resource Centre which provides 
quality resources to support learning 
and enjoyment in school.  
 
The Environment and Sustainable 
Communities OSC held their 
scheduled meeting in January 2019 at 
the Gala Theatre in Durham. As part of 
the committee’s work programme they 
had requested an overview of the 
theatre which was opened in 2000. At 
their meeting they received a 
presentation which set out details of the 
theatre’s programme and content, 
performance and impact, current 
pressures and future approach and 

direction. Members also received a tour 
of the theatre’s facilities. 
 

 
 
The Environment and Sustainable 
Communities OSC visiting the 
improved facilities available to 
residents and the trade at Stainton 
Grove Household Waste Recycling 
Centre.  
 
The committee will visit various 
Heritage sites across the county as part 
of their work programme around 
heritage assets. 
 
 

 

Proposed deculverting at the 
Market Place, Chester-le-Street  

Gala Theatre, Durham 

Flood Mitigation Scheme, 
Front Street, Lanchester 

Page 161



 

Impact of 
Overview and 
Scrutiny in 
County Durham  

 
Overview and scrutiny can have a real 
impact in contributing to and helping 
shape policies. 
 
It is integral to the improvement of 
services and plays an important role in 
linking in with regulation and inspection 
regimes. 
 
Cybercrime  
 
 Increased engagement with young 

people on cyber safety.  
 

 Led to development of a video with 
students from New College Durham  
highlighting the consequences of 
hacking. 

 
 A Durham County Council 

apprentice specialising on cyber 
security 

 

 
 

Arson & Deliberate Fires in East 
Durham Area  
 
 Following a request to promote 

confidence to report incidents, 
contributed to the  development of 

the Firestoppers brand with 
Crimestoppers.   

 
 Development of Community Safety 

area within Peterlee fire station as a 
Safety Centre focussed on anti-
social behaviour, firesetter and 
prevention education. 

 
Phasing out of unnecessary single 
use plastics 
 
Comments resulted in additional areas 
in the action plan.  
 
 Development of a communications 

plan. 
 

 The need to continue to offer pricing 
incentives for the use of Single Use 
Plastic (SUPs) alternatives. 

 
 Reconsideration of using SUPs free 

gifts at promotional events. 
 
 Development of a process to collect 

empty crisp packets. 

 
Retail support review recommended:  
 
 Monitoring performance measures 

to protect town centres in the 
emerging County Durham Plan. 

 
 Ensure access to high speed 

broadband in the county. 
 

Page 162



 

 Improve signage and simplify the 
process for organising events in 
town centres. 

 
 Look at how we promote business 

support and rate relief. 
 
 Examine parking provision in all 

large town centres.   
 

 
Ward 6 Bishop Auckland Hospital 
 
Ward 6 Bishop Auckland Hospital 
provides step down care through 24 
inpatient beds which are supported by 
a team of Advanced Nurse 
Practitioners.   
 
Following speculation regarding the 
future of Ward 6, the Chair of the 
AWHOSC wrote to the Chief Executive 
of County Durham and Darlington 
Foundation Trust requesting that the 
proposed consultation and 
engagement regarding the future of the 
ward be paused and the Trust attend 
the committee to clarify the position 
regarding the future of the ward.  
 
The meeting attracted a significant 
amount of public interest with local 
residents, staff, local Councillors and 
representatives from the MP’s office all 
attending.  
 
The Foundation Trust and CCGs 
agreed to undertake further staff and 
patient stakeholder engagement 
activity which would shape future 

models of care for the ward and this is 
due to come back to committee in 
Autumn 2019.  
 
The key impact was that Ward 6 
remained open, continued to accept 
patients and be well utilised. It 
continues to do so until options for 
future services are developed and 
subject to formal consultation. 
 

 
Role of the Social Worker from a 
Child’s Perspective recommended: 
 
 Monitor performance of the number 

of case files of social workers to 
ensure consistency and stability for 
County Durham Children. 
 

 An evaluation is carried out on the 
impact of the new Pre-birth and 
Edge of Care services. 

 
 All members are Corporate Parents 

and receive mandatory training. 
 

 Overview and Scrutiny monitor the 
performance of Durham County 
Council’s Social Worker Academy. 

 
 Consideration is given to the 

establishment and promotion of 
mental health and emotional 
wellbeing of children’s social care 
staff and for supervision to monitor 
staff dealing with highly 
emotive/sensitive cases. 

 
 Children and young people work 

with the service to develop a 
welcome pack for children first 
coming into contact with the service. 

 
 A communication protocol is 

established between social workers 
and children. 

 
 

Bishop Auckland Hospital 

Page 163



 

 
  

Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Management 

Board
(COSMB)

Economy and 
Enterprise 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee
(Economy OSC)

Children and 
Young People 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee
(CYP OSC)

Environment and 
Sustainable 

Communities 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee

(Environment OSC)

Adults, Wellbeing 
and Health 

Overview and 
Scrutiny 

Committee
(AWH OSC)

Safer and 
Stronger 

Communities 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee
(SSC OSC)

Overview and Scrutiny 
in County Durham 

Page 164



 

Constitutional Responsibilities of 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Management Board 
 To oversee and co-ordinate the work of Overview and Scrutiny and its committees 
 To ensure effective liaison across the work of the committees on cross cutting 

issues. 
 To be the strategic driver of the Overview and Scrutiny function. 
 To consider as appropriate scrutiny member involvement in regional scrutiny 

arrangements within the context of any regional strategies. 
 The establishment of appropriate liaison with the Executive in the interests of 

achieving common aims and continuous improvement for the Council 
 To encourage appropriate community involvement in the overview and scrutiny role.  
 Putting the customer first  
 Working with our communities 
 Effective use of resources 
 Support our people through change  

 
Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
 Deliver a clean, more 

attractive and sustainable 
environment 

 Maximise the value and 
benefits of Durham’s natural 
environment. 

 Reduce carbon emissions 
and adapt to the impact of 
climate change (including 
flood or coastal erosion risk 
management functions) 

 Promote sustainable design 
and protect Durham’s 
heritage 

 

 
Safer and Stronger 
Communities 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
 Reduce anti-social 

behaviour 
 Protect vulnerable 

people from harm 
 Reduce re-

offending 
 Alcohol and 

substance misuse 
harm reduction 

 Counter terrorism 
and prevention of 
violent extremism 

 Casualty reduction 
 Embedding Think 

Family approach 
 

 
Children and Young 
People Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee  
 Helping children and 

young people realise 
and maximise their 
potential  

 Helping children and 
young people make 
healthy choices and 
have the best start in 
life 

 A Think Family 
approach is embedded 
in our support for 
families. 
 

Economy & Enterprise 
Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee 
 Thriving Durham City 
 Vibrant and successful town 
 Sustainable neighbourhoods 

and rural communities 
 Competitive and successful 

people 
 A top location for business 

 

Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
 Reduce health inequalities and early deaths 
 Improve the quality of life, independence and 

care and support for people with long term 
conditions 

 Improve the mental health and physical 
wellbeing of the population 

 Supporting people to die in the place of their 
choice with the care and support they need 

 

Page 165



 

Corporate 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Management 
Board  
 

       
 
Cllr Rob Crute Cllr Andrea Patterson 
Chair                         Vice-Chair  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 In depth scrutiny of the Council’s 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
2019/2020 – 2022/2023 (MTFP 9), 
and revenue and capital budget 
proposals for 2019/2020 to make 
sure that the council’s resources are 
used effectively and efficiently. 

 
 Comments from COSMB meetings 

scrutinising the proposed financial 
plans were fed back to cabinet as 
part of the consultation process in 
setting the budget.  

 
 COSMB receive quarterly reports 

on the council’s use of powers 
under the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA) 
2000.  

 
 Received quarterly reports on 

performance management; forecast 
revenue and capital outturn for 
Transformation and Partnerships 
and Resources; Customer 
Feedback: Complaints, 
Compliments and Suggestions. 

 
 Received updates on the council’s 

Transformation Programme, 
Delivery of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan 8, the CRM system 
and Members Portal. 

 
Continued to receive regular updates 
on: 
 Petitions. 
 Council’s Notice of Key Decisions - 

to ensure that members are aware 
of key decisions to be made by 
Cabinet, and to provide information 
on any scrutiny involvement. 

 Work programme activity from each 
of the overview and scrutiny 
committee chairs. 
 

COSMB also has responsibility to 
consider reviewing the council’s 
response to petitions where the petition 
organisers have appealed in 
accordance with the Petition 
Procedure. 
 
COSMB led a workshop for all 
overview and scrutiny members and 
co-optees considering the emerging 
findings for the draft County Durham 
Vision. Members contributed to 
shaping the ambitions within the 
refreshed Vision.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

All the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees monitor performance 
and revenue and capital 
expenditure through performance 
management and budgetary 
reports on a quarterly basis. 

The Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board 
(COSMB) provides a strategic 
direction for the work of all the 
overview and scrutiny 
committees. Its work programme 
for 2018/19 included: 

 

Page 166



 

Adults, 
Wellbeing and 
Health Overview 
and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

      
 
Cllr John Robinson    Cllr Jean Chaplow 
Chair     Vice-Chair 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 Reviewed annual reports and 

performance information in respect 
of County Durham HealthWatch, 
Local Safeguarding Adults Board 
and the County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

 
 Received information on NHS 

Service reviews and, where 
appropriate, as statutory consultees 
commented upon the proposals and 
associated communications and 
engagement plans. These included 
a review of stroke rehabilitation 
services in County Durham and 
Darlington, the future of ward six at 
Bishop Auckland Hospital and the 

NHS England Review of Vascular 
Services. The committee also 
considered the review of extended 
and enhanced primary care 
services across Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG and 
proposals to change the delivery of 
GP services at a number of GP 
practices within the county. The 
AWH OSC also received 
communication and engagement 
plans relating to services delivered 
at Shotley Bridge Community 
Hospital. 

 
 Continued the examination of the 

Sustainability and Transformation 
Plans covering County Durham – 
the Northumberland, Tyne and 
Wear and North Durham STP and 
the Durham, Darlington and 
Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby STP, via 
associated Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee arrangements.  

 
Considered update reports in respect 
of: 
 
 Public Health Services 
 Adult and Health Services 
 Community Hospitals in County 

Durham 
 North Durham and DDES CCG 

operational plans 
 Integrated Sexual Health Services 
 North East Ambulance Service NHS 

Foundation Trust – Performance 
against the new  National 
Ambulance Standards 

 Durham Health and Wellbeing 
System Plan 2019/20 - Adults 

 DDES CCG Accident and 
Emergency Ambulance Service 
Review – post implementation 
update 

 NHS Foundation Trusts’ – Quality 
Accounts 2018/19 

 

The Adults, Wellbeing and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(AWH OSC) has a statutory role 
under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2001 as amended to scrutinise 
local health services.  This 
committee is aligned to the 
Altogether Healthier priority theme. 
and has: 

Page 167



 

Children and 
Young People’s 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
 

   
 
Cllr Christine Potts   Cllr Heather Smith 
Chair                 Vice-Chair       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CYP OSC has scrutinised Annual 
Reports from the Director of Public 
Health; and the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board; the Health and 
Wellbeing Board; Corporate Parenting 
Panel. 

 
The committee has undertaken review 
activity looking at Children’s 
Residential Care Homes including a 
focus group session with young people 
in private residential care homes. 
 
CYP OSC considered the Joint 
Targeted Area Inspection Action Plan 
and the work of the ERASE Team 
jointly with colleagues from Safer 
Stronger Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. 

 
The Committee has also received a 
progress update on recommendations 
of the take up of Free School Meals 
and the holiday provision review. 

 
In addition CYP OSC has received 
updates on: 
 

o School Funding 
o Neglect in County Durham 
o The work of the Healthy Weight 

Alliance 
o Educational Attainment 
o Growing Healthy 0-19 
o Summary of Ofsted Results in 

County Durham Maintained 
Schools 

 
 Received summary of minutes from 

Children and Families Partnership. 
 

 Held a committee meeting in a 
school and visited Durham Learning 
Resource. 
 

 Greater liaison between Children 
and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and Corporate 
Parenting Panel. 

 
The committee has also received 
information on: 
 
 The Child Protection Offer. 

 
 Participation in Learning. 
 
 Child Poverty. 
 
 Evaluation of the Edge of Care and 

Pre-Birth Teams. 
 
 Children and Young People’s 

Mental Health Draft Local 
Transformation Plan 2018-2020. 

 
 SEND Inclusion and Exclusion. 

Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(CYP OSC) is aligned to Altogether 
Better for Children and Young 
People priority theme in the 
Council Plan.  

Page 168



 

Economy and 
Enterprise 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee 
  

   
 
Cllr Alison Batey     Cllr Malcolm Clarke 
Chair                         Vice-Chair   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The committee has received progress 
updates and commented on key 
developments and the direction of 
travel in relation to:  
 
 The EU funding programme. 
 Regional Funding and investment 

pipeline for County Durham.  
 Regional and local transport 

provision. 
 Homelessness Strategy.  
 DurhamWorks Programme. 
 Digital Durham Programme.  
 Government’s Industrial Strategy. 
 
The Economy OSC has received 
detailed information on the: 
 
 Tackling Empty Properties Project.  
 The work of the North East LEP.  

 The development of the Local 
Industrial Strategy.  

 
Annually, the committee considers the 
work undertaken by the County 
Durham Economic Partnership, 
Business Durham and Visit County 
Durham. 

 
They have received information on: 
  
 The development of a Selective 

Licensing scheme.  
 The further development of the 

‘second round’ programme of 
Masterplans.  

 Skills Strategy for County Durham. 
 
The committee has also held 
workshops providing further 
opportunities for Durham County 
Council’s members and co-optees to 
feed into the consultation stages of 
both the County Durham Plan (the local 
plan for County Durham) and the 
Housing Strategy. Some of the key 
comments made included: 
 
 The need to ensure infrastructure is 

in place for strategic employment 
sites and proposed housing 
developments in the county.  

 Ensure the mix of housing 
developments meet the 
requirements of local residents. 

 Need to look at bringing more empty 
homes back into use through 
enforcement action. 

 Need to consider the development 
of an Affordable Homes Strategy. 

 Support for the introduction of a 
Countywide Selective Licensing 
Scheme. 
 

Economy OSC received an update on 
the recommendations of the Skills 
Development scrutiny review and 
received minutes from the County 
Durham Economic Partnership. 

Economy and Enterprise Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Economy 
OSC) is aligned to the Altogether 
Wealthier priority team in the Council 
Plan.   

Page 169



 

Environment 
and Sustainable 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  
 

      
 
Cllr Eddy Adam       Cllr Olga Milburn 
Chair                         Vice-Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Environment OSC received an 
update on the progress of 
recommendations on the management 
of Durham County Council’s woodland 
estate. 
 
The committee has considered 
information on the Stockton to 
Darlington Bicentennial Celebrations, 

Single Use Plastics and Highways and 
Bridge Maintenance. 
 
They received an overview on 
Sustainable Heating, the Gala Theatre, 
Leisure Works, the council’s Tree 
Management Policy and Tree 
Maintenance and the Heritage Coast. 

 
The Environment OSC has received 
minutes from: 
 
 The County Durham Environmental 

Partnership.  
 The Durham Strategic Flood Group.  
 Northumbria Regional Flood and 

Coastal Committee. 
 
The committee is the Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Committee for County Durham and 
receives an update on the work of the 
Flood Risk Management Authorities for 
County Durham on an annual basis. 
This update focuses on: 
 
 Flood mitigation work currently 

being undertaken within County 
Durham by the Flood Risk 
Management Authorities for County 
Durham. 

 Future flood mitigation work to be 
undertaken and detail of funding. 

 Any issues identified by the Flood 
Risk Management Authorities in 
relation to flood mitigation 
schemes/projects within the county. 

 The committee also received detail 
of the water management policies in 
the emerging County Durham Plan. 

 
The committee also receives regular 
updates on the European Structure and 
Investment Funding programme, 
Carbon Management Plan, Climate 
Change and delivery plan, fuel poverty 
projects and the winter maintenance 
programme. 
 

The Environment and Sustainable 
Communities Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Environment 
OSC) has statutory responsibility 
under the Localism Act 2011 as 
amended to scrutinise flooding and 
coastal risk management functions 
of the council and external bodies 
(Environment Agency and 
Northumbrian Water Ltd.)  This 
committee is aligned to the 
Altogether Greener priority theme 
in the Council Plan.   

 

Page 170



 

Safer & Stronger 
Communities 
Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee  
 

   
 
Cllr David Boyes        Cllr Heather Liddle    
Chair                            Vice-Chair   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Committee has commenced 
review activity on development of a 
County Durham road safety strategy 
and worked with Children & Young 
People’s OSC on Children’s 
Residential Care Homes.   
 
SSC OSC has received reports on the 
progress of recommendations from 
review activity of: 
 Arson and deliberate fires in the 

east Durham area 

 Alcohol and its demand on 
emergency services  

 Safe and Wellbeing Visits  
 Cybercrime  
 20 mph Limits  
 
The committee has received reports 
and provided a response to respective 
Portfolio Holders and/or Partnership 
leads on: 
 Arson and deliberate fires  
 Safer Durham Partnership Board 

update  
 Joint Target Area Inspection report 

on domestic abuse (joint with CYP 
OSC)  

 ERASE – Child Sexual Exploitation 
( joint with CYP OSC)  

 
SSC OSC has considered and 
commented on reports and 
presentations including: 
 Open Water Safety 
 Local Multi Agency Problem Solving 

– mapping  
 Probation Services 
 Hate Crime 
 Casualty Reduction Partnership 
 Drug & Alcohol Recovery Services  
 Youth Justice Plan 
 Consumer Protection enforcement 

activity 
 Durham Police and Crime Panel      
 
They have responded to consultation 
on County Durham and Darlington Fire 
& Rescue Service Integrated Risk 
Management Plans.  

 
The committee have monitored 
quarterly performance reports and 
provided acknowledgment of high 
performance areas and included 
performance challenges within its work 
programme. 
 
SSC OSC held development sessions 
on recorded crime and management of 
registered sex offenders.  

The Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (SSC OSC) has powers 
under the Police and Justice Act 
2006 as amended to scrutinise work 
being undertaken by the statutory 
crime and disorder reduction 
partnership; the Safe Durham 
Partnership.  The committee is 
aligned to the Altogether Safer 
priority theme in the Council Plan.  

Page 171



 

Regional 
Scrutiny 
 
The North East Regional Employers’ 
Organisation supports a region-wide 
North East Joint Scrutiny 
Member/Officer network where all 
twelve North East local authority 
scrutiny leads discuss national 
developments in scrutiny.  
 
The network also provides an 
opportunity to share work programmes 
and priorities and consider emerging 
issues that have an impact across local 
authority boundaries.  
 
North East Combined Authority 
(NECA) scrutiny arrangements  
 
The North East Combined Authority 
(NECA) has agreed three broad areas 
of focus: 
 
 Transport 

 
 Employability and Inclusion 
 
 Economic Development and 

Regeneration 
 

In November 2018 a North of Tyne 
Combined Authority was created made 
up of Newcastle, North Tyneside and 
Northumberland councils. As a result 
NECA changed its boundaries and is 
now comprised of the four councils of 
Durham, Gateshead, South Tyneside 
and Sunderland.  
 
Governance arrangements for NECA 
include an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee which enables local 
councillors, on behalf of their 
communities, to scrutinise and 
challenge all matters within its remit.  
 

The committee investigates matters of 
significant importance to residents 
across the areas covered by the four 
councils with a view to influencing 
decisions. 
 
Durham County Council is represented 
on the NECA Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee by Councillors Rob Crute 
and Andrea Patterson, the Chair and 
Vice-Chair of COSMB. Councillors 
Alison Batey and Malcolm Clarke, the 
Chair and Vice-Chair of Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
the nominated substitute members. 
 
As transport is of such strategic 
importance to the North East, both 
NECA and the North of Tyne Combined 
Authority work collaboratively to ensure 
effective decision making across the 
region takes place.   
 
A Joint Transport Committee Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee has been 
established with representatives from 
all seven authorities. Councillors Rob 
Crute and Andrea Patterson, the Chair 
and Vice-Chair of COSMB represent 
Durham County Council. Councillors 
Alison Batey and Malcolm Clarke, 
Chair and Vice-Chair of Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
the nominated substitute members. 
 
Both scrutiny committees meet at 
varying locations across the NECA 
area and meetings are open to the 
public.  
 
Further details on NECA can be found 
at www.northeastca.gov.uk . 
 
Regional Health Scrutiny 
 

The Council continues to work 
collaboratively at a regional level to 
ensure that the impact of changes to 
health services across local authority 

Page 172



 

boundaries does not adversely impact 
upon residents of County Durham.  
The North East Regional Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee consists of lead 
Health Scrutiny members from all 12 
north east local authorities. 
 
The committee is charged with 
scrutinising issues around the 
planning, provision and operation of 
health services in and across the north 
east region, comprising for these 
purposes the areas covered by all 
constituent authorities.  
 
During 2018/19, the committee has 
examined: 
 
 NHS England – North East and 

Cumbria specialised commissioning 
updates regarding Neonatal 
services; Neonatal transport; 
Congenital Heart Disease Review 
and Vascular services. 
 

 The North East and Cumbria 
Learning Disabilities Fast Track 
Transformation Plan. 

 
 Updates from the Northumberland, 

Tyne and Wear and North Durham 
STP Joint Health OSC and the 
Durham, Darlington and Teesside, 
Hambleton, Richmondshire and 
Whitby STP Joint Health OSC. 

 
 NEAS Quality Accounts and 

performance updates including the 
new National Ambulance response 
standards. 

 
 The expansion of Pharmacy First 

Services. 
 

 The development of an Integrated 
Care System. 

 

 The provision of Translation and 
Interpretation Services relating to 
Health Services. 

 
Following the publication of NHS 
Sustainability and Transformation 
Plans nationally, there are two sub-
regional Joint STP Scrutiny 
Committees covering the 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear and 
North Durham STP and the Durham, 
Darlington and Teesside, Hambleton, 
Richmondshire and Whitby STP.  
 
Durham County Council is the only 
North East Council with 
representatives that sit on both STP 
Joint OSCs reflecting the fact that 
County Durham is covered by two 
STPs. 
 
It is envisaged that much of this 
regional and sub-regional health 
scrutiny work will roll forward into 
2019/20. 
 
The regional and sub-regional joint 
scrutiny overview and scrutiny 
arrangements will be used to scrutinise 
the development of sustainability and 
transformation plans and any 
associated proposals for substantial 
developments or significant variations 
in services arising out of these plans. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Page 173



 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Team  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny team is part 
of the Transformation and Partnerships 
Directorate which leads on the 
Transformation Programme, 
performance management and 
improvement, communications, 
consultation and engagement, 
partnership working, equalities and 
diversity and information management, 
as well as the Council’s Area Action 
Partnerships and emergency planning 
functions.  
 
Jenny Haworth, the Head of Strategy is 
designated as the Statutory Scrutiny 
Officer. 
 
Tom Gorman is the Corporate Scrutiny 
and Strategy Manager and Stephen 
Gwillym the Principal Overview and 
Scrutiny Officer. 
 
Diane Close, Jonathan Slee and Ann 
Whitton are Overview and Scrutiny 
Officers. Clare Luery is the Scrutiny 
Support Assistant. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Scrutiny office contacts 
 
Tel:   03000 265978  
Email:  scrutiny@durham.gov.uk 
Website: www.durham.gov.uk 
Twitter: 

 
@DurhamCouncil 
#LocalDemocracy 

 
Key contacts: 
 
Adults, Health and Wellbeing Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee  
Stephen Gwillym Tel: 03000 26814 
stephen.gwillym@durham.gov.uk 
 
Children and Young People Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
Ann Whitton       Tel: 03000 268143 
ann.whitton@durham.gov.uk 
 
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board 
Clare Luery        Tel:  03000 265978 
clare.luery@durham.gov.uk 
 
Economy and Enterprise Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
Diane Close       Tel: 03000 268141 
diane.close@durham.gov.uk 
 
Environment and Sustainability Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee 
Ann Whitton/Diane Close 
ann.whitton@durham.gov.uk &     
diane.close@durham.gov.uk 
 
Safer Stronger Communities Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee 
Jonathan Slee   Tel: 03000 268142 
jonathan.slee@durham.gov.uk 

Page 174



County Council

17 July 2019

County Durham Youth Justice Plan 
2019 - 2021

Report of Corporate Management Team

Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services

Councillor Olwyn Gunn, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children & 
Young People’s Services

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1 This report presents the Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 and highlights 

some of the key achievements in reducing re-offending during 2018/19.  
The report also provides the areas for improvement that the service will 
focus upon during the next period, as set out in the Service 
Improvement Plan (Appendix 4 of the Youth Justice Plan).

Executive summary
2 Production of a Youth Justice Plan is a statutory requirement of the 

local authority under the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 and is one of the 
requirements of the Youth Justice Board (YJB) for England and Wales 
grant for Youth Offending Teams (YOTs).  The report must be 
submitted to the YJB by 5 August 2019 and will then undergo an 
approval process (with feedback) before finally being distributed to 
relevant bodies.  

3 The YJB provide YOTs with detailed guidance on the headings within 
the plan and the areas to be covered within each heading.  Essentially, 
the plan is in two parts; a review of performance and activity for 2018-
2019, and improvement plans, staffing and budgets for 2019-2020.  The 
YJB welcomes plans that cover more than one year with the proviso 
that an annual refresh will be submitted which provides an update of 
key information, particularly in relation to finance and governance.  

4 A copy of the Youth Justice Plan is attached at Appendix 2 for the 
approval of Cabinet. 

Page 175

Agenda Item 11



Recommendation
5 Subject to Cabinet approval, County Council are recommended to:

(a) note the contents of this report; and

(b) receive the Youth Justice Plan 2019/21 and performance 
summary for the period 2018/19.

Page 176



Background
6 Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are statutory partnerships, established 

under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, with the principal aim of 
preventing offending by children and young people.  Local Authorities 
are responsible for establishing a Youth Offending Team.  Police, 
National Probation Service (NPS) and Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) are statutorily required to assist in their funding and operation.

7 Local authorities continue to have a statutory duty to submit an annual 
youth justice plan relating to their provision of youth justice services.  
Section 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out the youth 
offending partnership’s responsibilities in producing this plan.  It states 
that it is the duty of each local authority, after consultation with the 
partner agencies, to formulate and implement an annual youth justice 
plan, setting out:

(a) how youth justice services in their area are to be provided and 
funded; and 

(b) how the YOT will be composed and funded, how it will operate, 
and what functions it will carry out.

8 The Youth Justice Board (YJB) for England and Wales welcomes plans 
that cover more than one year with the proviso that an annual refresh 
will be submitted which provides an update of key information, 
particularly in relation to finance and governance.  

9 This current plan covers performance for the period 2018/19 and 
provides service budgets, operational and strategic developments within 
the service and partnership, service structure and the Service 
Improvement Plan for 2019 – 2021.

10 In accordance with statutory requirements the plan was approved by the 
County Durham Youth Offending Service (CDYOS) Management Board 
on 21 May 2018.

11 The Youth Justice Plan must be submitted to the YJB and published in 
accordance with the directions of the Secretary of State.  The deadline 
for submission this year is 5 August 2019.  After submission to the YJB, 
Youth Justice Plans are sent to Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation 
(HMIP - lead for YOS inspections) and are placed in the House of 
Commons library.

Youth Justice Plan 2019 – 2021
12 The plan outlines how the CDYOS will: 

(a) reduce First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System;

Page 177



(b) reduce re-offending by young people; and 

(c) reduce the use of custody for both sentenced and remanded 
young people.

We are seeking to do this through:

(i) improving how we communicate with young people and the 
interventions we complete with them;

(ii) putting victims, including young victims, and restorative 
justice at the heart of everything we do;

(iii) reducing re-offending by targeting our resources on those 
young people committing the most offences and improving 
their engagement in opportunities for education, employment 
and training;

(iv) ensuring we have robust quality assurance and staff 
management processes in place and a skilled management 
team to manage those processes;

(v) ensuring we listen and respond to what young people and 
their families are telling us;

(vi) ensuring volunteering, by both adults and young people, is a 
key component of the work we undertake with young people 
and victims; and 

(vii) ensuring that case management systems and administration 
support provide the highest quality support to staff and 
managers in the delivery of services to courts, communities 
and young people.

13 HMI Probation are currently one year into a four-year inspection cycle; 
CDYOS and partnership are yet to be inspected under the current cycle.  
An Inspection Framework for Youth Offending Services was published 
in March 2018, which sets clear standards expected of Youth Offending 
Teams (YOTs), to ensure the provision of a high quality, personalised 
and responsive service for all children and young people.  Whilst there 
are many aspects of good performance contained within the current 
plan, the service is not complacent and is fully aware of the areas where 
practice needs to change and performance improve. 

14 We have completed a robust, detailed self-assessment against the 
published inspection standards.  This work has informed our ongoing 
quality improvement plans and the Service Improvement Plan for 
2019/20. 

Page 178



15 As part of the commitment to our long-held approach of ‘children first 
and foremost’, during 2019/20 we will be changing our name to County 
Durham Youth Justice Service.  This better represents the work of the 
service, presents a more positive image and underlines that young 
people who offend are not just offenders but have a range of attributes, 
skills and issues.

Key Achievements 2018/19
16 Four key achievements have been identified for the period 2018/19 and 

are outlined in the executive summary of the plan: 

(a) Performance against National Outcome Measures 2018/19

(i) First Time Entrants to the Youth Justice System (FTEs): 
Between October 2017 and September 2018 the rate of 
FTE per 100,000 10-17 population in County Durham is 
250.  This has reduced from 324 in the previous year.  The 
rate is slightly higher than the national rate of 248 but is 
significantly lower than the North East Regional rate which 
is 329.  

(ii) Re-offending

Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (April 2016 – March 2017 
cohort) shows a re-offending rate of 41.4% which is a 
10.8% reduction compared to the previous year.  This is 
higher than the England rate which is 40.9% but below the 
North East rate which is 41.8%.  It should be noted, 
however, that given the consistently reducing size of the 
cohort of young people entering the youth justice system, 
the reoffending figure can vary considerably when 
compared to previous years.

(iii) Use of Custody

Custodial Sentences:
The CDYOS performance remains on par with previous 
years with a rate per 1,000 10-17 years of 0.42 during 
January - December 2018.  This is higher than both the 
National and North East averages with rates of 0.32 and 
0.30 respectively.

Remand Bed Nights: 679
This is a 62% increase on the previous year.  This is 
despite their being a reduction in both the number of young 
people being remanded to youth detention accommodation 
and the number of episodes, when compared to the 

Page 179



previous year – 14 to 11 young people and 22 to 13 
episodes.  The increase in bed nights is due to most 
remands being for a significantly longer period (more bed 
nights) than those in the previous year.

(b) Co-Commissioned Health Model:

During 2018/19 we have managed to ‘mainstream’ the funding for 
most of the health staff within the Service.  The Health Team 
based in CDYOS comprises Public Health Nurse, Clinical 
Psychologist, Speech Language Therapists, Substance Misuse 
Specialists, and Mental Health Specialists.  All posts, with the 
exception of the Clinical Psychologist post (funded through NHS 
England Clinical Collaborative Commissioning Network) are now 
funded through the various mainstream commissions.  This has 
provided a stable base from which we can plan future 
developments.  This work has also been recognised nationally 
through the MJ Local Government Achievement awards where it 
was a finalist in the care and health integration category.  

(c) Work With Victims, including Young Victims:

Our work with the victims of youth crime has engaged over 130 
victims in restorative approaches.  In particular, our work with 
young people who are the victims of youth crime has provided 
dedicated support and an opportunity to re-build and restore 
confidence.  The support group for young victims of all crime 
(‘With Youth in Mind’) has continued to develop and is now 
working with an average of 35 young people at any one time 
throughout the year.  Young people who offend have also 
engaged in almost 3,000 hours of unpaid work in and across 
communities in County Durham as a means of reparation.

(d) Targeting those young people committing the most offences

The Service has continued to prioritise our work with young 
people who are persistently offending.  The Service operates an 
enhanced, intensive, case management model for this cohort of 
young people.  Each case is reviewed monthly by a panel chaired 
by the YOS Manager.  The Service is developing a partnership-
based trauma recovery model of enhanced case management for 
this cohort of young people.  Monitoring of this work has 
continued to show that whilst significant reductions in offending 
are difficult to achieve, it is possible to have a meaningful impact 
in reducing both the frequency and seriousness of offending for 
this cohort.

Page 180



Background papers
 None

Other useful documents
 None

Contact: Martyn Stenton Tel:  03000 268 067

Page 181



Appendix 1:  Implications

Legal Implications
The Youth Justice Plan ensures Durham County Council and statutory 
partners meet their legal implications to the partnership. Statutory 
requirements placed on the YOS and the Management Board include: 
Complying with the statutory requirements laid out in s.38 to 40 of the Crime 
and Disorder Act 1998, and other relevant sections of the Act; Complying with 
National Standards (NS) for Youth Justice (including returning the annual 
National Standards audit); Submitting required data to the YJB in adherence 
with the relevant YJB data recording guidance; Approving the annual Youth 
Justice Plan.

Finance
The Youth Justice Plan contains CDYOS partnership pooled budget and staff 
secondment arrangements for 2019/20.  CDYOS budget comprises 
partnership funding, YJB funding and specific grant funding.  The budget 
allocation is reviewed annually by CDYOS Management Board and all 
partners (Police, Probation, Health (CCGs) and Local Authority) agree funding 
contributions for the following year. Under the terms of the Crime & Disorder 
Act 1998; DCC, Durham Constabulary, National Probation Service and CCGs 
are required to both contribute staff and provide funding for a pooled budget 
for operating costs. The total budget for CDYOS for 2019/20 is £2,657,036.  
The total budget for CDYOS includes the cost of staff seconded to CDYOS 
from partners.

Consultation
CDYOS Management Board, partners, staff, young people, parents/carers 
have been consulted.  There is no requirement for a general public 
consultation.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
An Equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken in February 2018 as part of 
the preparations for the restructure of CDYOS. This ensured that development 
of the new structure and the development of that structure for CDYOS met all 
requirements and was conducted in a way that ensured equality and 
considered diversity. In addition, CDYOS is committed to meeting the needs 
of the young people, families and victims with whom we work. All staff have 
undertaken specialist diversity training for youth offending, SLCN training and, 
in addition, case managers have undertaken specialist diversity training for 

Page 182



assessments. Diversity issues are a specific category on the checklist used by 
managers to countersign assessments and intervention plans.

Human Rights
Not Applicable

Crime and Disorder
The statutory function of CDYOS partnership is the prevention of offending by 
children and young people (Crime and Disorder Act 1998).  The Youth Justice 
Plan provides detail on how the partnership will undertake those functions.

Staffing
Staff establishment is included in the plan, in line with YJB requirements.

Accommodation
All managers and staff in CDYOS have been based from DCC, Crook from 
26.4.18. The service will also use a satellite base, for meetings, interviews, for 
example, at Belmont until that lease expires in March 2019.

Risk
Risks to future delivery have been considered and are included in the plan.

Procurement
Not applicable

Page 183



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT
County Durham

Youth Justice Plan
 2019 - 2021

DRAFT
County Durham

Youth Justice Plan
2019 - 2021

Page 185



County Durham Youth Offending Service

2

It is our pleasure to present the County Durham Youth Justice Plan 2019 - 2021. This statutory plan reviews 
the work of the service over the last year and sets out our agreed partnership priorities. It follows a similar 
format to our last plan which was well received across the partnership.

County Durham Youth Offending Service (CDYOS) continues to achieve positive outcomes. Since 2013/14, 
the number of young people entering the criminal justice system has reduced by 46%.  We feel this 
represents continued effective joint work from staff in the service working closely with the police and other 
partners.  We know that for most young people this will be their only involvement with the youth justice 
system and that they will not be in trouble again.  Through our work with them, we want to do the best we 
can to help them to move on to lead fulfilling adult lives.

In recent years the number of young people committing offences and the number of offences committed 
have both reduced. That means there are fewer victims too which is good news for our community as a 
whole.  We know though that crime can have a big impact on people and we continue to put a lot of effort 
into work with the victims of youth crime and support restorative approaches where possible.  

The plan covers a number of the achievements of the service.  This included the success of our co-
commissioned health team which is a finalist in the MJ Local Government Awards 2019; our work with 
young victims of crime; our parenting support for parents who are victims of their own children’s offending; 
our volunteer programme, including young volunteers working as mentors for young victims and the award 
of Investor in Children status for the whole service.

As a service and a local partnership we are not complacent. There are clearly further improvements to be 
achieved and there are challenges ahead to ensure that the outcomes delivered by the partnership make a 
real difference locally and support service improvement both regionally and nationally. The Service 
Improvement Plan in Appendix 4 lays out the main focus for service improvement work over the year 
ahead.

These achievements, and the drive to improve, would not be possible without the full and active 
engagement of a wide range of partners, committed to working together to meet the needs of young people 
who offend, victims and communities.  We would like to thank the partners who make up the Youth 
Offending Service for their continued commitment of time, expertise and resources.

All public services continue to face challenges from funding pressures, and CDYOS is no exception. 
However, the service is well placed to deliver realistic priorities for the future, building on firm foundations 
and with support from our funding partners.

We are committed to working together to ensure the outcomes achieved by CDYOS continue to improve 
over the forthcoming years.  During 2019/20, CDYOS will change its name to County Durham Youth 
Justice Service. It is felt this name better reflects the strategic purpose of the service and better reflects 
that young people who offend are first and foremost young people with a range of attributes, skills and 
issues. We see this as a way of trying to more accurately describe the work the service does and this will 
not mean a reduction in the core focus of the service.

Martyn Stenton (Chair of CDYOS Management Board)
Head of Service Early Help, Inclusion & Vulnerable Children
Children & Young People Service
Durham County Council

Councillor Olwyn Gunn
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children & Young People
Durham County Council

Foreword 

Page 186



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

3

Contents

Executive Summary 4

Introduction 7

Structures and Governance 8

Resources and Value for Money 10

Partnership Arrangements 14

Risks to Future Delivery against Youth Justice Outcome Measures 17

Appendix 1:  Approval of Strategic Plan                                                             20

Appendix 2:  Review of Performance Against the Key Indicators 21

Appendix 3: CDYOS Budget 2019/20 24

Appendix 4: Service Improvement Plan 2019/20 25

Appendix 5: Service Structure 2019/20 26

Appendix 6: CDYOS Statutory Functions 27

Appendix 7: Glossary 28

Appendix 8: Contact Details 30

Page 187



County Durham Youth Offending Service

4

Executive Summary

The Youth Justice Plan 2019/20 highlights work 
done to date, and key achievements and 
outcomes for 2018/19. It outlines key priorities, 
budget, staffing, service developments and the 
service improvement plan for 2019/20.

Our Key Achievements:

1. National Outcome Measures 2018/19

Reducing First Time Entrants to the 
Youth Justice System (FTEs): 
Between October 2017 and September 
2018 the rate of FTEs per 100,000 10-17 
years population in County Durham is 
250, which is slightly higher than the 
national average rate of 248. The County 
Durham rate is significantly lower than the 
North East average at 329.  

Reducing Re-offending
Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (April 2016 
– March 2017 cohort) shows a re-
offending rate of 41.4% which is a 10.8% 
reduction compared to the previous year.  
This is higher than the National average 
rate of 40.9% but lower than the North 
East average rate of 41.8%.
Given the consistently reducing size of 
the cohort of young people entering the 
youth justice system, the reoffending 
figure can vary considerably when 
compared to previous years.

Reducing the Use of Custody
Custodial Sentences: 
The CDYOS performance remains on par 
with previous years with a rate per 1,000 
10-17 years of 0.42 during January– 
December 2018.  This is higher than both 
the National and North East averages 
with rates of 0.32 and 0.30 respectively. 
On each occasion a young person is 
sentenced to custody, the work of 
CDYOS is reviewed to ensure all 
appropriate work was undertaken.

Remand Bed Nights: 679
This is a 62% increase on the previous 
year. This is despite their being a 
reduction in both the number of young 
people being remanded to youth 
detention accommodation and the 
number of episodes when compared to 
the previous year – 14 to 11 young people 
and 22 to 13 episodes. The increase in 
bed nights is due to most remands being 
for a significantly longer period (more bed 

nights) than those in the previous year. 
Within year, remand numbers varies 
considerably. For example there were 0 
remands between December 2018 and 
April 2019.

Appendix 2 provides more details to illustrate 
the above information.

2. Co-Commissioned Health Model:
During 2018/19 we have managed to 
‘mainstream’ the funding for most of the 
health staff within the Service. The Health 
Team based in CDYOS comprises Public 
Health Nurse, Clinical Psychologist, Speech 
Language Therapists, Substance Misuse 
Specialists, and Mental Health Specialists. 
Each post (with the exception of the 
Psychologist) is now funded through the 
various mainstream commissions. This has 
provided a stable base from which we can 
plan future developments.

3. Work With Victims, including Young 
Victims:
Our work with the victims of youth crime has 
engaged over 130 victims in restorative 
approaches.  In particular, our work with 
young people who are the victims of youth 
crime has provided dedicated support and 
an opportunity to re-build and restore 
confidence.  The support group for young 
victims of all crime (‘With Youth in Mind’) 
has continued to develop and is now 
working with an average of 35 young people 
at any one time throughout the year. Young 
people who offend have also engaged in 
almost 3,000 hours of unpaid work in and 
across communities in County Durham as a 
means of reparation.

4. Targeting those young people 
committing the most offences
The Service has continued to prioritise our work 
with young people who are persistently 
offending. The Service operates an enhanced, 
intensive, case management model for this 
cohort of young people. Each case is reviewed 
monthly by a panel chaired by the YOS 
Manager. The Service is developing, in 
conjunction with CAMHS & CYPS, a trauma 
recovery model of enhanced case management 
for this cohort of young people. Monitoring of 
this work has continued to show that whilst 
significant reductions in offending are difficult to 
achieve, it is possible to have a meaningful 

Page 188



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

5

impact in reducing both the frequency and 
seriousness of offending. 

 

The work carried out during 2018/19 which 
has supported our Key Achievements has 
been:-

Reducing First Time Entrants (FTEs)
 Reviewed the assessment tool used for young 

people subject to an out of court disposal and 
introduced a reduced version of asset plus.

 Introduced the availability of more than one 
PCD

 Introduced, with colleagues from Durham 
Constabulary, a scrutiny process for out of 
court decision making involving a community 
member

 Developed the out of court work quality 
assurance process;

 Undertook a self-assessment based on HMIP 
inspection domains

 Developed and completed an improvement 
plan based on the self-assessment

Reducing Re-offending
 Ensured that all intervention plans, where 

appropriate, are developed in conjunction 
with other planning processes in CYPS

 Continued to work with colleagues in 
residential homes to reduce offending by 
Looked After Children (LAC);

 Researched and developed a profile for young 
people who are persistent offenders to 
improve our targeting of interventions

 Developed the reoffending panel to review the 
cases of young people in the reoffending 
cohort;

 Reviewed and improved our screening of 
communication needs of all young people we 
work with;

 Improved staff’s confidence in working with 
young people’s emotional and mental health 
needs through training and mentoring;

 Developed our health team and developed 
working links with other parts of the service 
and with other partner agencies

 Developed our work with young people who 
display harmful sexual behaviours and 
ensured staff were appropriately confident and 
skilled;

 Provided both targeted and service-wide 
training for staff based on outcomes of quality 
assurance processes and quality 
improvement plans

 Undertook improvement actions as a result of 
JTAI Inspection (Domestic Abuse).

 Improved communication with the MASH by 
appointing 2 x SPOCs.

Reducing Use of Custody

 Reviewed all cases where a custodial 
sentence was imposed and looked for 
learning opportunities;

 Reviewed, in conjunction with colleagues from 
Durham Constabulary, the process for transfer 
to Local Authority under PACE;

 Received feedback from Magistrates in 
respect of the service provided by CDYOS in 
court and jointly developed areas for 
improvement/review;

 Maintained a 6 day per week service, 
including  experienced court officers  available 
for Saturdays and Bank Holiday special 
courts;

 Maintained dedicated management cover for 
a 6 days per week service.

 Researched and reviewed the use of breach 
and resentencing to ensure it provides the 
highest quality service to young people

Work with Victims, including Young Victims
 Continued to improve the involvement of 

victims in deciding the type of reparation work 
to be undertaken;

 Undertook research into take-up of services 
by victims and developed an improvement 
plan based on this research;

 Expanded and embedded our programme for 
parents who are victims of their child’s 
offending;

 Reviewed and amended processes to improve 
the service we offer to victims and young 
people who offend through our restorative 
justice work;

 Further developed our group of  mentors and 
‘leaders’ all of whom are young people who 
have been victims of crime and expanded 
both the group size and the range of activities 
on offer;

 Improved the range of volunteering 
opportunities and the link between wider 
service volunteering opportunities and the 
young mentors/leaders

 Continued to work closely with the Office of 
the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner 
(OPCVC) in the development of services for 
victims;

 Embedding new roles for volunteers in service 
delivery, including, panels, mentoring, 
independent visiting, appropriate adults, and 
having over 50 trained active volunteers;

 Our specialist Restorative Justice (RJ) work to 
support victims of youth crime;

 Delivering our work in the communities where 
young people and families live; Page 189



County Durham Youth Offending Service

6

 Delivering 3,000 hours of court ordered 
reparation/ unpaid work and raising over £700 
for charity from young people’s reparation 
work;

Support for Young People’s Education and 
Progression:
 Expanded the Skill Mill programme and 

reviewed its operation to ensure it remains 
appropriate to changing needs;

 Began preparatory work to introduce Life 
Chances funding for Skill Mill

 Developed a productive partnership with 
colleagues in the Progression Team, DCC

 Continued our response to the speech, 
language and communication needs (SLCN) 
of young people in the Youth Justice System, 
so that they are supported to engage in further 
Education, Employment and Training 
opportunities;

 Reviewed and amended the post of 
Employment Advisor in CDYOS;

 Extended the use of volunteers as mentors for 
young people under the supervision of 
CDYOS and as Independent Visitors for 
young people looked after by the Local 
Authority;

 Extended young people’s volunteering 
opportunities;

 Audited our work in respect of SLCN and 
developed an improvement plan

 Audited our work in respect of SEND and 
completed an improvement plan;

 Working with schools through behaviour 
panels to support multi-agency efforts to keep 
young people included within schools

In 2019/20 we will:
 Maintain the low level of First Time Entrants to 

the Youth Justice System;
 Reduce re-offending by young people;
 Reduce the use of custody for both sentenced 

and remanded young people.

By:
 Improving how we communicate with young 

people and the interventions we do with them;
 Putting victims, including young victims, and 

restorative justice at the heart of everything 
we do;

 Reducing re-offending by targeting our 
resources on those young people committing 
the most offences and improving their 
engagement in opportunities for education, 
employment and training;

 Ensuring we have robust quality assurance 
and staff management processes in place and 
a skilled management team to manage these 
processes;

 Ensuring that we listen  and respond to what 
young people and their families are telling us;

 Ensuring that volunteering, by both adults and 
young people, is a key component of the work 
we do with young people and victims;

 Ensuring that case management systems and 
administration support provides the highest 
quality support to staff and managers in the 
delivery of services to courts, communities, 
victims, families and young people.

See Appendix 4 (Service Improvement Plan 
2019/20) for more detail.

Page 190



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

7

Introduction

Youth Offending Teams (YOTs) are statutory 
partnerships, established under the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998, with the principal aim of 
preventing offending by children and young 
people. Local Authorities are responsible for 
establishing a Youth Offending Team within their 
area. Police, National Probation Service and 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are 
statutorily required to assist in their funding and 
operation. 

Local authorities continue to have a statutory duty 
to submit an annual youth justice plan relating to 
their provision of youth justice services. Section 
40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 sets out 
the youth offending partnership’s responsibilities 
in producing this plan. It states that it is the duty 
of each local authority, after consultation with the 
partner agencies, to formulate and implement a 
statutory annual youth justice plan setting out:
• How youth justice services in their area are to 

be provided and funded;
• How the Youth Offending Service (YOS) will be 

composed and funded, how it will operate, 
and what functions it will carry out.

Statutory requirements placed on the YOS and 
the Management Board include:
• Complying with the requirements laid out in 

s.38 to 40 of the Crime and Disorder Act 
1998, and other relevant sections of the Act;

• Complying with National Standards for Youth 
Justice (including returning the annual NS 
audit).

 Submitting required data to the YJB in 
accordance with the relevant YJB data 
recording guidance;

 Ensuring appropriate methods are used to 
transfer data within the youth justice system.

County Durham Youth Offending Service
County Durham Youth Offending Service 
(CDYOS), a statutory multi-agency partnership, is 
part of Children and Young People’s Services, 
Durham County Council, and is managed by 
them on behalf of the partnership. Active links are 
maintained at both strategic and operational level 
to Criminal Justice, Community Safety and 
Children, Young People and Families arenas.

The Service is represented at strategic level in a 
range of key partnerships (e.g. Children and 
Families Partnership, Safe Durham Partnership 
(CSP), Durham Safeguarding Children 
Partnership (DSCP), Local Criminal Justice 
Partnership (LCJP), Strategic MAPPA Board, 
Think Family Partnership etc.), as well as relevant 
sub groups.

Strategic Purpose of CDYOS
• To prevent re-offending by children and young 

people;
• To reduce First Time Entrants (FTEs) to the 

youth justice system;
• To be achieved by delivering specialist 

interventions;
• Underpinned by safeguarding and public 

protection.

Transition to Youth Justice Service
During 2019/20, CDYOS will change its name to 
County Durham Youth Justice Service. It is felt 
this name better reflects the strategic purpose of 
the service and better reflects that young people 
who offend are first and foremost young people 
with a range of attributes, skills and issues. It is 
felt to be inappropriate to name the service after 
just one of those. This will not mean a reduction 
in the core focus of the service.

For 2019/20, CDYOS’ primary focus is on the following four outcome areas:
• reducing first time entrants
• reducing re-offending
• reducing the use of custody (both sentenced and remanded)
• and ensuring public protection/safeguarding by providing specialist interventions.

We will embed service improvements; focus on the quality of practice; and work to ensure we 
continue to improve outcomes and focus on core business.

See Appendix 4: Service Improvement Plan 2019/20

Page 191



County Durham Youth Offending Service

8

Structure and Governance

Governance – Management Board
CDYOS is accountable to a multi-agency 
Management Board, chaired by the Head of 
Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children, 
Children and Young People’s Services, Durham 
County Council. The membership and terms of 
reference of the Management Board are 
reviewed annually.  Membership is at appropriate 
Senior Officer level. 

The Management Board consists of: 
 Children  and Young People’s Services, 

Durham County Council (DCC) - Chair;
 Durham Constabulary;
 National Probation Service;
 Clinical Commissioning Groups x 2
 HM Courts and Tribunals Service;
 Progression Team, DCC;
 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 

Commissioner (OPCVC);
 Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company;
 Public Health, DCC;
 SEND and Inclusion, Education, DCC;
 NHS England Health and Justice

Membership and governance are reviewed 
annually to ensure they remain robust in a 
complex and changing operating environment.

The Management Board ensures it has 
appropriate links with other partnerships by 
requiring members of the Board to report on the 
work of those partnerships of which they are a 
member. A review is undertaken to ensure that 
the members of the Management Board are also 
members of an appropriate range of other 
partnerships. This ensures synergy and that  
youth justice continues to be a priority across the 
wider partnership arena. 

The YOS Manager and Chair of the Management 
Board provide regular formal reports and updates 
to many of the partnerships to enable them to 
monitor performance and contribute to the 
improvement of services for young people who 
offend, their families and victims. In addition,  
Durham County Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees also monitor performance against 
the three national outcome measures and 
receive annual presentations from the YOS 
Manager on progress against the Youth Justice 
Plan.

The Management Board ensures CDYOS can 
deliver effective youth justice services and 
improve outcomes for young people by:
 Providing clear performance oversight and 

direction;
 Receiving regular budget reports;
 Ensuring the service is adequately resourced;
 Providing clear governance and 

accountability;
 Reviewing the statutory partners’ budget 

contribution to CDYOS;
 Ensuring links to the various partnerships 

external to CDYOS

This is achieved by providing:
 Strategic oversight and direction;
 Support;
 Partnership working;
 Planning and resources.

The Youth Justice Plan, after approval by the 
Management Board, is presented to Cabinet 
and full Council for approval before submission 
to the YJB. In addition it is considered at the 
Safe Durham Partnership and by Durham 
County Council Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees.

Page 192



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

9

Durham County Council (DCC) Structures

CDYOS is part of Children and Young People’s 
Services, Durham County Council and managed 
by them on behalf of the partnership. The YOS 
Manager is line managed by the Head of Service 
Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 
(EHIVC), who is also the Chair of CDYOS 
Management Board. The YOS Manager is a 
member of Children’s Services EHIVC 
Management Team. Regular meetings are also 
held with the Children’s Social Care 
Management Team.

Early Help, Inclusion & Vulnerable Children 
Service includes:
 One Point (Early Help, Prevention and Think 

Family Services)
 CDYOS
 Aycliffe Secure Services
 SEND & Inclusion Services

BY being a part of Children and Young People’s 
Services, CDYOS has well proven working links 
with all parts of CYPS and is able to be proactive 
in development of services and overcoming 
issues. There are numerous valuable 
opportunities for joint work and innovation across 
the spectrum of services and the Service is able 
to work with the Corporate Director and Heads of 
Service on cross cutting themes e.g. quality 
improvement.

CDYOS continues to work closely with 
colleagues in Adult and Health Services (e.g. 
Public Health and Commissioning) and across 
the council. Joint work and innovation is essential 
in the context of a rapidly changing operating 
environment and resource pressures.

Reducing Youth Crime – Integrated Strategic 
Planning
The primary focus of CDYOS – preventing re-
offending by young people, reducing first time 
entrants to the Youth Justice System and 

reducing the use of custody – is fully integrated 
into the following strategic plans/strategies in 
County Durham:
 Safe Durham Partnership (SDP) Plan; 
 County Durham Children, Young People and 

Families Plan;
 Durham County Council Plan;
 Safe Durham Partnership Reducing Re-

Offending Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Anti-Social 

Behaviour Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Alcohol Harm 

Reduction Strategy;
 Safe Durham Partnership Drug Strategy
 Think Family Strategy;
 Early Help Strategy;
 Durham Police, Crime and Victims’ Plan;
 County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy;
 Durham County Council Strategy for Children 

and Young People with Special Educational 
Needs and / or Disabilities.

CDYOS has developed effective links with health 
partners. During 2017 the service worked with 
Public Health and partners to complete a Health 
Needs Assessment (HNA) of young people who 
offend. This resulted in a co-commissioned 
model of health provision in CDYOS. Initially 
funded for two years from a variety of sources, it 
is pleasing to report that the funding for the range 
of health professionals in the service has now 
been included in the various ‘mainstream’ 
commissions for services.

The service has developed effective links with 
the Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner and the Commissioner’s plan is 
reflected in the work and priorities of CDYOS. In 
addition, the service will be working closely with 
the Young PCVC on a number of developments 
during 2019/20.

Page 193



County Durham Youth Offending Service

10

Resources and Value for Money

CDYOS is committed to the following principles:
 Prioritising front line delivery and core 

services to young people and partners;
 Continuous quality improvement to improve 

practice with and outcomes for young people, 
victims and communities;

 ensuring young people are safeguarded and 
risk is managed;

 ensuring Value for Money (VfM).

These underpin all our work in respect of 
budgetary management. Robust financial 
management is underpinned by regular budget 
reports to the Management Board, EHIVC 
Management Team and Finance colleagues, 
DCC.

Budget 2019/20
CDYOS budget comprises partnership funding, 
YJB funding and specific grant funding.  The 
budget allocation is reviewed annually by 
CDYOS Management Board and all partners 
(Police, Probation, Health (CCGs) and Local 
Authority) agree funding contributions for the 
following year. 

CDYOS pooled budget for 2019/20 is 
£2,657,036

A detailed budget breakdown can be found at 
Appendix 3.

CDYOS and partner’s evidenced success in 
reducing first time entrants and re-offending and 
is an Invest to Save strategy. It has resulted in 
46% reduction in first time entrants since 2013; 
and 60% reduction in the number of offences 
committed and 67% reduction in the number of 
young people offending since 2010/11. The 
number of young people re-offending and the 
number of offences committed has fallen 
consistently since 2010/11.

YJB Grant Funding 2019/20
The YJB provides 2 grants which are part of 
CDYOS’ pooled budget:  
 Youth Justice (YOT) Grant (England)
 Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation 

(RYDA) Grant

Both grants are ring-fenced to youth justice 
services.

Youth Justice (YOT) Grant: £606,275
The ring-fenced grant is provided by the YJB to 
local authorities ‘for the purposes of the 
operation of the youth justice system and the 
provision of youth justice services’ (‘Youth 
Justice Plans: YJB Practice Note for Youth 
Offending Service Partnerships’, YJB, May 
2017).  The grant may only be used by the Local 
Authority to fund its Youth Offending Team with a 
view to achieving the following outcomes:
 Reduction in youth re-offending;
 Reduction in the numbers of first time entrants 

to the Youth Justice System;
 Reduction in the use of the youth custody;
 Effective public protection;
 Effective safeguarding. 

The YJ Grant is used as part of CDYOS pooled 
budget (see Appendix 3). This supports delivery 
of our Service Improvement Plan 2019/20 which 
focuses on the YJB key outcome measures.

Uncertainty caused by very late notification of 
YJB grants, as is the case this year, causes 
problems in respect of business planning.

Remands to Youth Detention 
Accommodation: £49,407
The full cost of all remand bed nights is the 
responsibility of the local authority. The grant is 
for bed nights in Young Offenders Institutions 
(YOI) only.

Page 194



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

11

Budget Savings 2019/20
CDYOS, like all public services, has to manage 
within a tough budgetary environment. 

Since 2010/11, CDYOS budget has reduced by 
£3,142,776 (54% reduction). It should be noted 
the budget savings have been achieved while 
maintaining performance across a range of 
measures by developing new and more efficient 
ways of working.

Subject to confirmation of the YJB grant for 
Services and Remand Grant, we have managed 
the revised budget envelope for 2019/20 by: 
 reviewing all staffing in light of service needs 

and re-profiling some posts to increase 
resilience/capacity;

 Co-locating the Service in DCC strategic hub 
accommodation and achieving significant cost 
savings;

 Reviewing and amending our ‘remote working’ 
operational model;

 Streamlining management and support/admin 
services;

 introducing a range of lean admin 
processes/operating procedures;

 maximising Durham County Council’s support 
structures and contributing to reviews to 
develop this further

 changing the way we work with local 
partnerships to ensure the most efficient and 
effective approach possible

Staffing and Service Delivery

Service Delivery
CDYOS works with young people across the 
whole Youth Justice spectrum (out of court and 
post court) to reduce re-offending. All young 
people have been through formal Police 
processes. 

CDYOS work includes: 
 pre conviction arena (bail and remand 

management);
 integrated  out of court system
 community sentences;
 custodial sentences. 

CDYOS ensures the delivery of court orders 
(both in the community and custody) in line with 
National Standards for Youth Justice, national 
Case Management Guidance and other statutory 
requirements through a deployment of a range of 
professional staff acting as either Case 
Managers or specialist deliverers of interventions 
(See Appendix 5). In addition, we recruit, train, 
manage, supervise and deploy volunteers to 
carry out a range of functions (including the 
statutory delivery of Referral Order Panels). We 
operate a fully staffed court rota for the Youth 
Court, Remand Court, Crown Court and Special 
Courts (Saturdays and Bank Holidays) with 
dedicated management cover. We ensure 
safeguarding and management of risk, including 
public protection, in relation to young people in 
the Youth Justice System.

Restorative Justice underpins all our work. 
CDYOS works with victims of youth crime to 
ensure meaningful input to work with young 
people who have offended and has expanded 
restorative justice across all orders within 
existing resources. CDYOS was awarded the 
Restorative Service Quality Mark and had that 
award extended for a further 12 months in 2019. 
CDYOS also achieved Investing in Children 
accreditation in 2016 for our work with young 
people. 

As a result of the increasing complexity of cases, 
CDYOS operates a specialist model of case 
management, enabling staff to work to their 
expertise. The primary focus of staff is on their 
specialist roles. Specialist case managers in our 
two case management teams are responsible for 
assessment, intervention planning and overall 
case management. Interventions, based on risk 
of re-offending, are delivered by the Interventions 
Team and the Health Team. 

The focus of all our work is reducing re-
offending. We operate a multi-professional Team 
around the Child, maximising expertise of 
professionals in CDYOS, and utilising additional 
skills from across our partnership as required. 

In 2018/19, almost 3,000 hours of court 
ordered reparation were delivered by 
young people supervised by CDYOS.

Page 195



County Durham Youth Offending Service

12

Staffing
The Service is staffed in line, and fully complies, 
with the requirements of the Crime and Disorder 
Act 1998, including: 
 Social Workers;
 Probation Officer (NPS);
 Police Officers;
 Police staff;
 Health staff;
 Education/Employment Advisor.

There is a range of other staff, for example: 
 Managers;
 Youth Justice Consultants;
 Case Managers;
 Victim Liaison Officers;
 Family Support Officer;
 Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (ISS) 

Officer;
 Reparation Officer;
 Admin staff;
 Intervention Team staff who deliver a range of 

interventions with young people to reduce re-
offending, including ISS, reparation, and out of 
court. 

Staffing Structure 

See Appendix 5 for CDYOS Staffing Structure.

As of 1 April 2019 CDYOS has 72.42fte staff 
and 30 active volunteers. 

60.42fte staff are employed by Durham County 
Council on behalf of the partnership; 12fte are 
seconded from partners (Durham Constabulary, 
National Probation Service, North Tees and 
Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust (NTHFT), 
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 
(HDFT), Tees Esk and Wear Valleys Mental 
Health Trust (TEWV).

All staff and volunteers are trained in Restorative 
Approaches/ Restorative Justice. 50 are trained 
to facilitate Restorative Justice conferences.

Specialist Victim Liaison Officers (VLOs) are 
responsible for high level/complex work with 
victims.

Our co-commissioned, multi-professional model 
of health provision is included in the service 
structure (Appendix 4). 

The Health Team comprises:
 0.6fte Speech and Language Therapist;
 1fte Specialist Public Health Children’s Nurse;

 2fte Health & Wellbeing Support Workers;
 2fte Substance Misuse Workers;
 1fte Liaison and Diversion Link Nurse;
 0.4fte Consultant Clinical Psychologist

The Voice of Young People in the Youth 
Justice System
Young people play an active role in the work of 
CDYOS. Their involvement during 2018/19 has 
helped to shape the Service Improvement Plan 
2019/20 and the priorities included in this Youth 
Justice Plan.

The service has numerous ways of obtaining 
young people’s views, including;
 e-survey for all young people working with 

CDYOS;
 Feedback on each intervention undertaken;
 Ad hoc feedback on specific themes
 Manager reviews of cases with young people;
 Referral Order panel reviews with young 

people;
 Every assessment includes a self-assessment 

by the young person;
 Re-engagement Panels with young people 

(for those at risk of breach/non-compliance);
 With Youth in Mind – young victims’ 

consultation and engagement group.
 Structured interviews with victims by CDYOS 

volunteers

The active participation of young people in their 
own assessments and intervention plans is a 
theme running through all CDYOS quality 
assurance work and is a priority in the Service 
Improvement Plan for 2019/20.

Through our extensive work to improve our 
understanding of young people’s communication 
needs, we have shaped our approach to ensure 
that young people’s experience of CDYOS is as 
positive as possible and really helps to improve 
their outcomes. We have transformed the way 
we work and developed our own resources 
which ensure all young people can contribute to 
the work we plan and undertake with them. WE 
now share these resources nationally and share 
our expertise through the provision of training 
throughout the country.

We achieved the award of Investor in Children 
through our work to ensure young people have a 
say in their future and we both listen and respond 
to their wishes and views. We are currently in the 
process of renewing that award for the Service.

Page 196



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

13

With Youth in Mind, our young people’s group, 
comprising young victims of crime (aged 9 to 
20), actively shapes our work with young victims 

to improve the service we offer. Some young 
people are trained as team leaders to offer peer 
support to other young victims of crime.

‘We started this group because we all were 
very interested in helping young people 
because of our own experiences. This could 
be about bullying or problems at home with the 
idea being that young people support other 
young people who have had similar 
experiences. The leaders and staff put time 
and effort in and really care about you and you 
get the chance to talk about different stuff and 
plan what you want to do for activities.’
(Members of With Youth in Mind)

Page 197



County Durham Youth Offending Service

14

Partnership Arrangements

Partnership Arrangements
Partnership arrangements in place to deliver 
effective and efficient youth justice services in 
County Durham include:
 Partners (Police, National Probation Service 

and Health) have maintained their specialist 
staff and financial contributions to the service 
for 2019/20;

 Durham County Council is the lead partner;
 The Management Board consists of statutory 

partners plus broader membership (Office of 
the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner, 
HMCTS, CRC, Public Health, SEND, NHS 
England);

 Seniority of Management Board members;
 Management Board members are proactive, 

working both within and outside the Board, to 
support the work of the service;

 Partnership work to support the development 
of a range of projects and initiatives e.g. 
Speech Language and Communication Needs 
(SLCN) Strategy; work with RSPCA, Fire and 
Rescue Service, Police re. development of 
additional intervention programmes; Positive 
Futures re. interventions directory, Looked 
After Children developments;

 CDYOS Interventions Directory includes some 
interventions delivered in partnership and 
some are delivered by partners for CDYOS.

Effective Partnership Work
CDYOS has strong partnership work with an 
extensive range of partners at both strategic and 
operational level. Partners include: 
 Criminal Justice  (Police, Probation, Courts);
 Community Safety (DCC, Health, Fire and 

Rescue);
 Children and Families Partnership (DCC, 

Health, Police, VCS);
 Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership; 

 Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA);

 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 
Commissioner (OPCVC);

 Health (HDFT, CCGs, NECS, TEWV, 
NTHFT);

 National Probation Service (NPS);
 Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company (CRC);
 Think Family/Stronger (Troubled ) Families;
 Local Criminal Justice Partnership (LSCP).

The Service operates with a range of protocols 
between agencies/services, for example, 
homelessness, Mental Health pathways, SEND 
etc.

Page 198



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

15

Commissioned Services
Based upon our Health Needs Assessment of 
young people who offend in County Durham, a 
range of health professionals are commissioned 
to work with CDYOS to ensure a quality service 
for this group of young people.
 
In addition to services commissioned for 
CDYOS, the service has also been 
commissioned to deliver training to other 
services. This includes: 
 SLCN awareness/ ClearCut Communication 

resources, both locally and nationally
 ClearCut Communication resources and/or 

training have been purchased by over 50 
YOTs and a range of other services nationally;

 Restorative Approaches training for partners, 
including Residential staff;

 Provision of the Independent Visitors Service  
for LAC in County Durham.

Resettlement after Custody
As a result of our multi-agency approach to 
resettlement, all young people leaving custody in 
2018/19 had appropriate accommodation 
sourced and available prior to release. CDYOS 
works closely with Housing and Children’s 
Services to ensure young people are effectively 
resettled.

No young people were remanded to the secure 
estate in 2018/19 as a result of inappropriate 
accommodation.

Prevent
Local Authorities, including Youth Offending 
Services, are subject to a duty under section 26 
of the Counter Terrorism and Security Act 2015, 
in the exercise of their functions, to have ‘due 
regard to the need to prevent people from being 
drawn into terrorism’. 

This duty, known as the Prevent duty, applies to 
a wide range of public bodies. Within CDYOS 
this duty is discharged through our casework with 
young people who have offended and through 
our membership of partnerships charged with 
carrying out the Prevent work. All CDYOS staff 
have been trained in Prevent and the inherent 

duties through use of e-learning. CDYOS also 
has two staff trained to deliver ‘WRAP’ 
(Workshop to Raise Awareness of Prevent) 
training.

Case Managers have worked closely with Police 
and other colleagues when concerns about 
radicalisation/extremism have been identified 
with young people and/or families and have 
taken lead case management roles when 
appropriate.

Information Sharing
Partnership information sharing protocols/ 
agreements are in-place and ensure holistic 
assessment, intervention and outcomes for 
young people who offend.  Staff have access to a 
range of case management systems/ databases 
in CDYOS offices, including:
 All Police intelligence systems inc. PNC, 

Sleuth, Blue Delta, Red Sigma, Vicman 
(Police);

 SystmOne (Health) and all other health 
databases relevant to the home agency of the 
staff within CDYOS;

 LiquidLogic (Safeguarding/ Children’s social 
care);

 Capita ONE (Education);
 Hanlon (DurhamWorks);
 CareDirector Youth (Youth Justice case 

management system).

Police intelligence systems are available to a 
group of vetted and suitably trained staff in 
CDYOS, in addition to Police Officers and Police 
staff.

The range of case management systems / 
databases in CDYOS allows staff and secondees 
to access critical, real time information regarding 
the young person/family to support management 
of risk and vulnerability. This ensures holistic 
assessment and information sharing to improve 
outcomes for young people in the Youth Justice 
System.  
In addition, CareDirector Youth is available for: 
 Emergency Duty Team (EDT);
 All magistrates courts in County Durham for 

CDYOS access. 

Page 199



County Durham Youth Offending Service

16

Additional Key Partnerships
Additional key partnerships, to those detailed 
elsewhere in this report,  include:
 The Royal British Legion – reparation work;
 SEND – development of shared planning
 Safe Durham Partnership
 The Prince’s Trust – accreditation of core 

work;
 Colleges, training providers, VCS, 

Progression Team 
 Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ 

Commissioner –  reducing reoffending and 
young victims of youth crime;

 RSPCA – Paws4Change programme;
 Durham Constabulary Armoury – Air Guns 

programme;
 Durham Constabulary – U Turn programme;
 Fire and Rescue Service – Firebreak 

programme;

 The Open Awards – accreditation of core 
work;

 Skill Mill – development and expansion of Skill 
Mill Durham;

 Numerous partners (Allotment Associations, 
Town Councils, Heritage Trust etc) as 
customers of Skill Mill

 Blue Cross – ‘Respectabull’ intervention 
programme;

National Recognition
National recognition of CDYOS’ work in 2018/19 
was: 
 Shortlisted for a Health Services Journal 

Award for our co-commissioned health model.
 Shortlisted   for a Municipal Journal Award for 

our co-commissioned health model (outcome 
unknown at time of writing)

Page 200



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

17

Risks to Future Delivery against Youth Justice Outcome Measures

Risks to future delivery against youth justice 
outcome measures 
Risks have been identified (see table on pages 
22-23) and a series of mitigating actions agreed.

In addition there are a number of other actions in 
place to mitigate risk, including:
 Sector Led Improvement;
 Peer Review;
 Role of CDYOS Youth Justice Consultants;  ;
 CDYOS Quality Assurance Framework;
 Development work with colleagues in CYPS 

and across partnerships;
 Workforce Development.

Sector Led Improvement
Involvement in Sector Led Improvement enables 
CDYOS to keep up to speed with national 
developments, share good practice and learn 
from others. Three members from CDYOS are 
currently training to be Peer Reviewers as part of 
this process.

CDYOS is involved in effective practice sharing 
through commitment to the YJB North East YOS 
Executive Group and other practice development 
groups.

CDYOS Youth Justice Consultants
CDYOS employs 2fte Youth Justice Consultants 
who have a crucial role in driving forward service 
improvement and quality of front line practice. 
They have shared responsibility identifying 
issues and driving quality improvement; provide 
senior case management advice and guidance to 
staff; and play a vital role in quality assurance 
and improvement for both OOCD and post court. 
They have driven forward service improvements 
in a range of areas, e.g. Assessment & Planning; 
Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE); Speech 
Language and Communication Needs; 
interventions; the voice of the young person in 
the Youth Justice System, Risk & Vulnerability 
Management, SEND etc.

CDYOS Quality Assurance (QA) Framework
CDYOS has reviewed, developed and 
implemented an amended Quality Assurance 
Framework which covers all QA work undertaken 
by line managers in the service. One element of 
this is an audit programme identified by a Quality 
Improvement Group made up of YOS Manager, 
Team Managers & YJ Consultants. In 2018/19 
we developed and implemented Improvement 
Plans based on self-assessments/audits in 
respect of HMIP Inspection Criteria, SEND, Risk 
Management, Full Case Audit, SLCN, 
Intervention Planning. 

Both the Management Development programme, 
for CDYOS managers, and the staff focus 
sessions will continue throughout 2018/19, as 
part of our QA framework.

Development work with other partners
During 2018/19, CDYOS contributed to 
developments with:
 Durham Constabulary in respect of 

Transfers under PACE and OoCDs
 Various Health Trusts in the development 

of the health team and pathways to 
services

 Children’s Care in respect of Child 
Protection Procedures

 Children’s Care for operating procedures

Workforce Development
An extensive programme of workforce 
development is in place, provided both through 
DCC training and also through access to all 
partner’s training, to ensure all CDYOS staff and 
managers can maintain and develop their skills in 
a rapidly changing operating environment. An 
additional post has been created across EHIVC 
to support the coordination of workforce 
development. Finally, £2,800 was received 
through a Troubled Families programme grant, 
which will contribute to the costs of introducing a 
Trauma Recovery model within CDYOS.

Diversity
CDYOS is committed to meeting the needs of the 
young people, families and victims with whom we 
work. All staff have undertaken specialist 
diversity training for youth offending, SLCN 
training and, in addition, case managers have 
undertaken specialist diversity training for 
assessments. Diversity issues are a specific 
category on the checklist used by managers to 
countersign assessments and intervention plans. 
The population of County Durham includes a 
significant Gypsy/Roma/Traveller population 
(around three times the national average) and 
the service works closely with colleagues in other 
parts of CYPS and DCC to ensure that our 
practice reflects the needs of this population.

Page 201



County Durham Youth Offending Service

18

Risk Action to Mitigate Risk
Future budget 
efficiencies/reductions in 
partner contributions

 On-going review of Service structure
 Review all vacancies/requests for redundancy/retirement
 Review and develop pathways to support young people during & after statutory 

supervision
 Consider developing new ways of working
 Maximise community resources
 Maximise opportunities for partnership working with other agencies
 SIP 2019/20
 Develop best plans for the medium term and review constantly
 Quality Assurance processes/quality improvement plans and processes
 Commit to continuous quality improvement regardless of budget situation
 Robust mid-term financial planning within DCC and with partners.

Increases in remand bed 
nights places increased 
strain on CDYOS budget

 High quality budget monitoring and management
 Timely, accurate and relevant information to managers
 Review and develop role of key staff (Remand Court Officer)
 Brief relevant partners on need for efficient, speedy processes
 Constantly review and develop CDYOS practice in each remand case
 Provide timely updates to CDYOS Management Board and other relevant 

partnerships

Re-offending rate 
(binary) increases due to 
continued reduction in 
full cohort numbers at a 
rate greater than 
reduction in numbers of 
young people re-
offending

 Expansion of re-offending targeted cohort
 Review and changes to enhanced programme for re-offending cohort
 Amendments and improvement in QA processes
 Managers forums
 Staff forums
 Emphasis on improving quality of core practice
 SIP 2019/20
 Development of trauma recovery model (ACEs) for reoffending cohort

Summer Activities (Outward Bounds) staff member:
“All of the young people involved had a fab time and wanted to carry on and do them all again. The 
young people worked really well together developing team building and effective communication skills 
and also increasing their confidence. They all behaved really well and were a credit to the Service and 
to themselves”.

Prison Me No Way Groupwork session:
Parent – “Couldn’t make the session any better. Prison inmates were amazing and all the staff. Highly 
recommend.”
Young person – “I liked the part when we talked to prisoners.”

Skill Mill:
Young Person – “I like working with Skill Mill as it involves hands on work and is teaching me new 
skills. We work together as a team and Peter discusses things with us and lets us have input rather 
than just telling us what to do. It has given me a routine and a good wage which has helped me keep 
out of trouble. It will also help me in the future by giving me the skills and experience to apply for other 
jobs when my contract with Skill Mill comes to an end”

Young person – “I currently have an apprenticeship with Skill Mill working under Peter.
Firstly I would like to take this opportunity to say thank you for giving me a chance.  I know that I have 
made mistakes in the past, but I can guarantee you that I have turned myself around.
I thoroughly enjoy the work we do and love the variation of the job. I am a hardworking, honest and 
conscientious person who gives 100% at all times to the job.  I do believe that Peter considers me a 
hard worker too.”

Parenting Group
Parent – “A well-structured and organised 10-week programme with appropriate content delivered. A 
range of techniques were used to develop trust within the group and ensure a safe space. This 
maximised group interaction and supported us to develop knowledge and skills.”

Page 202



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

19

Page 203



County Durham Youth Offending Service

20

Appendix 1 CDYOS Management Board – Approval of Strategic Plan

This plan was approved by CDYOS Management Board members on 17 June 2019.  

I approve this plan on behalf of the Board and agree submission to the YJB.

Martyn Stenton

Chair of CDYOS Management Board

17 June 2019

I approve this plan and look forward to having political oversight of this important area of work.

Councillor Olwyn Gunn
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children & Young People

This plan was approved by DCC Cabinet on:  TBC

Page 204



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

21

Appendix 2 Review of Performance against YJB Key Indicators

First Time Entrants

Between Oct 2013-Sept 2014 and Oct 2017-Sept 2018, we have achieved a 46.3% reduction in first time 
entrants to the youth justice system, from a rate of 466 per 100,000 10-17 year olds to 250. 

The latest available locally sourced data shows 118 young people entering the Youth Justice System 
between April 2018 and March 2019 at a rate of 273.

Reducing Re-offending
This measure, provided by the MoJ,  provides a rate of reoffending of a cohort of young people who:
 Receive an out of court disposal (N.B. This does not include the Pre Caution Disposal)
 Receive a court conviction
 Were discharged from custody

The measure counts any offences committed in a 12 month follow up period, where those offences are 
proved by a court conviction or out of court disposal in that period or in a further 6 months. This gives a 
methodologically robust measure of re-offending.

All data is taken from the Police National Computer (PNC) and is summarised before distribution to youth 
offending services/teams.

Ministry of Justice (MoJ) data (April 2016 – March 2017 cohort) shows a re-offending rate of 41.4% 
which is a 10.8% reduction compared to the previous year.  This is higher than the National rate 
which is  40.9% but below the North East rate of 41.8%.

The rate of reoffending can fluctuate considerable due to the significant decreases, year to year, in the 
size of the cohort of young people. The graph below shows the fluctuating re-offending rates for 
County Durham since the April 11-March 12 cohort, but also shows that the trend is a reduction in 
reoffending rates.

Page 205



County Durham Youth Offending Service

22

Reducing the Use of Custody
Between 2013 and 2018 we have reduced the rate of custodial sentences from 0.73 to 0.42.   

The CDYOS rate per 1,000 10-17 population of 0.42 is higher than both the England and North East 
average rates of 0.31 and 0.30 respectively. This, therefore, remains a challenge for the Service to 
reduce, where appropriate, the use of custodial sentences. Each time a young person receives a 
custodial sentence, the role of CDYOS is reviewed to ensure that we have undertaken all appropriate 
tasks to ensure that custody is used as a last resort.

The most up to date locally sourced information (April 2018-March 2019) shows 15 custodial 
sentences which is the same as the previous year.  

Remand bed nights (Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation) at 679 nights saw a 62% increase 
on the previous year. This is despite their being a reduction in both the number of young people being 
remanded to youth detention accommodation and the number of episodes when compared to 2017/18 – 
14 to 11 young people and 22 to 13 episodes. The increase in bed nights is due to most remands being 
for a significantly longer time (more bed nights) than those in the previous year. We have reviewed each 

Page 206



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

23

case and in all cases the remand to youth detention was considered appropriate due, mostly, to the 
seriousness of the offences but also due to the history of the young people. We are in discussion with 
colleagues from HM Courts to review processes to ensure the time spent, by young people, remanded to 
youth detention is minimised as much as possible.

Number of Young People Offending and Offences Committed
We have achieved a 60.4% reduction in the number of offences committed, from 2464 in 2010/11 to 977 
in 2018/19; and a 67.4% reduction in the number of young people offending, from 1270 in 2010/11 to 414 
in 2018/19. This includes all offences committed by young people aged 10-17 years, resulting in a Pre 
Reprimand Disposal (PRD) 2008 - 2013 / Pre Caution Disposal (PCD) 2013 onwards, out of court disposal 
or a court conviction. 

Page 207



County Durham Youth Offending Service

24

Appendix 3 County Durham Youth Offending Service Budget 2019/20 

Agency Date 
Confirmed

Staffing 
Costs

Payments 
in Kind

Other 
Delegated 
Funds

Total

Local Authority 10/2018 1,297,962 1,297,962

Police Service 10/2018 171,000 108,900 279,900

National Probation Service 03/2019 45,532 5,000 50,532

Health Provision (Co-commissioned) 01/2019 221,000 50,267 271,267

OPCVC 10/2018 151,100 151,100

YJB – Youth Justice (YOT) Grant 05/2019 606,275 606,275

Total 437,532 2,219,504 2,657,036

N.B.
The Youth Justice (YOT) Grant is used as part of partnership pooled budget to support delivery of our 
Service Improvement Plan (see Appendix 4) to support work to reduce re-offending, first time entrants and 
use of custody.

Page 208



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

25

Appendix 4 Service Improvement Plan 2019/21 (To be reviewed in 2020)

Priority
1) Improving how we communicate with young people and the interventions we complete with them
 Extend the quality assurance process to include the delivery of interventions
 Ensure SLCN screening is routinely undertaken for all young people at assessment
 Develop interventions to ensure they can be adapted to meet individual needs of young people
 Increase the amount and quality of young person/parent/carer involvement in planning & delivery of 

interventions
 Develop our use of social media as a means of communicating with young people and parents/carers
2) Putting victims, especially young victims, and Restorative Justice at the heart of everything we do
 Improve the liaison/joint working between Victims Liaison Officers and Case Managers
 Develop and implement key indicators for this area of the service
 Research reasons and develop improvement plan to increase the take-up of CDYOS offer by victims, 

especially for victims of offences of violence.
 Further develop our work with young people who are both victims and offend.
 Embed our new Referral Order process to ensure greater use of restorative work.
3) Targeting our resources on those young people committing the most offences
 Further improve our understanding and assessment of risk of offending and risk of serious harm
 Refine our research into this cohort of young people and use the findings to shape future developments
 Implement an appropriately resourced model of trauma recovery/enhanced case management for this 

cohort
 Review resources available for work with this cohort of young people to avoid ‘intervention fatigue’
 Target resources on those young people at significant risk of becoming a young person who offends 

persistently – identified through the research undertaken
4) Ensuring we have robust quality assurance and staff management processes in place and a skilled 

management team to manage these processes
 Continue to develop the quality assurance processes to ensure they are flexible enough to meet the 

changing requirements of the service and responsive to issues as they are identified
 Review and amend the management development process to reflect the changing role and make-up of the 

management team
 Ensure the proper links between the issues identified through the quality assurance process and the 

development of quality improvement plans
 Ensure relevant managers receive the same training/briefings as their staff
 Ensure, as far as possible, that processes remain stable and consistent over time.
5) Ensuring we listen and respond to what young people and their families are telling us
 Review, amend and develop the means through which we receive feedback from young people and 

parents/carers
 Improve the use of young people’s self-assessment into the AssetPlus assessment process and their explicit 

involvement in intervention planning
 Develop means of collating feedback/communication so that we can evidence its impact of service 

developments
 Develop our understanding/use of the role of advocate for young people’s views
6) Ensuring volunteering, by both adults and young people, is a key component of the work we 

undertake with young people and victims
 Continue to develop volunteering opportunities by young people who are part of the With Youth in Mind 

Group for young people who have been victims of crime
 Develop the links between young people who are volunteers with ‘With Youth in Mind’ and other 

volunteering opportunities with the service
 Expand further the volunteering opportunities for adults working with the service
7) Ensuring that case management systems and administration support provides the highest quality 

support to staff and managers in the delivery of services to courts, communities, victims, families 
and young people.

 Develop processes for working with new structures for the provision of support and data services to ensure 
the continuation of high-quality information and support to the service

 Further refine the data/information provided both within the service and to external partnerships

Page 209



County Durham Youth Offending Service

26

Appendix 5 Service Structure 2019/20
Appendix 1

County Durham Youth Offending Service
Final Structure
April 2019

YOS Manager 1FTE (G16)

Youth Justice 
Consultant 0.5FTE

(G12)

Team Manager –
YJ North Case 

Management 1FTE
(G14)

Team Manager –
YJ South Case 

Management 1FTE
(G14)

Reducing              
Reoffending 

Co-ordinator 1FTE
(G12)

Admin/Business Support
Officers 5.97FTE

0.6FTE (G5)
2.5FTE (G4)

2.87FTE (G3)

Team Manager –
YJ Interventions Team

1FTE 
(G14)

Social Worker 4FTE
(G11)

Case Manager
4.9FTE (G9)

Police Officer 1FTE

Police Staff 1FTE

Social Worker 1FTE
(G11)

Case Manager
6.52FTE (G9)

Bail Co-ordinator
1FTE (G10)

Police Officer 1FTE

Police Staff 1FTE

Probation Officer 
1FTE

Deputy Team Manager
1FTE
(G12)

Youth Justice 
Consultant 0.5FTE

(G12)

Youth Justice 
Consultant 1FTE

(G12)

Health Provision
Nurse 1FTE
SLT 1FTE

HWSW 2FTE
D & A Wkr. 2FTE

Reparation Officer 1FTE (G10)

ISS Officer 1FTE (G9)

Family Support Officer 1FTE
(G10)

Employment and Training                
Co-Ordinator 1FTE (G9)

Victim Liaison Officer 3FTE (G9)

Positive Futures Officer 1FTE
(G8)

CDYOS Workers 14.9FTE (G5)

Skill Mill (CIC)
Environmental Team 
Supervisor (Skill Mill)

1FTE (G8)

Reducing Reoffending
Systems Co-ordinator 

1.2FTE (G11)

Senior Admin Officer 
0.8FTE (G7)

Volunteers

Total Staff as of 1 April 2019: 
69.29 Full Time Equivalent (FTE)

DCC Staff (CDYOS) – 57.29FTE
Seconded Staff – 12 FTE

Green – staff seconded into CDYOS/partner 
contributions

Page 210



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

27

Appendix 6 CDYOS Statutory Functions

Provision of:
 Case management of Court Orders (Community and Custody) in line with National Standards for Youth 

Justice
 Out of Court Disposals
 Specialist assessment based on criminogenic factors and desistance
 Interventions to reduce re-offending
 Court staffing (Youth, Crown, Remand Courts including Saturday and Bank Holiday working)
 Bail Supervision functions
 Appropriate Adult service for Police interviews (PACE)
 Pre Sentence Reports for Courts
 Community Volunteers (Referral Order Panels)
 Recruit, train, manage, supervise, and deploy volunteers to carry out statutory functions
 Referral Order Panel Reports
 ‘Prevention’ services to prevent youth crime
 Anti-Social Behaviour escalation supervision 
 Service to victims of youth crime (both young people and adults)
 Delivery of court-ordered reparation to community and victims
 Delivery of Unpaid Work requirements (16/17 year olds)
 Transition services to NPS/CRC
 YJMIS data / management info to Youth Justice Board / Ministry of Justice regarding youth justice 

cases
 Parenting Orders imposed in the Youth Court (Criminal Matters)
 Case management of Sex Offenders (Assessment, Intervention and Moving On (AIM)) – young people 

under 18
 Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation (RYDA)
 Resettlement of young people after custody

Duty to:
 Comply with National Standards for Youth Justice
 Comply with arrangements for multi-agency public protection (MAPPA)
 Comply with relevant legislation
 Cooperate with MAPPA/DSCP/SDP (CSP)
 Provide and support a Management Board
 Produce and deliver an annual Youth Justice Plan
 Provide assistance to persons determining whether Youth Cautions or Youth Conditional Cautions 

should be given
 Cooperate with Children’s Services to improve wellbeing of children and young people in County 

Durham

Additional Functions:
 Provision of Out of Court Disposals (service delivery)
 Provision of Think Family / Stronger Families
 Manage safeguarding and risk management inherent in all the above 
 Team Around the Child (TAC) / Team Around the Family (TAF)
 Assessment, Planning Interventions, Supervision (APIS)
 Offending Behaviour Programmes (OBPs)

Page 211



County Durham Youth Offending Service

28

Appendix 7 Glossary   

Acronym Meaning

AIM Assessment, Intervention and Moving on
APIS Assessment, Planning, Intervention and Supervision
CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
CCG(s) Clinical Commissioning Group(s)
CDYOS County Durham Youth Offending Service
CRC Community Rehabilitation Company
CSP Community Safety Partnership
CSPPI Community Safeguarding and Public Protection Incidents
CYPS Children & Young Peoples Service
DCC Durham County Council
DTO Detention and Training Order
EHIVC Early Help, Inclusion & Vulnerable Children (part of CYPS)
ESF European Social Fund
FTEs First Time Entrants (to the Youth Justice System)
fte Full Time Equivalent (staff) 
HDFT Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust
HMCTS Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service
HMIP Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation
HNA Health Needs Assessment 
HR Human Resources
IiV Investing in Volunteers
ISS Intensive Supervision and Surveillance (alternative to custody)
LAC Looked After Children
LCJB Local Criminal Justice Board
LSCB Local Safeguarding Children Board
MAPPA Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements
MoJ Ministry of Justice
NECS North East Commissioning Support (Health)
NTHFT North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust
NPS National Probation Service
OBPs Offending Behaviour Programmes
OPCVC Office of the Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner
OOCD Out of Court Disposal
PACE Police and Criminal Evidence Act
PCD Pre Caution Disposal (April 2013 onwards)
PIO Practice Improvement Officer
PNC Police National Computer 
PRD Pre Reprimand Disposal (May 2008 – March 2013)
QA Quality Assurance
RJ Restorative Justice
RJC Restorative Justice Council
RSQM Restorative Service Quality Mark
RSPCA Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty To AnimalsPage 212



Youth Justice Plan 2019/21

29

Acronym Meaning

RYDA Remands to Youth Detention Accommodation
SEND Special Educational Needs and Disability
SDP Safe Durham Partnership (CSP)
SIP Service Improvement Plan
SLCN Speech, Language and Communication Needs
SPOC Single Point of Contact
TAC Team Around the Child
TAF Team Around the Family
TEWV Tees, Esk, and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (Mental Health)
VCAS Victim Care Advice Service
VCS Voluntary and Community Sector
VfM Value for Money
VLO Victim Liaison Officer
YOI Youth Offender Institution
YJ Youth Justice
YJB Youth Justice Board
YJMIS Youth Justice Management Information System
YOS Youth Offending Service
YOT Youth Offending Team

Page 213



County Durham Youth Offending Service

30

Appendix 8 Contact Details

Dave Summers
YOS Manager
(dave.summers@durham.gov.uk)

Martyn Stenton
Chair, Management Board
(martyn.stenton@durham.gov.uk)

County Durham Youth Offending Service
Durham County Council
Council Offices
Civic Centre
North Terrace
Crook
Co Durham
DL15 9ES

Telephone:  03000 265 999

clearcutcommunication@durham.gov.uk

Page 214



County Durham

Youth Justice Plan
2019 / 2021

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2019
	8 Report from the Cabinet
	9 Climate Emergency Plan for the County Council and County Durham - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services
	Appendix 2 - Climate Emergency Update

	10 Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report 2018/19 - Report of Head of Transformation and Partnerships
	O&S Annual Report 2018-19 for Council 170719

	11 Youth Justice Plan 2019-2021 - Report of Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
	YJ Report - Appendix 2


